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Available Information

ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its consolidated mlidas, ANIP Acquisition Company (together, the ‘‘@pany” or "ANI") files annual,
quarterly and current reports, proxy statementsahner information required by the Securities Exad@Act of 1934, as amended (the
"Exchange Act"), with the Securities and Exchangen@ission ("SEC"). The Company makes available défegharge on its website
(www.anipharmaceuticals.com) its annual report&omm 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, curmepiorts on Form &, proxy statemen
and any amendments to those filings as soon asirably practicable after such material is electralty filed with or furnished to the SEC.
Also posted on the Company's website in the “Inuasst— Corporate Governance” section are the Comp&unrporate Governance
Guidelines, Code of Ethics and the charters forthdit and Finance, Compensation, and Nominatiry@arporate Governance Committees.
Information on, or accessible through, the Compmamgbsite is not a part of, and is not incorporatéal this report or any other SEC filing.
Copies of ANI's SEC filings or corporate governanwerials are available without charge upon writequest to Investor Relations, c/o ANI
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 210 Main Street West, Baed®tinnesota, 56623.

Any materials the Company files with the SEC aswglublicly available through the SEC’s website (wgec.gov) or may be read and
copied at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 18@¢et, N.E., Washington, DC 20549. Informatiortloa operation of the Public Reference
Room may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-8B30.

In this annual report, references to “ANI” or “tB®mpany” refer, unless the context requires othewio ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a
Delaware limited liability company, and its conslalied subsidiary, ANIP Acquisition Company (“ANIPReferences to “named executive
directors” refer to the current named executivécefs of the Company, except where the contextiresjotherwise. References to the
"Merger" refer to the merger of BioSante Pharmadcalg, Inc. ("BioSante") and ANIP, completed ondu®, 2013, wherein ANI Merger Sub,
Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of BioSante, mergéith and into ANIP with ANIP continuing as the siving company and becoming a
wholly owned subsidiary of BioSante. On July 2013, BioSante changed its name to ANI Pharmacdsjitnc. References to the "reverse
stock split" refer to the one-for-six reverse stepkit effected on July 17, 2013.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STA TEMENTS

This annual report on Form 10-K and certain infottioa incorporated herein by reference contain fordiooking statements within the
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act 08188 amended (the “Securities Act”), and Sectitk &f the Exchange Act. Such statement:
include, but are not limited to, statements abbetotential benefits of the recent Merger, the Gamny’s plans, objectives, expectations and
intentions with respect to future operations anddarcts, the anticipated financial position, opengtresults and growth prospects of the
Company and other statements that are not histbiicaature, particularly those that utilize ternoilogy such as “anticipates,” “will,”
“expects,” “plans,” “potential,” “future,” “believe s,” “intends,” “continue,” other words of similar maning, derivations of such words and
the use of future dates. Forward-looking statembwgttheir nature address matters that are, to dififeé degrees, subject to change. You shoul
not place undue reliance on those statements bedhey are subject to numerous uncertainties, sldother factors relating to the
Company’s operations and business environment #émet ¢actors, all of which are difficult to prediahd many of which are beyond the
Company’s control.

Uncertainties and risks may cause the Compamgtisad results to be materially different than th@sgressed in or implied by such
forward-looking statements. Uncertainties and risks ineluout are not limited to, the risk that the Compamay in the future face increased
difficulty in importing raw materials and/or incread competition, for its Esterified Estrogen withth/ltestosterone Tablet product;
competitive conditions for the Company's other piaig may intensify; the Company may be requireskek the approval of the U.S. Food anc
Drug Administration ("FDA") for its unapproved prodts or withdraw such products from the market;arahbusiness and econon
conditions; the Company’s expectations regardirptls in markets for the Company’s current and péahproducts; the Company’s future
cash flow and its ability to support its operatipttee Company’s ability to obtain additional finang as needed; the difficulty of developing
pharmaceutical products, obtaining regulatory artiey approvals and achieving market acceptanceiofiproducts; and the marketil
success of the Company’s licensees or sublicensees.




More detailed information on these and additiorsadtbrs that could affect the Company’s actual ressate described in the “Risk
Factors” section in Part |, Item 1A. of this annual repam Form 10-K and in other cautionary statementd asks included in other reports
the Company files with the SEC. All forward-lookstgtements in this annual report speak only ab@®fdate made and are based on the
Company’s current beliefs, assumptions, and extieata The Company undertakes no obligation to tgdarevise any forward-looking
statement, whether as a result of new informafioture events or otherwise.




PART |
Iltem 1. Business

ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its consolidated mlids, ANIP Acquisition Company (together, the ‘‘@pany” or “ANI") is an integrate
specialty pharmaceutical company developing, marnufang, and marketing branded and generic pretsonippharmaceuticals. The Compar
targeted areas of product development currentliydgcnarcotics, oncolytics (anti-cancers), hormaares steroids, and complex formulations
involving extended release and combination produdiee Company has two pharmaceutical manufagdaailities located in Baudette,
Minnesota, which are capable of producing oraldsdbtise products, as well as liquids and topicas;atics, and potent products that must be
manufactured in a fully-contained environment. Twmpany's strategy is to continue to use these faatuming assets to develop, produce,
and distribute niche generic pharmaceutical praduct

On June 19, 2013, pursuant to a merger agreemtatt da of April 12, 2013, ANIP Acquisition Compati¥p/a ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
("ANIP") became a wholly-owned subsidiary of BiogaRharmaceuticals, Inc. (“BioSante”) in an allektatax-free reorganization (the
"Merger"). The Merger was accounted for as a revarguisition, pursuant to which ANIP was considahe acquiring entity for accounting
purposes. The Company is operating under the Ishifeof the ANIP management team and its boardrettbrs is comprised of two former
directors from BioSante and five former ANIP di@st As such, ANIP's historical results of openasioeplace BioSante's historical results of
operations for all periods prior to the Merger. Tasults of operations of both companies are irediuid the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for all periods after completion of Merger.

BioSante was a publicly-held pharmaceutical comdanysed on developing high value, medicaigeded products. ANIP entered into
Merger to secure additional capital and gain actesapital market opportunities as a public conypan

In addition, in July 2013, the Company's stockhddspproved and the Company subsequently effeptad(e-for-six reverse stock split
of the Company's common stock and class C speoiei,svith a proportional reduction in the numbéaothorized shares of its common
stock, class C special stock and blank check pedestock, and (ii) a change of the Company's nfaome “BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc.” to
“ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc.” Unless otherwise reqdiby the context, references in this annual reoform 10-K to the "Company,"” "we,"
us," and "our" refer to ANI Pharmaceuticals, IrcDelaware corporation formed in April 2001, fortlgdmown as BioSante Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. The Company’s principal executive offices eated at 210 Main Street West, Baudette, Minreei623, its telephone number is
(218) 634-3500, and its website address is wwwhanripaceuticals.com.

Mission and Strategy

The Company is an integrated specialty pharmaadwtampany, with its own research and developrmearht manufacturing facilities,
and sales and regulatory compliance personnelChimepany's two facilities have a combined manufaogupackaging and laboratory
capacity totaling 173,000 square feet. The féediare specialized with diverse capabilities biing the Company to manufacture liquid,
powder, and oral solid-dose products, topicals;atass and other products required to be manufedtur a fully contained environment. The
Company also performs contract manufacturing foeopharmaceutical companies.

In addition to laboratories that support all of tequirements of raw material, finished product atability testing, the Company has a
1,000 square foot pilot laboratory offering liqguslispension and solid dose development capabhilittgs pilot laboratory offers a full range of
analytical capabilities including method developtealidation and de-formulation, and is licensgdiee Drug Enforcement Administration
(“DEA"). Finally, a separate development suite l@chwithin the Company’s high-potency manufactufagjlity offers additional capabilities
for product development.




The Company's strategy is to use its assets tdafgwaanufacture and market branded and genergiadpepharmaceutical products. By
developing and acquiring carefulbpnsidered prescription pharmaceuticals, managebsdietves the Company will be able to continuertin
its business, expand and diversify its productfpbot and create long-term value for its investors

Product Development Considerations

The Company considers a variety of criteria in dateing which products to develop or acquire, &bich influence the level of
competition and profitability upon product laundtinese criteria include:

Formulation Complexity.The Company's development and manufacturing capediénable it to manufacture pharmaceuticals
that are difficult to produce, including highly pot, extended release, combination, and low dogeaghucts. This ability to
manufacture a variety of complex products is a ogtitipe strength that the Company intends to legeria selecting products to
develop or manufactur

Patent Status The Company seeks to develop products whose éddnidequivalents do not have lotggm patent protection
existing patent challenge

Market Size. When determining whether to develop or acquir@dividual product, management reviews the curesmt
expected market size for that product at launchyedbas forecasted price erosion upon conversiom foranded to generic
pricing. The Company endeavors to manufacture mtsduith sufficient market size to enable the Comypi@ enter the market
with a strong likelihood of being able to price ptoduct both competitively and at a pro

Profit Potential. Management researches the availability and coasttdfe pharmaceutical ingredients along with ap#téd
market share in determining which products to dgvelr acquire. In determining the potential profig product, management
forecasts the Company’s anticipated market shai@np, which includes expected price erosion cdusecompetition from
other generic manufacturers, and the estimatedt@asainufacture the produc

Manufacturing. The Company generally seeks to develop and metuiéaproducts at its own manufacturing plantsriteo to
maximize the capacity and utilization of its fatds, to ensure quality control in its products] &m maximize profit potentia

Competition. When determining whether to develop or acquirendividual product, management researches théimgiand
expected market share of generic competitors. Tdrapgany seeks to develop products for which it dataio a large market
share, and may decline to develop a product if pament anticipates that many generic competitdifdeientering that
product’s market. The Company’s highly specialimeghufacturing facilities provide a means of entgmiche markets, such as
hormone therapies, in which fewer generic companimgdd be able to compet

The Company believes its strategies are effectiveveraging the Company's human and capital aagetsvill result in measurable
growth of the Company's business. Since 2011, tmpgany has successfully:

Increased prescription product sales through matkate gains on established products.

Acquired the New Drug ApplicatiorNDA") for and began marketing Regl®.

Developed two new contract manufacturing custoraktionships.

Established two external product development pestrips to bolster the internal pipeline.

Filed five Abbreviated New Drug Applications (“ANDA) and developed a pipeline of seven additionaDXs.

Entered into a contract to purchase the ANDAs fopBeviously marketed generic drug products, incdg@0 solid-oral
immediate release products, four extended releashipts and seven liquid products for $12.5 millidhis asset acquisition w
help the Company expand and diversify its prodinetsl over the next few years, help increase reveamdereduce the
Compan’s percentage of revenue derived from sales of unapd products




The Company's cash resources and forecasted caghffom operations are sufficient to enable thenBany to meet its operational nes
for the foreseeable future.

As part of the Merger, the Company acquired a Beewith Teva for a royalty stream related to a @etage of sales of a male testosteron:
gel that was developed initially by BioSante, ameintlicensed to Teva for late stage clinical dgwelent. The intangible asset related to the
Teva license was valued at $10.9 million in thechase accounting for the Merger and is being azeattover its estimated life of 11 years. In
addition, immediately prior to the Merger, the Canp distributed to its then current stockholdensticgent value rights (“CVRs”") providing

payment rights arising from a future sale, trandfeense or similar transaction(s) involving Lils® (female testosterone gel).
Products and Markets

Products

The Company's established product portfolio coasitboth branded and generic pharmaceuticalsydiro:

Generic Products Branded Products
Esterified Estrogen with Methyltestosterone Tablets Cortenem®
Fluvoxamine Maleate Tablets Reglan® Tablets

Hydrocortisone Enem
Metoclopramide Syrup
Opium Tincture

Esterified Estrogen with Methyltestosterone (“EENITS used to treat moderate to severe vasomotopteyns of menopause, such as hot
flashes and heart palpations that are not imprbyegstrogen medications alone. For the year enadeamber 31, 2013, EEMT comprised &
of the Company’s net sales, a substantial increasethe prior year wherein EEMT comprised only 82the Companys net sales. In the thi
quarter of 2013, a significant competitor stoppeatipcing EEMT, which led to a material increas¢hia Company’s market share for the
product and enabled the Company to significanttygase the price it charges for the product.

Fluvoxamine Maleate is usediteatobsessions and compulsions in patients with obsessimpulsive disorder. It is generally used when
the obsessions and compulsions in a patient imeevi&h the patient’s ability to function sociaiyyd occupationally.

Hydrocortisone Enema and its branded equivalente@emda® are used for the treatment of ulcerative colitpezially distal forms,
including ulcerative proctitis, ulcerative proctpsioiditis, and left-sided ulcerative colitis. Thegucts have also proved useful in some cases
involving the transverse and ascending colons.

Metoclopramide syrup and its branded equivalent&e®), in tablet form, are prescribed for periods ofrftutwelve weeks for heartburn
symptoms with gastroesophageal reflux disease (‘‘GERhen certain other treatments do not work. pheducts relieve daytime heartburn
and heartburn after meals and also help ulcetseiresophagus to heal. The products also relievetsyns of slow stomach emptying in people
with diabetes and help treat symptoms such as aausmiting, heartburn, feeling full long after @ah, and loss of appetite.

Opium Tincture is used is to treat severe diartheslowing the movement of the intestines and desing the number and frequency of
bowel movements.




Markets

In determining which products to pursue for devetept, the Company targets markets whose produetscanplex to manufacture and
therefore have higher barriers to entry. These atddctors provide opportunities for the Compangytsvth consistent with its competitive
strengths at the same time that they decreaseuthber of potential competitors in the markets. Ehasrkets currently include hormone and
steroidal drugs, oncolytics, and narcotics and derformulations, including extended release anulmioation products.

Hormone and Steroidal Drug

The market for hormone and steroidal dingkides hormone therapy to alleviate menopaugsapsyms in women, contraceptives,
testosterone replacement therapies for men, amapies for treating hormone-sensitive and otheceen

Hormone Therapy (“HT”) has been an accepted metlieatment for alleviating the symptoms of menopasiace the 1930s, with formal
FDA approval for that use granted in 1942. InitiaHT consisted of estrogen only, but has evoleeith¢lude combination therapies of
estrogen, progesterone and androgens. The Comaiaygtd niche products in the HT and steroidal petsdmarket for several reasons,
including:

. Hormone and steroid products are a core competasmyd on the Company’s manufacturing and produatidement teams'
long history of manufacturing these types of prdaduand
. The aging baby boom population, of which womene&spnt a majority, is expected to support contirgreevth in the HT
market.
Oncolytics

The Company is positioned to develop andufacture niche oncolytic (anti-cancer) drugs duthe capabilities of the Company's
containment facility and its expertise in manufaictg segregation. In particular, the Company igeting products subject to priority review
the FDA — those with no blocking patents and noegiercompetition. In addition to one such proddmady under development, the Company
has identified additional priority review opporttias in oncolytics.

Narcotics

The Company's main manufacturing facilityBiaudette, Minnesota is licensed by the DEA ferrfanufacture and distribution of
Schedule Il narcaotics, i.e., drugs considered i@lehigh abuse risk but that also have safe arepéed medical uses in the United States. In
addition to its existing pipeline of four ANDAs,glfCompany has identified additional product develept opportunities in this market.

Contract Manufacturing

The Company manufactures pharmaceutical productsefeeral branded and generic companies, whicloords production to the
Company in order to:

. Free-up internal resources to focus on sales amkietirag as well as research and development;
. Employ internal capacity to manufacture higher woduor more critical products; and
. Utilize the Company’s specialized equipment andeetige.

The Company considers contract manufacturing tarbenportant component of its ongoing businessefits highly specialized
manufacturing capabilities, the Company is focuseattracting niche contract manufacturing oppatiesithat fill idle capacity and offer hig
margins.




Manufacturing, Suppliers and Raw Materials

The Company requires a supply of quality raw matsgrincluding active pharmaceutical ingrediensR|”), and components to
manufacture and package its pharmaceutical produlct®rder to manufacture Opium Tincture, the @any must submit a request to the
DEA each year for a quota to purchase the amouAPd{opium) needed to manufacture the productHerfollowing year. Without an
approved quota from DEA, the Company would notlile & purchase this ingredient from its supplier.

The Company sources the raw materials for its prtsdistom both domestic and international supplibet the Company selects on the
basis of their quality, reliability of supply, afwhg-term financial stability. Generally, the Companyalifies only a single source of API for t
in each product due to the cost and time requivedlidate and qualify a second source of supply ghange by the Company in one of its
API suppliers must usually be approved throughiarPpproval Supplement by the FDA. Certain of tbempany’s API for its drug products,
including those that are marketed without appraMBds or ANDASs, such as EEMT, are sourced from in&ional suppliers. From time to
time the Company has experienced temporary dismgin the supply of certain of such imported AR do FDA inspections.

Government Regulation

The pharmaceutical industry is highly regulatedh®y federal government and the Company is suljeettiensive and complex regulati
including physical inspection of its facilities, der multiple federal statutes, which are subjecetasion from time to time. While the
Company has experience with these regulationse tteam be no assurance that the Company will betatflgly comply with all applicable
regulations.

Generic Pharmaceutical Products

Prescription pharmaceutical products in the UnS&ates are generally marketed as either brandgdnaric drugs. Branded products are
generally patent protected, which provides a peoiotharket exclusivity during which time they amdsby the developer of the product with
little or no competition for the compound, althoughically there are other products in the sameatheutic area.

All prescription pharmaceutical products, whetheariled or generic, must be approved by the FDAl. agplications for FDA approval
must contain information relating to product formtidn, raw material suppliers, stability, manufaictg processes, packaging, labeling and
quality control. Information to support the bioeeplence of generic drug products or the safetyedfettiveness of new drug products for their
intended use is also required to be submitted.éraer generally two types of applications usedhtaining FDA approval of new products:

New Drug Application (“NDA”)—An NDA is filed when approval is sought to markenewly developed branded product and, in
certain instances, for a new dosage form, a neivatglsystem or a new indication for a previoughpwved drug. The Company markets
its Cortenem& , generic Hydrocortisone Enema, Regfablets and generic Fluvoxamine tablets under apordDAS.




Abbreviated New Drug Application (“ANDAS-An ANDA is filed when approval is sought to marleegeneric equivalent of a drug
product previously approved under an NDA. The Campaarkets its Metoclopramide syrup under an apgilcdNDA. The Company h
submitted five ANDAs and had an additional severDX¥ in its pipeline as of December 31, 2013.

The ANDA development process is generally less-tmesuming and less complex than the NDA developmecess. It typically does
not require new preclinical and clinical studiescéuse it relies on the studies establishing safetyefficacy conducted for the reference
branded drug previously approved through the NDécpss. The ANDA process, however, typically recaioee or more bioequivalence
studies to show that the ANDA drug is bioequivalenthe previously approved referenced branded.drug

The Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoraict of 1984 (the “Hatch-Waxman Actprovides that generic drugs may enter
market after the approval of an ANDA, which reqgif&) that bioequivalence to the branded produddmonstrated through clinical studies,
and (2) either the expiration, invalidation or cincvention of any patents or the end of any othieweat market exclusivity periods related to
the reference branded drug.

Accordingly, generic products generally provideateseffective and cost-efficient alternative tenssof reference branded products.
Growth in the generic pharmaceutical industry hesnbdriven by the increased market acceptancenefrigedrugs, as well as the number of
branded drugs for which patent terms and/or otremket exclusivities have expired.

Generic products are generally introduced to thekatplace after the expiration of patent protecfimmthe branded product and after the
end of a period of non-patent market exclusivityatidition to patent exclusivity, the holder of thBA for the reference drug may be entitled
to a period of non-patent market exclusivity, dgrmhich the FDA cannot approve an application fgeaeric product. If the reference drug is
a new chemical entity (‘NCE"), the FDA may not agtan ANDA for a generic product for up to five yeéollowing approval of the NDA for
the NCE. If it is not an NCE, but the holder of tHBA conducted clinical trials essential to appilosfathe NDA or a supplement thereto, the
FDA may not approve an ANDA for the reference bexhgroduct before the expiration of three yearstalteother periods of exclusivity may
be available if the referenced drug is indicatedrfeatment of a rare disease or is studied forgec indications.

One requirement for FDA approval of NDAs and ANDAghat the Company's manufacturing proceduresopedations conform to FDA
requirements and guidelines, generally referreasttcGMP.” The requirements for FDA approval encasgall aspects of the production
process, including validation and recordkeeping,dfandards around which are continuously charaitigevolving. As a result, the Company
must consistently keep pace and comply with thbsages.

The Company'’s facilities, procedures, operatiord@ntesting of products are subject to periodgpaction by the FDA, the DEA and
other authorities. In addition, the FDA conducts-ppproval and post-approval reviews and plantdaspns to determine whether the
Company's systems and processes are in compliattte@MP and other FDA regulations. The Companyfspsiers are subject to similar
regulations and periodic inspections.

Controlled Substances

The DEA regulates certain drug products contaigioigtrolled substances, such as opium, which igrafgiant component of one of the
Company's current products, pursuant to the U.8tr8lted Substances Act (“CSA”). The CSA and DEAukations impose specific
requirements on manufacturers and other entiteshthndle these substances including registratimordkeeping, reporting, storage, security,
and distribution. Recordkeeping requirements ingladcounting for the amount of product receivedjufeectured, stored, and distributed.
Companies handling controlled substances alsoegugred to maintain adequate security and to reuapicious orders, thefts, and significant
losses. The DEA periodically inspects facilities fompliance with the CSA and its regulations. #a&ilto comply with current and future
regulations of the DEA could lead to a variety afigtions, including revocation or denial of reneafaDEA registrations, injunctions, or civil
or criminal penalties.




In addition, each year, the Company must subnegaest to the DEA for a quota to purchase the atrafiactive pharmaceutical
ingredient (opium) needed to manufacture Opium flirec Without an approved quota from DEA, the Comypaould not be able to purchase
this ingredient from its supplier. As a result, empany is dependent upon the DEA to approvehamaual basis, a quota of active
pharmaceutical ingredient that is sufficiently katg support the continued manufacture of OpiunttTire.

Unapproved Products

Two of the Company’s products, EEMT and Opium Timef are marketed without approved NDAs or ANDASe FDA's policy with
respect to the continued marketing of unapprovedywets appears in the FDA's September 2011 ConugliBiolicy Guide Sec. 440.100 titled
"Marketed New Drugs without Approved NDAs or ANDA&Inder this policy, the FDA has stated that ithfdllow a risk-based approach
with regard to enforcement against marketing ofopnaved products. The FDA evaluates whether tiateitenforcement action on a case-by-
case basis, but gives higher priority to enforcemaetion against products in certain categoriesh &s those with potential safety risks or that
lack evidence of effectiveness. While the Compaglieles that, so long as it complies with applieatlkanufacturing and labeling standards,
the FDA will not take action against it under therent enforcement policy, it can offer no assuesrtbat the FDA will continue this policy or
not take a contrary position with any individuabguct or group of products.

Medicaid/Medicare

Medicaid and Medicare, both United States fedegalth care programs, are major purchasers of pltauniaal products, including those
produced by the Company.

Medicaid is administered by the states and joifithded by the federal and state governmentsfodiss is on low income populations.
State drug coverage policies under Medicaid may s@nificantly state by state. The Patient Retieer and Affordable Care Act (“PPACA”),
as amended by the Health Care and Education armhBiéation Act of 2010, together known as the Aéfable Care Act ("ACA"), required
states to expand their Medicaid programs to indiaig up to 138 percent of the federal poverty leeegely funded by the federal government

Although the United States Supreme Court in 20atle the Medicaid expansion optional, many statesxpanding their Medicaid
programs. This expansion of Medicaid coverage mergase usage of pharmaceuticals.

On the other hand, the ACA also made changes taddiedaw that could negatively impact the Companip. particular, pharmaceutical
manufacturers must enter into rebate agreemerntsstégte Medicaid agencies, which require rebatesdan the drugs dispensed to Medicaid
beneficiaries. The ACA raised the rebate percestégeboth generic and branded pharmaceuticalsteféeJanuary 1, 2010. The required
rebate is currently 13 percent of the average naaturfer price for sales of Medicaid-reimbursed pitsl marketed under ANDAs. (Prior to
the ACA the percentage rebate had been 11 per&ale} of Medicaid-reimbursed products marketecuNdDAS require manufacturers to
rebate the greater of 23.1 percent (up from 15céeuet) of the average manufacturer price or thiedihce between the average manufacturer
price and the "best price" (as defined in the Maidistatute) during a specific period. The Compagljeves that federal and/or state
governments may continue to enact measures aimredwting the cost of drugs to the Medicaid program

Medicare is run entirely by the federal governmamd is largely focused on the elderly and disabl&the Medicare Modernization Act of
2003 (“MMA") created Medicare Part D to provide peeption drug coverage for Medicare beneficiar{gdedicare previously did not cover
prescription drugs.) The MMA has increased usdgsharmaceuticals, which is a trend that the Camggelieves will continue to benefit the
generic pharmaceutical industry. The ACA madeesahanges to Part D to make it easier for Medibaresficiaries to obtain drugs, such as
reducing coinsurance amounts. On the other thrdACA also required pharmaceutical companiesawige discounts to Medicare Part D
beneficiaries for the cost of branded prescriptiaings. Under the Medicare Coverage Gap DiscourgrBno authorized by the ACA, any
pharmaceutical product marketed under an NDA, digsas of whether the product is marketed as a 'fgghes subject to the discount
requirement. The Company's Hydrocortisone Enema-&intxamine Maleate products, while marketed a&ndgics," are actually the subject
of approved NDAs and, therefore, are subject tadikeount requirement. The Company benefits frondiRkre changes that have reduced
obstacles to drug usage. However, resulting satesases may be offset by existing and futurislative efforts to curb the cost of drugs to
the Medicare program.




Several of the Company’s products are covered bgidaéd and Medicare, and the reimbursement calomgtfor these rebates are
complex and subject to change. For Medicaidsdhmlculations may vary from state to statethdfCompany does not calculate its rebates
correctly or in alignment with state Medicaid pragns or as calculated by Medicare, the Company doeiklibject to federal or state false
claims litigation.

Research and Development

The Company develops new generic products througimdination of internal development and fee-fan®e arrangements with other
firms. Additionally, the Company licenses and cexeleps products through collaborations with ott@npanies as noted below. During the
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Corspasgarch and development expenses were $1i@mailid $1.2 million, respectivel

Sofgen Pharmaceutical

In August 2013, the Company entered into an agraemih Sofgen Pharmaceuticals (“Sofgen”) to depedn oral soft gel prescription
product indicated for cardiovascular health (theftf@n Agreement”). The product will be subject iANDA filing once developed. In
general, Sofgen will be responsible for the develdept, manufacturing and regulatory submission eftoduct, including preparation of the
ANDA, with the Company providing payments basedtmcompletion of certain milestones. Upon approSafgen will manufacture the dr
and the Company will be responsible for the manketind distribution, under the Company’s labethef product in the United States,
providing a percentage of profits from sales ofdheg to Sofgen.

Under the Sofgen Agreement, Sofgen will own alltights, title and interest in the product. Durthg term of the Agreement, both part
are prohibited from developing, manufacturing,ieglior distributing any product in the United Stateat is identical or bioequivalent to the
product covered under the Sofgen Agreement. ThgeBoAgreement may be terminated or amended und@ircepecified circumstances.

RiconPharma LLC

In July 2011, the Company entered into a collaligadrrangement with RiconPharma LLC (“RiconPharmb/hder the parties' master
product development and collaboration agreemeast“@@iconPharma Agreement”), the Company and Ricanf@h have agreed to collaborate
in a cost, asset and profit sharing arrangemerthiodevelopment, manufacturing, regulatory apdramd marketing of pharmaceutical
products in the United States.

In general, RiconPharma is responsible for devatpghie products and the Company is responsiblm&stufacturing, sales, marketing ¢
distribution of the products. The parties are jginesponsible for directing any bioequivalencedgts. The Company is responsible for
obtaining and maintaining all necessary regulagmprovals, including the preparation of all ANDASs.

Under the RiconPharma Agreement and unless othespiscified in an amendment, the parties will oguadly all the rights, title and
interest in the products. To the extent permittgdbplicable law, the Company will be identified thve product packaging as the manufacture
and distributor of the product. During the ternttod agreement, both parties are prohibited fronelb@ing, manufacturing, selling or
distributing any products that are identical ordgjoivalent to products covered under the RiconPaakgreement. The agreement may be
terminated or amended under certain specified wistances.
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Patents, Trademarks and Licenses

The Company owns the trademark names for eack bfainded products, Cortenefhand Reglar® . Generally, the branded
pharmaceutical business relies upon patent protetti ensure market exclusivity for the life of fetent. The Company does not own or
license any patents associated with these produatther, patent protection and market exclusifatythese two branded products have long-
since expired. Therefore, the Company considertrdgemark names to be of material value and aqtsatect these rights from infringement.
However, the Company's business is not dependemnt aipy single trademark. Trademark protection omeis in some countries as long as
used; in other countries, as long as registeredisRation is for fixed terms and may be reneweatkfmitely. The Company believes that sales
of its branded products have benefited and wilticore to benefit from the value of the product name

The Company has licensed the right to manufactuden@arket Fluvoxamine Maleate tablets, an authdrigneric version of LuvoX IR
from Jazz Pharmaceuticals, which in turn acquihedrights to LuvoX® IR from Solvay Pharmaceuticals, Inc. This licersaiaddition to a
manufacturing and supply agreement with Jazz Phaeutizals, under which the Company manufacturessapglies Jazz Pharmaceuticals'
requirements for Luvo® IR. Under the license agreement, Jazz Pharmacksutiaasferred responsibility for the related NIAthe Company.
The license agreement may be terminated by Jazz@bauticals if the Solvay license agreement initeated, if the Company breaches or
defaults in the performance or observance of angmah provisions of the agreement or the relatgaply agreement and such breach or de
is not cured within 60 days after written noticedseived, in the case of voluntary or involuntaankruptcy filings by/against the Company, if
the Company does not make royalty payments whenattue the event the Company receives an advardag letter from the FDA relating
to the NDA and is either not able to cure or prevédidence of a reasonable plan to cure withine8® af receipt by the Company of such
adverse finding letter, among other events. The @y may terminate the agreement with the condeldzz Pharmaceuticals, such consent
not to be unreasonably withheld.

Customers

The Company's customers purchase and distribut€dhgany's products. The Company's productsadaedy four major retail
pharmacy chains: Walgreens, CVS, RiteAid and WattMand are included in the source programs of foajor national wholesalers:
Cardinal, McKesson, AmerisourceBergen and MorrigkBon, which are also wholesale customers of thrapg@ay. In addition, the Company's
customers include national mail order houses, @finlyiAnda, ExpressScripts, and Omnicare, as wejrasp purchasing organizations.

In recent years, the wholesale distributor networkpharmaceutical products has been subject te@sing consolidation, which has
increased the concentration of the Companyholesale customers. In addition, the numbee@iilrmarket chains and, in particular, the nun
of independent drug stores and small chains, ha®dsed as retail consolidation has occurred,iatseasing the concentration of the
Company’s retail customers. As a result of thiadreoward consolidation, a smaller number of congmaach control a larger share of
pharmaceutical distribution channels. For the yeated December 31, 2013, approximately 55% of trafganys gross sales were attribute
to three key wholesalers: McKesson Corporatigi®(p, Cardinal Health, Inc. (18%), and Amerisourcefga Corporation (10%). In addition,
as noted below, the Company's customers alsoluistrihe Company's products. The loss of anfiedd customers, including in their role as
distributors, could have a material adverse effecthe Company’s business.

Consistent with industry practice, the Company taéis a return policy that allows customers tonefuroduct within a specified period
prior to and subsequent to the expiration date e@aly, product may be returned for a period beigigrsix months prior to its expiration date
to up to one year after its expiration date. Searidjement's Discussion and Analysis of Resultspef&ions and Financial Condition—
Critical Accounting Estimates" for a discussiortted Company's accruals for chargebacks, returmsptirer allowances.
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Sales, Marketing and Distribution
The Company sells and markets its products in thited States. The Company's products are distdhil@ugh the following channels:

. Wholesalers The Company has contracts with four major whdégsan the United States: Cardinal, McKesson,
AmerisourceBergen, and Morris Dickson, as well@eas to their respective retail source progri

. Retail Market Chains The Company conducts business with four majailrebains in the United States: Walgreens, CVS,
RiteAid, and We-Mart.

. Distributors and Mail Order Pharmacies The Company has contracts with several majoriligbrs and mail order pharmac
in the United States, including Anda, ExpressSsriphd Omnicare

. Hospital Market. The Company has contracts with group purchasiggrozations in the United States, such as Premiere
MedAssets, Minnesota Mu-State, and the Federal Supply Sched"FS<”).

Competition

The Company's target markets have more limited etitign due to complexities in formulation, actipharmaceutical ingredient sourci
materials handling and manufacturing, and regwatardles. Nevertheless, the Company competesnwitierous other pharmaceutical
companies, including large, global pharmaceutioahganies capable of addressing these complexitgsardles with respect to products that
the Company currently produces and products tlesinathe Company'’s pipeline. In addition, the Qamy’s products are subject to
competition from other generic substitutes and pmscription alternative therapies.

The Company’s branded pharmaceutical products ilyriace competition from generic substitutes aral/ continue to face competition
from generic substitutes in the future. For a ufiacturer to launch a generic substitute (includigghe Company, with respect to the generic
products that it develops and manufactures), theufiaaturer must apply to the FDA for an ANDA showihat the generic substitute is
therapeutically equivalent to the reference beandrug product. (See “Government Regulation.")

The primary means of competition among generic dnagufacturers are pricing and contract terms,isetevels, and supplier reliability.
In addition, generic drug manufacturers competget on brand recognition and customer loyaltyelkas the manufacturer's ability to
produce other formulations that may complememtiter generic products. To compete effectively,Gloenpany seeks to consistently produce
high-quality, reliable, and effective productst also establishes active working relationshipsiweiich of its customers, continually gathers
important market information in order to respondcassfully to requests for proposals, maintaingcsefit inventories to assure high service
levels, and works to reduce product costs by sogrand qualifying alternative suppliers whenevessigle and rebidding product components
on a routine basis.

The Company's sales can be impacted by new sttidiesdicate that a competitor's product has gresfficacy for treating a disease or
particular form of a disease than one of the Comgaaroducts. If competitors introduce new prodaatd processes with therapeutic or cost
advantages, the Company'’s products can be subjgcbgressive price reductions and/or decreasednabf sales.

Principal competitors for the types of drugs in ethihe Company transacts business are as follows:

Hormones and SteroidsCompetition for hormone and steroidal drugs istkieh because of the small number of plants in thi¢dd States

capable of safely manufacturing these higitency compounds. Current generic participantoimone and steroidal drugs include Creekw
Pharmaceuticals, Endo Pharmaceuticals, GlenmannRitauticals, Watson Pharmaceuticals, and TevarRitauticals USA.
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Oncolytics. Competitors for oncolytic products include both-tter generic pharmaceutical companies as wealia®e players. Current
market participants include Mylan, Par Pharmacalttompanies, Sandoz, the generic pharmaceuticassoth of Novartis AG, Watson
Pharmaceuticals, and Teva Pharmaceuticals USA.

Narcotics. Although market share in narcotic products is emiated among two principal companies, i.e., Paiffluarma and
Mallinckrodt, several other companies with mateniarket share in specific product categories witfarcotics include Lannett, Endo
Pharmaceuticals, Roxane Laboratories, and Watsamiteuticals.

Generic Industry Trends

In recent years, the generic drug industry hasmepeed significant consolidation, particularlyastablished distribution channels and
amongst generic drug manufacturers and competitors.

The wholesale distributor network for pharmaceutcaducts has been subject to increasing cong@itavhich has increased the
concentration of the Company’s wholesale customeraddition, the number of retail market chaind,dan particular, the number of
independent drug stores and small chains, hasaksdas retail consolidation has occurred, alseasing the concentration of the Company’
retail customers. As a result of this trend towesdsolidation, a smaller number of companies eactral a larger share of pharmaceutical
distribution channels.

In addition, consolidation amongst generic pharratical companies has created opportunities whem thie fewer competitors. Howev
as competitors grow larger through consolidationda their resources. Larger competitors may be tbhggressively decrease prices in orde
to gain market share on certain products and mag resources that would allow them to more aggrelsmarket their products to potential
customers.

Product Liability

Product liability litigation represents an inhereisk to all firms in the pharmaceutical industihne Company utilizes traditional thigkrty
insurance policies with regard to its product liépiclaims. Such insurance coverage at any give reflects market conditions, including ¢
and availability, existing at the time the poligpiritten, and the decision to obtain commercialilance coverage or to self-insure varies
accordingly.

In February 2009, the FDA mandated a "black boxthivey for the drug metoclopramide, specifically ilighting the risks of patients
developing tardive dyskinesia, a movement disondben taking metoclopramide for longer than 12 vgedls a result, numerous state-level
lawsuits were brought against pharmaceutical manwifars, both branded and generic, that had eveufaetured and/or sold metocloprami
Among the defendants is the Company, which manuifastthe generic version and since 2011 has beerofatduring the branded version
under the name Regl&h The plaintiffs in these lawsuits claim to havedrred bodily injuries as a result of ingestiomudtoclopramide or
Reglan® prior to the FDA's black box warning requiremertieTallegations involve a failure, based on varistase-level consumer protection
laws, to adequately warn patients and doctors aheutisks of using metoclopramide for longer th@nveeks as evidenced by the FDA's
mandate to strengthen the labeled warning.

As the state-level litigation progressed, the giergnarmaceutical defendants appealed to the Uyse®e Court arguing that generic
companies could not comply with state laws thatiregl them to strengthen their labels because geo@mpanies are prohibited by federal
law from making any changes except those adoptétéiprand or mandated by FDA for all manufactyrerg. federal pre-emption. The U.S.
Supreme Court decided in favor of the generic canigsin June 2011 in what is known now as the Mandiecision. While many cases have
since been dismissed by state courts, several gudgguding in Pennsylvania and California, halleveed the plaintiffs to resubmit their
complaints.
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At the present time, the Company's managementaiblario assess the likely outcome of the remaioasges. The Company's insurance
company has assumed the defense of this mattaddition, the Company's insurance company renel@€bmpany's product liability
insurance on September 1, 2012 and 2013 with alesekelusions for claims related to Regfand metoclopramide. The Company cannot
provide assurances that the outcome of these mattkmot have an adverse effect on its businesss)lts of operations, financial condition ¢
cash flow. Furthermore, like all pharmaceutical ofanturers, the Company in the future may be expes®ther product liability claims,
which could harm its business, results of operatifinancial condition and cash flow.

Backlog

The Company had a backlog of $2.1 million and $Rillion at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectjueliating to contract
manufacturing purchase orders from customers.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013, the Company's workforckugred 81 fulltime employees, including 39 salaried employeed,aaftexible direc
labor pool of 23 experienced pharmaceutical marufagy and packaging staff. Of the 81 full-time dayges, 53 are in selling, general and
administrative, 23 in production and five in resteand development.
Seasonality of Business

The Company does not believe its business is sufgjeseasonality. However, the Company's businasde subject to and affected by

the business practices of our business partnerthelextent that the availability of inventory oatarials from or development practices of our
partners is seasonal, the Company's sales maybprsto fluctuations quarter to quarter or yeagroyear.
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ltem 1A. Risk Factors

The following are significant factors known to tBempany that could materially harm its businessritial condition or operating results
or could cause its actual results to differ matigrfaom its anticipated results or other expeatas, including those expressed in any forward-
looking statement made in this report. The riskscdbed are not the only risks facing the Compamditional risks and uncertainties not
currently known to management, or that managemamnéwtly deems to be immaterial, also may adveratgct the Company’s business,
financial condition and/or operating results. Ifani these risks actually occur, the Company'srrss, financial condition and operating ret
could suffer significantly. As a result, the margeice of our common stock could decline and inmesstould lose all or part of their
investment.

The Company has a history of losses and negativehddow and cannot offer any assurances that it M@lver achieve profitability.

The Company has not been profitable until this ylkeas an accumulated deficit of $48.5 million aPetember 31, 2013, and has not
generated positive cash flows from operations. ffdgle the gap between revenues and operating gidlcaceds, the Company has been
dependent on a variety of financing sources, irolythe issuance of equity securities and convertibtes, and revolving lines of credit.

The Company cannot predict whether it will achieugstain or increase profitability on a quartemyaonual basis in the future. If revenues
grow more slowly than anticipated, or if operatexgenses exceed the Company’s expectations or tharauljusted accordingly, then the
Company’s business, results of operations, findiwoiadition and cash flows will be materially ardivarsely affected.

Due to a recent and significant decrease in competi for Esterified Estrogen with Methyltestosterertablets (‘EEMT”), which the
Company cannot be certain will continue, the Compasirevenue and operating income has increased dagigally since the third quarter
of 2013. If the Company experienced increased cotitjpa for the product, it could lose market sharbe forced to lower prices, or both, a
of which could have a material adverse effect os litusiness, financial position and results of optomas.

The Company's sales of EEMT, which are sold wittesuaipproved NDA or ANDA, accounted for approxinha®3% of net revenues, b
only approximately 24% of cost of sales duringykear ended December 31, 2013. Currently, the Coynfzenes no significant competition for
its EEMT product because, in the third quarter@f®, a significant competitor stopped producing BENMhis has led to a material increase in
the Company’s market share for the product andledahe Company to significantly increase the writeharges for the product. As a result
of the Company’s price increases, the market sizéhe product has also increased significanthictvicould in turn increase the likelihood of
the prior competitor re-entering the market. If fhir competitor or any third party is able to sessfully produce, market and distribute a
product competitive with EEMT, the Company's s@eEEMT could decrease, potentially materially,mdt corresponding reduction in
revenues, which would have a material, adverse éimpaithe Company's business, financial conditiash flows and stock price.

In addition, as described below, the Company &HMT without an approved NDA or ANDA and can pravido assurances that the F
will not require the Company to seek approval far product or withdraw it from the market. If thBA required the Company obtain an
approved NDA or ANDA in order to sell EEMT, the Cpamy's business, financial condition, cash flows stock price would be materially
and adversely impacted. The costs of and timelvwed in obtaining an approved NDA or ANDA would &ignificant and the Company may
determine not to pursue such approvals. Unles€timpany were successful in increasing saleshef @roducts to replace any revenue lost
from the sale of its EEMT product, whether duedmpetition, FDA actions or otherwise, its businasd stock price would be materially
harmed, potentially for the long term. Becausehefincrease in revenue related to sales of thiduatothe percentage of the Company’s net
revenues related to EEMT increased to 33% from &thle years ended December 31, 2013 and 201 Zatbagly.

15




Certain of the Company’s generic products are matee without approved New Drug Applications (“NDAsYr Abbreviated New Drug
Applications fANDAs") and the Company can offer no assurancesattthe U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) wi not require
the Company to either seek approval for these pradior withdraw them from the market. In either oasthe Company’s business, financial
position and results of operations could be matdisiaadversely affectec

Two of the Company’s products, EEMT and Opium Timef are marketed without approved NDAs or ANDAa&riBg the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, net revenues for EEBYE 83% and 9% of total revenue, respectively atdevenues from Opium Tincture
were 16% and 20% of total revenue, respectively.

The FDA's policy with respect to the continued nedirkg of unapproved products appears in the FDAfeSnber 2011 Compliance Pol
Guide Sec. 440.100 titled "Marketed New Drugs with&pproved NDAs or ANDAs." Under this policy, tR@A has stated that it will follow
a riskbased approach with regard to enforcement agaiatating of unapproved products. The FDA evaluatesther to initiate enforceme
action on a case-by-case basis, but gives higlanitgrto enforcement action against products irtaia categories, such as those with potentiz
safety risks or that lack evidence of effectiven&ghile the Company believes that, so long asritgies with applicable manufacturing and
labeling standards, the FDA will not take actiomiagt it under the current enforcement policy aih ©ffer no assurances that the FDA will
continue this policy or not take a contrary positwith any individual product or group of products.

In October 2012, the Company received a telephalieerjuesting a meeting with the FDA represengatifrom the Minneapolis district
the FDA to discuss continued manufacturing andidigion of Opium Tincture, which is an unapproy@dduct. That meeting was held on
October 25, 2012 by conference telephone call acldded FDA representatives from the Office of Cbamze at the Center for Drug
Evaluation and Research. Counsel to the Compartyadetter to the FDA on November 9, 2012 in suppbthe Company’s position.
Although the FDA confirmed receipt of this lettdre Company has received no further response fnenrDA. If, as a result of such
discussions or otherwise, the FDA were to maketerdenation that the Company could not continuselb Opium Tincture as an unapproved
product, the Company would be required to seek Epproval for such product or withdraw such produmin the market. If the Company
determined to withdraw the product from the maritet, Companys net revenues for generic pharmaceutical produectsd decline materially
and if the Company decided to seek FDA approvalpitld face increased expenses and might needsperd sales of the product until such
approval is obtained, and there are no assurahaethe Company would receive such approval.

In addition, the Company manufactures a group oflpcts on behalf of a contract manufacturing custoamd receives royalties on the
customer’s sales of products, which are marketeithétycustomer without an FDA-approved NDA. If fi2A took enforcement action against
such customer, the customer may be required tofsBékapproval for the group of products or withdrénem from the market, which could
materially adversely affect the Company’s contraahufacturing and royalty revenues. The Compargrdract manufacturing revenues from
this group of unapproved products for the yearsedridecember 31, 2013 and 2012 were 6.5% and 6.88tabirevenues, respectively. The
Company’s royalties on the net sales of these uapd products for the years ended December 313 206d 2012 were 1.1% and 1.4% of
total revenues, respectively.

The Company is entirely dependent on periodic apmioby the Drug Enforcement Administration for theupply of the active
pharmaceutical ingredient needed to make Opium Ttiure and inability to obtain such approval would dece or eliminate revenues froi
the sale of Opium Tincture. In addition, the Compgiis subject to strict regulation by the Drug Enfogment Administration and is subject
to sanctions if it is unable to comply with relatedgulatory requirements.

The Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”) regudatcertain drug products containing controlled tarfzes, such as opium, pursuant
to the U.S. Controlled Substances Act (“CSA”"). TWA and DEA regulations impose specific requirerm@m manufacturers and other
entities that handle these substances includingtration, recordkeeping, reporting, storage, sgcand distribution. Recordkeeping
requirements include accounting for the amountrofipct received, manufactured, stored and dis&ithuEompanies handling controlled
substances also are required to maintain adegeeieity and to report suspicious orders, theftssignificant losses. The DEA periodically
inspects facilities for compliance with the CSA arsdregulations. Failure to comply with currentldnture regulations of the DEA could lead
to a variety of sanctions, including revocatiordenial of renewal of DEA registrations, injunctioos civil or criminal penalties.
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In addition, each year, the Company must subnegaest to the DEA for a quota to purchase the atrafiactive pharmaceutical
ingredient needed to manufacture Opium Tincture, @frits major products. Without an approved qudamien DEA, the Company would not be
able to purchase this ingredient from its suppkera result, the Company is entirely dependentuhe DEA to approve, on an annual basis,
guota of active pharmaceutical ingredient thatificently large to support the Company’s plansttee continued manufacture of Opium
Tincture at commercial levels.

The Company depends on a limited number of supditar active pharmaceutical ingredients.

The Company'’s ability to manufacture and distribaiteg products is dependent, in part, upon ingredieand components supplied by
others, including entities based outside the Ur8des. The Company purchased approximately 363 of total costs of goods sold
from three suppliers during the years ended DeceBibe2013 and 2012, respectively. Any disruptiomhie supply of these ingredients or
components or any problems in their quality coublttenially affect the Company’s ability to manufaetand distribute drug product and could
result in legal liabilities that could materiallffect the Company’s ability to realize profits dherwise harm the Comparsybusiness, financi
and operating results. As described above, vistualicontracts for the supply of pharmaceuticaldurcts by the Company to customers cor
"failure to supply" clauses. The ability to sousedficient quantities of active pharmaceutical edjents (“API”) for manufacturing is therefore
critical to the Company. The Company sources thematerials for its products, including API fromthalomestic and international suppliers.
Generally, only a single source of API is qualiffed use in each product due to the costs and tégeired to validate a second source of
supply. Changes in API suppliers must usually h@@ged through a Prior Approval Supplement by tBAFAs the API typically comprises
the majority of a product's manufactured cost, quiaifying an alternative is costly and time-congugm API suppliers must be selected
carefully based on quality, reliability of supplgdalong-term financial stability.

Imported API is subject to inspection by the FDA @irDA can refuse to permit the importation of APof use in products that are
marketed without approved NDAs or ANDAs. The Comygas entirely dependent on imported API to make EEMf the FDA detained or
refused to allow the importation of such API, theo®pany’s revenues from the sales of EEMT would leeluced or eliminated and the
Company’s business, financial position and resulttoperations could be materially adversely affette

The Company sources certain of the API for its gstgpucts, including those that are marketed wittagproved NDAs or ANDAs, from
international suppliers. From time to time, duémA inspections, the Company has experienced teanpaiisruptions in the supply of certain
of such imported API, including EEMT. Any prolongdisruption in the supply of such imported API abuiaterially affect the Company’s
ability to manufacture and distribute its drug prot$, such as EEMT, reduce or eliminate the Comnparyenues from sales of EEMT, and
have a material adverse effect on the Company’'méss, financial position and operating results.

The Company’s anticipated revenue growth and prafitlity, if achieved, is dependent upon the Compangbility to develop, license,
acquire, and commercialize new products on a timeasis in relation to its competitors' product imtductions, and to address all regulatory
requirements applicable to the development and caneralization of new products. The Company’s faikito do so successfully could
impair its growth strategy and plans and could haaenaterial adverse effect on its business, finalgyosition and results of operations.

The Company’s future revenues and profitability @@pendent upon its ability to successfully develiopnse or acquire, and
commercialize, pharmaceutical products in a tirménner. Product development is inherently risky tamé-consuming. Likewise, product
licensing involves inherent risks including uncertie#s due to matters that may affect the achievermemilestones, as well as the possibility
of contractual disagreements with regard to th@lsupf product meeting specifications and termshsag license scope or termination rights.
The development and commercialization processralgoires substantial time, effort and financiabrgses. The Company may not be
successful in commercializing products on a tintelgis, if at all, which could adversely affecthtssiness, financial position and results of
operations.
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Before any new prescription drug product can beketad in the United States, marketing authorizagipproval is required by the FDA.
The process of obtaining regulatory approval to ufacture and market branded and generic pharmaeéptioducts is rigorous, time
consuming, costly and largely unpredictable. ThenBany may be unable to obtain requisite approvala timely basis for branded or generic
products that it may develop, license or acquirer@dver, if the Company obtains regulatory appréeah drug, it may be limited with respe
to the indicated uses and delivery methods for vttie drug may be marketed, which in turn couldrieists potential market for the drug.
Also, for products pending approval, the Company oiatain raw materials or produce batches of inmgntin the event that regulatory
approval is denied or delayed, the Company coulexdpesed to the risk of any such inventory becomoingplete. The timing and cost of
obtaining regulatory approvals could adverselyafthe Company’s product introduction plans, buséné&nancial position and results of
operations.

The approval process for generic pharmaceuticalymis often results in the FDA granting simultareboal approval to a number of
generic pharmaceutical products at the time a pataim for a corresponding branded product or otharket exclusivity expires. This often
forces a generic firm to face immediate competitidren it introduces a generic product into the rearkdditionally, further generic approv:
often continue to be granted for a given produbssquent to the initial launch of the generic patdiihese circumstances generally result in
significantly lower prices, as well as reduced nr@sgfor generic products compared to branded prisddlew generic market entrants
generally cause continued price and margin erasian the generic product life cycle. As a restig €Company could be unable to grow or
maintain market share with respect to generic phaemtical products, which could have a materiabast effect on the Company’s ability to
market that product profitably and on its businéissncial position and results of operations.

Furthermore, if the Company is unable to addrdsegllatory requirements applicable to the develept and commercialization of new
products in a timely manner, its product introdoctplans, business, financial position and resfltsperations could be materially adversely
affected.

The FDA regulates and monitors all promotion andegiising of prescription drugs after approval. plbmotion must be consistent with
the conditions of approval and submitted to thenageFailure to adhere to FDA promotional requiratsecan result in enforcement letters,
warning letters, changes to existing promotionatemal, and corrective notices to healthcare psifesls. Promotion of a prescription drug
uses not approved by the FDA can have serious qaesees and result in lawsuits by private parttge governments and the federal
government, significant civil and criminal penadti@nd compliance agreements that require the amyrtpachange current practices and
prevent unlawful activity in the future.

The Company faces vigorous competition from othpdrarmaceutical manufacturers that threatens theramercial acceptance and
pricing of its products. If the Company is unable successfully compete, such competition could haveaterial adverse effect on i
business, financial position and results of opematis and cash flows.

The generic pharmaceutical industry is highly cotitipe. The Company faces intense competition ftdi8. and foreign manufacturers,
many of whom are significantly larger than the Camy Its competitors may be able to develop pradantl processes competitive with or
superior to the Company’s for many reasons, inagdiut not limited to the possibility that they ntagve:

. greater financial resources;

. proprietary processes or delivery systems;

. larger research and development and marketingsstaff
. larger production capabilities;

. more products; or

. more experience in developing new drugs.
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Any significant competitor of the Company, due tee®@r more of these and other factors, could havatarial adverse effect on the
Company’s business, financial position, resultepérations and cash flows.

The Company's approved products may not achieve m@mtialization at levels of market acceptance tladlow the Company to achieve
profitability, which could have a material adversdfect on its business, financial position and rd&uof operations

The Company seeks to develop, license or acquirduats that it can commercialize at levels of maaogeptance that would allow the
Company to recoup the costs of development and @wiatization, grow market share, and achieve ability. Even if the Company is able
to obtain regulatory approvals for its pharmacelfroducts, if the Company fails to accuratelydicedemand for such products, its business
financial position, and results of operations cduddadversely impacted. Levels of market acceptiorgeroducts could be impacted by severa
factors, including but not limited to:

. the availability of alternative products from ther@pany’s competitors;

. the price of the Company's products relative td tfithe Company's competitors;

. the effectiveness of the Company’s marketing regatd that of the Company’s competitors;
. the timing of the Company's market entry;

. the ability to market the Company's products effety to the retail level; and

. the acceptance of the Company's products by gowarhand private formularies.

Some of these factors are not within the Compasoyisrol and, if any arises, the Company’s profiighibusiness, financial position and
results of operations could be materially adverségcted.

Although the Company’s male testosterone gel is mwed by the FDA, the Company is uncertain as toemhTeva will begin to market
and sell the male testosterone gel and thus wheiif the Company would begin to receive royaltiesrin such sales in light of Teva's
settlement agreement with AbbVie In

The Company’s male testosterone gel was develaopialy by the Company, and then licensed by tlienpany to Teva for late stage
clinical development. Teva submitted an NDA, whieds approved by the FDA in February 2012. Subesetio Teva submitting the NDA,
April 2011, AbbVie Inc., a marketer of a testostee@el for men, filed a complaint against Tevagilig patent infringement with respect to
male testosterone gel. The Teva/AbbVie patenirigédment litigation was settled in December 20lrilight of the settlement agreement, the
Company is uncertain as to when or if Teva willibgg market and sell its male testosterone gelthnd when or if the Company would begin
to receive royalties from such sales. In addittbe, intangible asset related to the Teva licensewsued at $10.9 million in the purchase
accounting for the Merger. If Teva does not begimarket or sell its male testosterone gel, thaevaf the intangible asset could be at risk of
impairment, which could result in an impairment ifgathat could have a material negative impachenGompany’s financial results.

Future acquisitions and investments could disrupiet Company's business and harm its financial conalit and operating results.

The Company's growth will depend, in part, on @atued ability to develop, commercialize and expés drug products, including in
response to changing regulatory and competitivesures. In some circumstances, the Company masnude&eto accelerate its growth throt
the acquisition of complementary businesses arthtdogies rather than through internal developmené identification of suitable
acquisition candidates or products can be diffidutie-consuming and costly, and the Company mayeable to successfully complete or
successfully execute strategies for identified &itjons. The risks faced in connection with acgigas include:
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. diversion of management time and focus from opegatie Company's business to addressing acquisitidfor product
integration challenge:

. coordination of research and development and salésnarketing functions;

. retention of key employees from the acquired corgpan

. integration of the acquired company’s accountinghagement information, human resources and otmeingdrative systems;
. the need to implement or improve controls, procesluand policies at a business that prior to theiaition may have lacked

effective controls, procedures and polici

. liability for activities of the acquired companyddar products before the acquisition, includinggpatnfringement claims,
violations of laws, commercial disputes, tax ligkgs and other known and unknown liabiliti

. unanticipated write-offs or charges; and

. litigation or other claims in connection with thegaired company or product, including claims froraquct users, former
stockholders or other third partie

In any acquisition that the Company may undertagdailure to address these risks or other problencountered in connection with any
acquisitions and investments could cause the Coynjoefail to realize the anticipated benefits aftk acquisitions or investments, cause it to
incur unanticipated liabilities, and harm its besia generally. Future acquisitions could also tésulilutive issuances of the Company's eq
securities, the incurrence of debt, contingentliiéds, amortization expenses, incremental opagpéixpenses or the write-off of goodwill, any
of which could harm the Company'’s financial cordlitior operating results.

The Company began its own product development pangtin 2011 and expects to spend a significant ambofresources on research
and development efforts that may not lead to susfeglsproduct introductions. Failure to successfulipntroduce products into the market
could have a material adverse effect on its bussiemancial position and results of operations.

The Company conducts research and developmentisirttaenable it to manufacture and market appdopkarmaceuticals in accorda
with applicable regulations. As the Company seeldetvelop and develops new products, its reseamtnses will increase, potentially
significantly. Research and development is expenaid time-consuming. The Company’s research anel@@ment expenditures may not
result in the successful introduction of new pharewtical products approved by the FDA. Also, dfiter Company submits a marketing
authorization application for a generic producg BEDA may change standards and/or request th&dhgany conduct additional studies and,
as a result, the Company may incur total reseandirdavelopment costs to develop a particular promuexcess of what it anticipated. Finally,
the Company cannot be certain that any investmatienm developing products will be recovered, dgf/é@ris successful in commercialization.
To the extent that the Company spends signifioasaurces on research and development efforts arad &ble to introduce successful new
products as a result of those efforts, its busirfasancial position and results of operations rhaymaterially adversely affected.

The Company relies on third parties to assist itiia clinical studies. If these third parties doohperform as required contractually or
expected, the Company’s clinical studies may beeaged, delayed or terminated or may need to be agg and the Company may not be
able to obtain regulatory approval for or commerdize the product being tested in such studies.

The Company relies on third parties, such as cagdistitutions, clinical investigators and comtrlaboratories, to assist it in its clinical
studies. The Company is responsible for confirntirag its studies are conducted in accordance wighicable regulations and that each of its
clinical studies is conducted in accordance wilgineral investigational plan and protocol. Th&FEquires the Company to comply with
regulations and standards, commonly referred tgas clinical practices for conducting, monitoringgording and reporting the results of
clinical studies, to assure that data and repodsdits are accurate and that the clinical studigi@ants are adequately protected. The
Company'’s reliance on these third parties doesali@ve it of these responsibilities. If the thpdrties assisting the Company with its clinical
studies do not perform their contractual dutiesldigations, do not meet expected deadlines, dadlomply with the FDA's good clinical
practice regulations, do not adhere to the Compgapngstocols or otherwise fail to generate reliathigical data, the Company may need to
enter into new arrangements with alternative tpadies and its clinical studies may be extendetiy@d or terminated or may need to be
repeated, and the Company may not be able to ofetgidatory approval for or commercialize the pretdoeing tested in such studies. In
addition, if a third party fails to perform as agdethe Company'’s ability to collect damages malirbiged contractually.
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The Company does not own or license any materiaiepés associated with its products, and its abitiyprotect and control unpatented
trade secrets, know-how and other technological avation is limited.

Generally, the branded pharmaceutical businesssrafion patent protection to ensure market exdtysor the life of the patent. The
Company does not own or license any material pasgociated with its products and therefore doesmjoy the same level of intellectual
property protection with respect to such produsts/auld a pharmaceutical manufacturer that makgiatented product. The Company has a
limited ability to protect and control trade sestétnow-how and other technological innovationodlvhich are unpatented. Others
independently may develop similar or better prapriginformation and techniques and disclose thabiigy. Also, others may gain access to
the Company’s trade secrets, and the Company mayenable to meaningfully protect its rights toutgpatented trade secrets. In addition,
confidentiality agreements and other measures roapnovide meaningful protection for the Comparty&le secrets in the event of
unauthorized use or disclosure of such informatiailure to protect and control such trade secketsw-how and innovation could harm the
value of the Company’s trade secrets, know-howathdr technological innovation.

The use of legal, regulatory and legislative strgies by competitors, both branded and generic, imthg "authorized generics" and
citizen's petitions, as well as the potential impac proposed legislation, may increase the Compargosts associated with the introduction
or marketing of the Company’s generic products, ¢dwalelay or prevent such introduction and/or coutdduce significantly the Company’s
profit potential. These factors could have a matdradverse effect on the Compe's business, financial position, results of operatis and
cash flows.

The Company’s competitors, both branded and gendftien pursue legal, regulatory, and/or legiskastrategies to prevent or delay
competition from generic alternatives to brandeutipcts. These strategies include, but are notdufrtib:

. entering into agreements whereby other generic eniep will begin to market an authorized generigemeric equivalent of a
branded product, at the same time generic compeiititially enters the marke

. launching a generic version of their own brandextipct at the same time generic competition initialiters the market;

. filing citizen's petitions with the FDA or otherg@latory bodies, including timing the filings sotasghwart generic competition
by causing delays of the Compi’'s product approval

. seeking to establish regulatory and legal obstdbkswould make it more difficult to demonstratedguivalence or meet other
approval requirement

. initiating legislative and regulatory efforts taniit the substitution of generic versions of brangbdrmaceuticals;

. filing suits for patent infringement that may delagulatory approval of generic products;
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. introducing "next-generation” products prior to thepiration of market exclusivity for the referemm@duct, which often
materially reduces the demand for the first gengrciuct for which the Company seeks regulatoryay;

. obtaining extensions of market exclusivity by coctihg clinical trials of branded drugs in pediafpicpulations or by other
potential methods

. persuading regulatory bodies to withdraw the applrobranded name drugs for which the patentsbeait to expire, thus
allowing the branded name company to obtain newrptatl products serving as substitutes for the mtsduithdrawn; ant

. seeking to obtain new patents on drugs for whidkmigrotection is about to expire.

If the Company cannot compete with such strategiesCompany’s business, financial position, rasoftoperations and cash flows could
be materially negatively impacted.

Companies with greater resources than the Compaayld lobby Congress and other regulators for additial regulations that would
benefit their situations but would negatively impatie Company.

The Company is at the early stages of growth anakotly does not engage in lobbying activitiestia United States, some companies
have lobbied Congress for amendments to the Drigg Pompetition and Patent Term Restoration A&384 (the “Hatch-Waxman Actthat
would give them additional advantages over gerampetitors. For example, although the term ofragany's drug patent can be extended tc
reflect a portion of the time an NDA is under regaly review, some companies have proposed extgridapatent term by the full amount of
time spent in clinical trials rather than by onlyechalf of the time that is currently permitted.

If proposals like these were to become effectire, Gompany’s entry into the market and its abtlitgenerate revenues associated with
new products may be delayed, reduced or eliminathith could have a material adverse effect obiisiness, financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.

The Company faces significant uncertainty with resgi to the litigation brought against it and othenanufacturers of metoclopramide
and cannot provide assurances that the outcomehef thatter will not have an adverse effect on itsancial position, results of operations
and/or cash flows from operations. In addition, tti@ompany may be exposed to other product liabititgims in the future.

All manufacturers of the drug Regl&mnd its generic equivalent metoclopramide, inclgdime Company, are facing allegations from
plaintiffs in various states, including Californidew Jersey and Pennsylvania, claiming bodily iegias a result of ingestion of
metoclopramide or its brand name, Redlamprior to the FDA's February 2009 Black Box wamnequirement. In August 2012, the Company
was dismissed with prejudice from all New JersesesaManagement considers the Company’s expostiestitigation to be limited due to
several factors: (1) the only generic metoclopramthnufactured by the Company prior to the impleatem of the FDA's warning
requirement was an oral solution introduced aftay8, 2008; (2) the Company’s market share footiaésolution was a very small portion
of the overall metoclopramide market; and (3) otheeCompany received a request for change of ladp&om the FDA, it submitted its
proposed changes within 30 days, and such changessubsequently approved by the FDA.

At the present time, management is unable to asisedikely outcome of the cases in the remainiages. The Company’s insurance
company has assumed the defense of this mattaddition, the Company’s insurance company reneWwedCompany’s product liability
insurance on September 1, 2012 and 2013 with afesekelusions for claims related to Regfaand metoclopramide. Management cannot
provide assurances that the outcome of these mattbnot have an adverse effect on its business)lts of operations, financial condition ¢
cash flow. Furthermore, like all pharmaceutical ofanturers, the Company in the future may be expes®ther product liability claims,
which could harm its business, results of operatifinancial condition and cash flow.
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The Company’s management does not have significaxperience in addressing the extensive regulatitimst the Company must
comply with as a public company and is requireddevote substantial time to comply with public comgaegulations.

As a public company, the Company is required tolgrwith significant legal, accounting and othequeaements that ANIP Acquisition
Company did not face as a private company andas sas incurred significant regulatory complianeketed expenses. The Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform &uahsumer Protection Act as well as rules implentebiethe SEC and The NASDAQ
Global Market, impose various requirements on putdmpanies, including those related to corporateegance practices. The Company’s
management and other personnel devote a substamtiaint of time to these requirements. Certain bagmof the Company’'management
not have significant experience in addressing thegeirements. Moreover, these rules and regulstimve increased the company’s legal an
financial compliance costs relative to those of/res years and make some activities more timewuoirgy and costly.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other thihgs the Company maintain effective internal colrfor financial reporting and
disclosure controls and procedures. In partictiter, Company must perform system and process diaiund testing of its internal control
over financial reporting to allow management tooréjpn the effectiveness of its internal controépfinancial reporting, as required by
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The CommitfeSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Caaion (“COSQO”) provides a
framework for companies to assess and improve igimal control systems. The Compangbmpliance with these requirements has req
that it incur substantial accounting and relateple@ses and expend significant management effbitseover, if the Company is not able to
comply with the requirements of Section 404 of #a@banes-Oxley Act, is unable to assert that fe&smal controls over financial reporting are
effective, or identifies deficiencies in its intatrcontrol over financial reporting that are deertetle material weaknesses, investors could los
confidence in the accuracy and completeness dCtimpany’s financial reports, the market price & @ompany’s common stock could
decline and the Company could be subject to sametio investigations by The NASDAQ Global Markée SEC or other regulatory
authorities.

The Company has very limited staffing and is depentiupon key employees, the loss of some of whalidt adversely affect its
operations. Competition for talent is intense; ie Company cannot attract and retain personnel, gy@wth and success of the business
could be adversely affected.

The Companys success is dependent upon the efforts of avelatimall management team and staff. The Compasyno redundancy
personnel in key development areas, including @diiregulatory, strategic planning and financée Tompany has employment arrangement
in place with its executive and other officers, bahe of these executive and other officers is Hdegally to remain employed with the
Company for any specific term. The Company dog¢save key person life insurance policies coveiisag@xecutive and other officers or any
of its other employees. If key individuals lealie Company, its business could be affected adyeifsalitable replacement personnel are not
recruited quickly. The population in northern Masota, where the Company’s manufacturing resoaeekcated, is small, and as a result,
there are a limited number qualified personnellabé in all functional areas, which could makdifficult to retain and attract the qualified
personnel necessary for the development and grofattite Company’s business.

The continuing trend toward consolidation of certacustomer groups could result in declines in thaless volume and prices of the
Company'’s products, and increased fees chargedustamers, each of which could have a material acdseeffect on the Company's
business, financial position, results of operatioaad cash flows.

Consolidation among wholesale distributors, chairgdtores, and group purchasing organizationsdsasted in a smaller number of
companies, each controlling a larger share of phaeutical distribution channels. For example, tbenfany's net revenues are concentrated
among three customers representing 27%, 18% andoi@%t revenues, respectively, during the yeaedrdecember 31, 2013. As of
December 31, 2013, accounts receivable from these tustomers was approximately 68% of the Comipaiey accounts receivable. Drug
wholesalers and retain pharmacy chains, which seitean essential part of the distribution chaigesferic pharmaceutical products, have
undergone, and are continuing to undergo, sigmificansolidation. This consolidation may resultétlines in sales volume for the Company
if a customer is consolidated into another comphay purchases products from a competitor. In &idithe consolidation of drug wholesalers
and retail pharmacy chains could result in thesegs gaining additional purchasing leverage andeguently increasing the product pricing
pressures facing the Company's business and egdbtise groups to charge increased fees to the &pmpdditionally, the emergence of
large buying groups representing independent reta@irmacies and the prevalence and influence oagehcare organizations and similar
institutions potentially enable those groups taaottprice discounts on the Company's products.résglt of these developments may have a
material adverse effect on the Company's busifiess\cial position, results of operations and ciahvs.
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The Company’s operations might be interrupted b thccurrence of a natural disaster or other catagthic event.

The Company’s principal operations are conductatbitthern Minnesota. Natural disasters or otheastephic events could disrupt the
Company’s operations or those of its strategicneaig, contractors and vendors. Even though the @oybpelieves it carries commercially
reasonable business interruption and liability ragge, and its contractors may carry liability irmce that protect the Company in certain
events, the Company might suffer losses as a refhlisiness interruptions that exceed the coveaag#able under its and its contractors’
insurance policies or for which it or its contrastdo not have coverage. Any natural disaster tast@phic event could have a significant
negative impact on the Compasyiperations and financial results, and could diéagfforts to identify and execute any strategpportunities

The Company has two manufacturing facilities prodag a substantial portion of its products. Produoti at any one of these facilities
could be interrupted, which could cause the Companyfail to deliver sufficient product to customeo a timely basis and have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s business, finangiasition, results of operations and cash flows.

The Company’s manufacturing capacity is based mfaeilities. While these facilities are sufficigior the Company’s current needs, the
facilities are highly specialized and any damagertneed for replacement of all or any significamtction of the Company’s facilities could be
very costly and time-consuming and could impaiphibit production and shipping. A significant diption at any one of the facilities, even
on a shorterm basis, whether due to a labor strike, advgusdity or compliance observation, vandalism, stormother environmental dama
or other events could impair the Compangbility to produce and ship products to the miaokea timely basis and, among other conseque
could subject the Company to claims from custom&ny. of these events could have a material adweffeet on the Company’s business,
financial position, results of operations and ciaivs.

Virtually all contracts for the supply of pharmatieal products by the Company to its customersaiaritfailure to supply" clauses. Under
these clauses, if the Company is unable to supglyequested quantity of product within a certariqul after receipt of a customer's purchase
order, the customer is entitled to procure a stuistproduct elsewhere and the Company must realits customer for the difference
between the Company’s contract price and the phieeustomer was forced to pay to procure the gutesproduct. This difference can be
substantial because of the much higher spot ptiadigh the customer must cover its requirementd,@n be far in excess of the revenue the
the Company would otherwise have received on theecfats own product. The ability to produce aimgpsa sufficient quantity of product is
therefore critical to the Company. Failure to detiproducts could have a material adverse effeth@Companys business, financial positic
results of operations and cash flows.

The Company’s ability to utilize its net operatingss and tax credit carryforwards in the future sibject to substantial limitations.

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Codé861las amended (“the Code”), if a corporation vgades an “ownership
change” (generally defined as a greater than 5@epécchange (by value) in its equity ownership avéiree-year period), the corporation’s
ability to use its pre-change net operating lossyf@arwards and other pre-change tax attributesffiget its posiehange income may be limite
Further, if the historic business of BioSante Plereuticals, Inc. (“BioSante”) is not treated asg continued by the Company for the two-
year period beginning on the date of the Mergde(red to as th“continuity of business requirement”), the pre-saction net operating loss
carryforward deductions become substantially redwreunavailable for use by the surviving corpanatin the transaction. In 2009, an
“ownership change” occurred with respect to BioSaahd the Merger resulted in another “ownershgmge” of the Company. Although the
Company does not currently believe that ANIP Acifisis Company experienced an ownership changerasudt of the Merger, due to the
complexity of certain aspects of the applicableutations, there is no assurance that the IRS willsuccessfully challenge this determination.
Accordingly, the Company’s ability to utilize BioS&'s (and, if successfully challenged by the IRNJP Acquisition Company’s) net
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards magudestantially limited. These limitations, in tuoguld result in increased future tax payment
for the Company, which could have a material adveffect on the business, financial condition sutes of operations of the Company.
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Under Section 384 of the Code, available net opeyabss carryovers of BioSante or ANIP Acquisiti@ompany may not be available to
offset certain gains arising after the Merger frassets held by the other corporation at the effet¢ime of the Merger. This limitation will
apply to the extent that the gain is attributablan unrealized built-in-gain in the assets of Biat® or ANIP Acquisition Company existing at
June 19, 2013, the date of the Merger. To the ¢xan any such gains are recognized in the fivar period after the Merger upon the
disposition of any such assets, the net operatisg darryovers of the other corporation will nolailable to offset such gains (but the net
operating loss carryovers of the corporation thated such assets will not be limited by Section 884ough they may be subject to other
limitations under Section 382 as described above).

Management uses a variety of estimates, judgmeatsi assumptions in preparing the Company’s consatied financial statements.
Estimates, judgments, and assumptions are inhergstlibject to change, and any such changes coulditeis corresponding changes to tt
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, experaas income. Any such changes could have a mateaidverse effect on the Company’s
business, financial position and results of operatis.

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America (“U.S.
GAAP”) requires management to make estimates, juhgsnp and assumptions that affect the reported ataatf assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiehatdate of the financial statements and the redainount of revenues and expenses during tf
period. There are inherent uncertainties involvedstimates, judgments and assumptions, and amgehan estimates, judgments and
assumptions used could have a material adverset effieche Company’s business, financial positioth msults of operations.

In the consolidated financial statements includethé periodic reports filed with the SEC, estirsajedgments, and assumptions are use
for, but not limited to, revenue recognition, altmee for doubtful accounts, accruals for chargehaekurns and other allowances, allowance
for inventory obsolescence, stock-based compemsatiéuation of intangible assets, allowances @ortingencies and litigation, deferred tax
valuation allowance, and the depreciable livesxa&d assets. Actual results could differ from thesémates. Estimates, judgments and
assumptions are inherently subject to change ifuttsee, and any such changes could result in spomeding changes to the amounts of asset
liabilities, revenues, expenses and income. Any stanges could have a material adverse effedi@@obmpanys business, financial positic
and results of operations.

The Company’s policies regarding returns, allowarscand chargebacks, and marketing programs adoptgdvholesalers may reduce
revenues in future fiscal periods.

Based on industry practice, the Company, like otfegreric drug manufacturers, has agreements witoeiers allowing chargebacks,
product returns, administrative fees, and otheatey Under many of these arrangements, the Compapynatch lower prices offered to
customers by competitors. If the Company choosésaers its prices, it generally gives the customeredit on the products that the custome
is holding in inventory, which could reduce salegenue and gross margin for the period the cregiitavided. Like its competitors, the
Company also gives credits for chargebacks to veladdes that have contracts with the Company far Hades to hospitals, group purchasing
organizations, pharmacies or other customers. akgaback is the difference between the price thaleslaler pays and the price that the
wholesaler’s end-customer pays for a product. Altih the Company establishes reserves based areggerience and management’s best
estimates of the impact that these policies mag limgubsequent periods, the Company cannot etizatrés reserves are adequate or that
actual product returns, allowances and chargebaitksot exceed management’s estimates.
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The Company may become subject to federal and gt claims litigation brought by private indivighls and the government.

The Company is subject to state and federal laatsgbivern the submission of claims for reimbursemdine Federal False Claims Act
(“FFCA"), also known as Qui Tam, imposes civil litly and criminal fines on individuals or entiti¢isat knowingly submit, or cause to be
submitted, false or fraudulent claims for paymenthte government. Violations of the FFCA and otfigrilar laws may result in criminal fine
imprisonment, and civil penalties for each falssrol submitted and exclusion from federally fundedlth care programs, including Medicare
and Medicaid. The FFCA also allows private indiatk to bring a suit on behalf of the governmeriragt an individual or entity for violatio
of the FFCA. These suits, also known as Qui Tatioas, may be brought by, with only a few excepsioany private citizen who has material
information of a false claim that has not yet bpegviously disclosed. These suits have increaiggifisantly in recent years because the
FFCA allows an individual to share in any amourgglfo the federal government as a result of aessfal Qui Tam action. If the Company’s
past or present operations are found to be intiwlaf any of such laws or other applicable goveental regulations, it may be subject to civil
and criminal penalties, damages, fines, exclusiomffederal health care programs, and/or the donéaut or restructuring of its operations.
Any penalties, damages, fines, curtailment, oruestiring of operations could adversely affect@wmmpany. Actions brought against the
Company for violations of these laws, even if sssfelly defended, could have a material adversetin its business, financial position and
results of operations.

The Company’s reporting and payment obligations wndhe Medicaid rebate program and other governmedrgurchasing and rebate
programs are complex and may involve subjectiveisieas.

The regulations regarding reporting and paymengabbns with respect to Medicaid reimbursement eafthtes and other governmental
programs are complex. The Company’s calculatiomsma@thodologies are subject to review and challdryggovernmental agencies, and it is
possible that such reviews could result in chanigeaddition, because the Company’s processefiésetcalculations and the judgments
involved in making these calculations involve sghijee decisions and complex methodologies, thekriledions are subject to the risk of
errors. Any determination by governmental agenthiat the Company has failed to comply with ifgoréing and payment obligations could
subject it to penalties and sanctions, which ctialde a material adverse effect on its businesanéial position and results of operations.

Healthcare reform legislation could have a materiatlverse effect on the Company’s business, finahpiasition, results of operations
and cash flows.

In recent years, there have been numerous ingiatm the federal and state levels for comprehemsiorms affecting the payment
for, the availability of and reimbursement for Hieahre services in the United States, and it &yikhat federal and state legislatures and h
agencies will continue to focus on health carerrefm the future. The Patient Protection and Affsl Care Act (“PPACA”) and the Health
Care and Education and Reconciliation Act of 2@#ich amends the PPACA (collectively, “the ACA”)ere signed into law in March 2010.
While the ACA may increase the number of patiert® Wwave insurance coverage for the Company's ptedmcl may otherwise increase drug
coverage, they also include provisions such asngmthers, the assessment of a pharmaceutical aotdr fee, the requirement that
manufacturers provide discounts to Medicare beizefes through the Medicare Coverage Gap Discortotdram, and an increase in the
amount of rebates that manufacturers pay for cgeeoh their drugs by Medicaid programs.

The cost-containment measures that governmentgrogyand healthcare insurers are instituting bothrasult of general cost
pressure in the industry and healthcare reformsaguad in the ACA may prevent the Company from rtaiming prices for its products that
sufficient for the Company to realize profits andynotherwise significantly harm its business, fitiahcondition and operating results. In
addition, to the extent that the Company's apprareducts are marketed outside of the United St&tesign government pricing controls and
other regulations may prevent the Company from taaiing prices for such products that are suffitfenthe Company to realize profits and
may otherwise significantly harm its business, fiicial condition and operating results.
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The Company is unable to predict the future coofdederal or state healthcare legislation. The AW further changes in the law
regulatory framework that reduce the Company’s mees or increase its costs could have a matenarae effect on its business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

The Company is subject to federal, state and Ideals and regulations, and complying with these n@use the Company to incur
significant additional costs

The pharmaceutical industry is subject to regutelip various federal authorities, including priradip the FDA and, to a lesser extent, the
DEA, and state governmental authorities. Federdicantain state statutes and regulations goveimflaence the testing, manufacturing,
packing, labeling, storing, record keeping, safapproval, advertising, promotion, sale and distidn of the Company’s products.
Noncompliance with applicable legal and regulat@guirements can have a broad range of conseqyenciesling warning letters, fine
seizure of products, product recalls, total oriphstuspension of production and distribution, sefito approve NDAs or other applications or
revocation of approvals previously granted, withelthof product from marketing, injunction, withdraliof licenses or registrations necessary
to conduct business, disqualification from suppnteacts with the government, civil penalties, detent and criminal prosecution.

The Company’s research, product development andifaeturing activities have involved the controliesk of hazardous materials, and
the Company may incur significant costs as a redutie need to comply with numerous laws and r@ipris. The Company is subject to laws
and regulations enforced by the FDA, the DEA, ati@ioregulatory statutes including the Occupati@stety and Health Act (“OSHA"), the
Environmental Protection Act, the Toxic SubstanCestrol Act, the Resource Conservation and Recoketyand other current and potential
federal, state, local and foreign laws and regofetigoverning the use, manufacture, storage, hmandhd disposal of the Company’s products
materials used to develop and manufacture suctuptedand resulting waste products. For exampltaioeof the Company’s products,
including EEMT, must be manufactured in a fully tained environment due to their potency and/orditi and compliance with related
OSHA requirements is costly.

The Company cannot completely eliminate the riskaftamination or injury, by accident or as theutesf intentional acts, from these
materials. In the event of an accident, the Compmanyd be held liable for any damages that reaunld, any resulting liability could exceed its
resources. The Company may also be required to significant costs to comply with environmentaliaand regulations in the future. The
Company is also subject to laws generally applieéblbusinesses, including but not limited to, faflestate and local regulations relating to
wage and hour matters, employee classification dai@my healthcare benefits, unlawful workplace dismation and whistle-blowing. Any
actual or alleged failure to comply with any rediga applicable to its business or any whidilewing claim, even if without merit, could res
in costly litigation, regulatory action or othergifarm the Company’s business, results of opemtiorancial condition, cash flow and future
prospects.

If third-party payers deny coverage, substitute #mer company’s generic product for the Company’sopluct, or offer inadequate levels
of reimbursement, the Company may not be able takeaits products effectively or it may be requiréal offer its products at prices lower
than anticipated.

Third-party payers increasingly are challengingphiees charged for medical products and servieesexample, third-party payers
may deny coverage, choose to provide coverage domgpetitor's bioequivalent product rather than@wnpanys product, or offer inadeque
levels of reimbursement if they determine thatespribed product has not received appropriate aeas from the FDA, or foreign equivalent,
or other government regulators, is not used in @zotce with cost-effective treatment methods asrdened by the third-party payer, or is
experimental, unnecessary or inappropriate. Patsscould be driven down by health maintenancartegtions that control or significantly
influence purchases of healthcare services anduptedif third-party payers deny coverage or oifi@dequate levels of reimbursement, the
Company may not be able to market its productsbfely or it may be required to offer its produetsprices lower than anticipated.
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The Company relies significantly on information thnology and any failure, inadequacy, interruptiorr @ecurity lapse of that
technology, including any cybersecurity incidentquld harm management’s ability to operate the messs effectively.

The Company relies significantly on its informati@ehnology and manufacturing infrastructure teetffely manage and maintain
inventory and financial reports, to manufacture ghigh products to customers and to invoice themtimely manner. Any failure, accidents,
inadequacy, or interruption of that infrastructaresecurity lapse of that technology, includingesgecurity incidents, could harm
management’s ability to operate the business @ffdgt Management'’s ability to manage and maintairentory and financial reports, to
manufacture and ship products to customers anddetbem timely depends significantly on the Conmyageneral ledger, its contracted
electronic data interface system, and other inféionasystems. Cybersecurity attacks in particufarevolving and include, but are not limited
to, malicious software, attempts to gain unautteatiaccess to data and other electronic securigchess that could lead to disruptions in
systems, misappropriation of confidential or othiseaprotected information and corruption of datgb€& security incidents resulting in the
failure of the Company’s general ledger, its cortird electronic data interface system, and otHernmation systems to operate effectively or
to integrate with other systems, or a breach inisggcor other unauthorized access of these systerag affect managemeatability to manac
and maintain inventory and financial reports, agslit in delays in product fulfillment and reduedticiency of operations. A breach in
security, unauthorized access resulting in misgppaton, theft, or sabotage with respect to prejay and confidential information, including
research or clinical data could require significeegpital investments to remediate any such failpreblem or breach, all of which could
adversely affect the Company’s business, finaro@alition and results of operations.

After completion of the June 19, 2013 merger of Biante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“BioSante”) and ANIP dquisition Company (the
“Merger”), the Company possesses not only all oéthssets but also all of the liabilities of bothd8ante and ANIP Acquisition Company.
Discovery of previously undisclosed or unknown lifies could have an adverse effect on the Comg’s business, operating results and
financial condition.

Acquisitions involve risks, including inaccuratesassment of undisclosed, contingent or other itegsilor problems. After completion of
the Merger, the Company possesses not only dfleassets, but also all of the liabilities of bBthSante and ANIP Acquisition Company.
Although BioSante conducted a due diligence ingasion of ANIP Acquisition Company and its knowrdgrotential liabilities and
obligations, and ANIP Acquisition Company conducsedue diligence investigation of BioSante andkitswn and potential liabilities and
obligations, it is possible that undisclosed, aogeint or other liabilities or problems may ariseatompletion of the merger, which could have
an adverse effect on the combined company’s busioggrating results and financial condition.

A substantial number of shares of the Company’s aoon stock is held by former stockholders of ANIP dugsition Company and
management, including by persons and entities tha¢ not subject to legal restrictions on the resaeCompany common stock. As part of
the Merger, these shares were subject to a lapkperiod, which expired six months after the Mergd#f a substantial number of these shar
are sold, in particular over a short period of timié could adversely affect the market price of tB®mpany’s common stock.

Sales by significant stockholders of a substantimhber of shares of the Company’s common stockamtblic market, or the perception
that these sales could occur, could adversely tatiecmarket price of such shares and could mdlieiapair the Company’s ability to raise
capital through equity offerings in the future. Thempany is unable to predict what effect, if esyhstantial market sales of securities held b
significant stockholders, directors or officerstloé Company, or the availability of these secuwsifa future sale could have on the market
of the Company’s common stock.

The Company’s principal stockholders, directors amglecutive officers own a significant percentagetbé Company’s stock and will be
able to exercise significant influence over the Cpamy’s affairs.

The Company’s current principal stockholders, dsexand executive officers beneficially own appnoately 52.0% of the Company’s
outstanding capital stock entitled to vote as of&eber 31, 2013. As a result, these stockholdeasting together, would be able to influence
or control matters requiring approval by the Conmypastockholders, including the election of direstand the approval of mergers,
acquisitions or other extraordinary transactiorigylmay also have interests that differ from stobltérs generally and may vote in a way witt
which other stockholders disagree and which magdwerse to their interests. This concentrationvaiership may have the effect of delaying,
preventing or deterring a change of control of@mnpany, could deprive stockholders of an oppotyuni receive a premium for their
common stock as part of a sale of the Companypagtt ultimately affect the market price of the Gmany’s common stock.
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Raising additional funds by issuing additional equisecurities may cause dilution to existing stochtters. Raising additional funds by
issuing new debt financing may restrict the Compangperations.

The Company may seek to raise additional fundsutitidhe issuance of additional equity or equitkdid securities. If the Company were
to raise funds through the issuance of additiogaltg or equity-linked securities, the percentagamership of its stockholders could be diluted
potentially significantly, and these newly issuedwgities may have rights, preferences or priviieggnior to those of its existing stockholders.
In addition, the issuance of any equity securitiesld be at a discount to the then-prevailing mepkiee.

If the Company requires new debt financing, thened assurance that such a transaction will béadblaion terms acceptable to the
Company, or at all. In addition, the Company cdugdsubject to onerous repayment terms or covetltaatsestrict its ability to operate its
business and make distributions to its stockhold&rese restrictive covenants may include linotadi on additional borrowing and specific
restrictions on the use of the Company’s assetwelisas prohibitions on the ability of the Companycreate liens, pay dividends, redeem its
stock or make investments. There is no assurdwatey equity or debt financing transaction wdldvailable on terms acceptable to the
Company, or at all.

The trading price of the Company’s common stock Heesen volatile, and an investment in the Compangtsnmon stock could decline
in value.

The price of the Company’s common stock has flueian the past, has increased significantly stheecompletion of the Merger, and is
likely to continue to fluctuate in the future. Téecurities of small capitalization, pharmaceut@ahpanies, including the Company, from
time-to- time experience significant price flucioat, often unrelated to the operating performarfdbese companies. In particular, the
market price of the Company’s common stock mayttiate significantly due to a variety of factors,npaf which are beyond the Company’s
control and that may not be related to its opeggpi@rformance, including, but not limited to:

. general stock market and general economic condifiothe United States and abroad, even if nottjyreelated to the Company
its business

. any inability to manufacture EEMT, whether due A-determinations or otherwise;
. disruptions in the supply of API and other ingredigeused in the Company’s current and planned ptedu

. actual or anticipated governmental agency actimetyding in particular decisions or actions by FeA or FDA advisory
committee panels with respect to the Comy's current products, products in development, azdtapetitor’ products;

. changes in anticipated or actual timing of the Canyfs product development programs;

. competition in the Company’s industry;

. the Company entering into new strategic partneaimgngements or termination of existing strategitnering arrangements;
. public concern as to the safety or efficacy of @mempany’s products;

. the Company'’s need and ability to obtain additidimencing;
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. changes in laws or regulations applicable to the@any’s products or business;

. period-to-period fluctuations in the Company’s fical results;

. changes in key management;

. sales of shares of the Company's common stockeb@timpany or its stockholders;

. failure of securities analysts to initiate and ntaiim coverage of the Company and, with respechyoamalyst coverage, the
Company's failure to meet analyst estimates oeMpectations of investor

. announcements by the Company or its competitonewf products or services;

. the public’s reaction to the Company's press relgasther public announcements and filings withSEE;

. rumors and market speculation involving the Compamngther companies in the Company’s business;

. actual or anticipated changes in the Company'satipgrresults or fluctuations in its operating ftesu

. actual or anticipated developments in the Compdnysiness, its competitors’ businesses or the ctitivedandscape generally;

. litigation involving the Company, its industry ooth, or investigations by regulators into the Compsoperations or those of its
competitors

. announced or completed acquisitions of businesspsoducts by the Company or its competitors;

. new laws or regulations or new interpretationsxa$ting laws or regulations applicable to the Compsibusiness;
. changes in accounting standards, policies, guieglimterpretations or principles; and

. slow or negative growth of the Company's productmarkets.

In addition, the occurrence of any of the riskscdiéed in this report or in subsequent reportsGbenpany files with or submits to the SEC
from time to time could have a material and advergect on the market price of the Company’s comisiock. Securities class action
litigation is sometimes brought against a companhpWing periods of volatility in the market pricé its securities or for other reasons. The
Company currently is subject to such litigatiorec@rities litigation, whether with or without meritould result in substantial costs and divert

management’s attention and resources, which carah the Company’s business and financial conditsnyell as the market price of the
Company’s common stock.
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If shareholder approval is received to increase tmember of shares available for issuance under tBempany’sAmended and Restate
2008 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2008 Plan”, could increase dilution for shareholders and tf@ompany could incur significant expense
accounting for stock-based compensation granted enthe 2008 Plan.

On July 12, 2013, the Company’s Board of Direcagproved grants of stock options to employeesudioh certain executive officers,
under the 2008 Plan, subject to shareholder appoda increase in the total shares availablésfsmance under the 2008 Plan, which the
Company intends to seek at its next annual me@tig@14. As of December 31, 2013, the Company madtg of 325 thousand common stock
options outstanding pending shareholder approves& grants were approved by the board on Jul2QlB, but expense related to these stoc
options will begin to be recognized only upon shatder approval. While stock compensation expess®i material for the year ended
December 31, 2013, if shareholders approve theaserin the total shares available for issuancerithd 2008 Plan and the previously-
approved stock options are issued, the stock cosagpien expense would be significantly greater drahges to the estimates involved in the
calculation of stock compensation expense coul@ laamaterial effect on the Company’s consolidaiteahicial statements. Based on stock
price information at December 31, 2013, if the @&ge in total shares available for issuance uhée2@08 Plan had been approved on
December 31, 2013 and these options had been issugfddecember 31, 2013, there would have beerxippately $5.0 million of expense
related to these options, to be expensed oveethainder of the four year service period. Howelbecause the stock compensation expense
will be calculated based on the stock price asiefdate of approval by the shareholders, the aewpEnse could be materially higher or lower
depending on the Company'’s stock price as of tatg.d~urthermore, if additional grants are madesutite 2008 Plan, the Company could
incur significant expense related to stock-basedpamsation in future periods, and shareholdersddind their holdings diluted by the
increase in shares.

Continuing studies of the Company’s products coutsbult in a negative result, which could requirestiontinuance of product
marketing, or other risk management programs.

Continuing studies of the proper utilization, spfahd efficacy of pharmaceutical products are bemgducted by the industry, governm
agencies and others. Such studies, which incrdgisngploy sophisticated methods and techniquescaliinto question the utilization, safety
and efficacy of previously marketed products, idahg those produced by the Company. In some casaties have resulted, and in the future
may result, in the discontinuance of product mamnkedr other risk management programs such asdbd for a patient registry. These
situations, should they occur with respect to amgpcts of the Company, could have a material adveffect on the Company's profitability,
business, financial position and results of opersti

Uncertainties associated with the impact of publeshstudies regarding the adverse health effectsetain forms of hormone therapy
could affect adversely the market for the Companiiamone products.

The market for hormone therapy products has bdentafl negatively by the Women's Health Initiatf\/HI") study and other studies
that have found that the overall health risks fittm use of certain hormone therapy products magezkthe benefits from the use of those
products among postmenopausal women. In July 2882\ ational Institutes of Health (“NIH") releasddta from its WHI study on the risks
and benefits associated with long-term use of lowaione therapy by women. The NIH announced thaag discontinuing the arm of the
study investigating the use of oral estrogen/priige®mbination hormone therapy products afterarage follow-up period of 5.2 years
because the product used in the study was showawge an increase in the risk of invasive breasteraThe study also found an increased
of stroke, heart attacks and blood clots and caleduhat overall health risks exceeded benefits fuse of combined estrogen plus progestin
among postmenopausal women. Also, in July 2002teeef an observational study sponsored by théoNat Cancer Institute on the effects
estrogen therapy were announced. The main finditigeostudy was that postmenopausal women who estedgen therapy for 10 or more
years had a higher risk of developing ovarian cati@ women who never used hormone therapy. Inl2et2002, a significant hormo
therapy study being conducted in the United Kingddso was halted. In March 2004, the NIH annourthatithe estrogen-alone study was
discontinued after nearly seven years because ltHedhcluded that estrogen alone does not afféitteleincrease or decrease) heart disease,
the major question being evaluated in the stude. fifldings indicated a slightly increased risk wbke as well as a decreased risk of hip
fracture and breast cancer. Preliminary data fioemtemory portion of the WHI study suggested tktibgen alone may possibly be associ
with a slight increase in the risk of dementia @ldmognitive impairment.

Researchers continue to analyze data from both afithe WHI study and other studies. Some repodicate that the safety of estrogen
products may be affected by the age of the womaniteition of therapy. The markets for female homa therapies for menopausal symptoms
declined as a result of these published studies.rélease of any follow-up or other studies thaishdverse effects from hormone therapy,
including in particular, hormone therapies simt@the Company’s products, also could affect acdgrhe Company’s business.
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Provisions in the Company’s charter documents andl®wvare law could discourage or prevent a takeowaren if an acquisition would
be beneficial to the Company’s stockholders.

Provisions of the Companytzrtificate of incorporation and bylaws, as welbagvisions of Delaware law, could make it mordidifit for
a third party to acquire the Company, even if d@ogvould be beneficial to its stockholders. Thaswisions include:

. authorizing the issuance of “blank check” prefersbdres that could be issued by the Company’s hwfatulectors to increase the
number of outstanding shares and thwart a takesttempt;

. prohibiting cumulative voting in the election ofelitors, which would otherwise allow less than gomity of stockholders to elect
director candidate:

. advance notice provisions in connection with stadtter proposals and director nominations that mraygnt or hinder any attempt
by the Company'’s stockholders to bring busined®etoonsidered by its stockholders at a meetingmace its board of directors;
and

. as a Delaware corporation, the Company is alsastiby provisions of Delaware law, including SectD3 of the Delaware
General Corporation law, which prevents certaigldtolders holding more than 15% of the Companytstanding common stock
from engaging in certain business combinationsautlapproval of the holders of at least two-thinfl§s outstanding common
stock not held by such 15% or greater stockho

Any provision of the Company's certificate of ingoration and bylaws or Delaware law that has thecebf delaying, preventing or
deterring a change in control could limit the oppoity for the Company's stockholders to receiygeanium for their shares of the Company's
common stock, and could also affect the price $bate investors are willing to pay for its commauckt
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2. Properties

The Company’s corporate offices are located atMah Street West, Baudette, Minnesota 56623. Thagamy-owned facility includes
oral solid dose and liquid manufacturing and patiggvarehouse facilities, analytical, stabilitydamicrobiological laboratory space, and
employee, office and mechanical space. The Compksayowns a manufacturing facility that includeal @olid dose manufacturing and
packaging for pharmaceutical products that mushbeufactured in a fully contained environment, \hatese facilities, and employee, office
and mechanical space. This facility is also locateBaudette, Minnesota.

The Company has leased office space for its firdigadquarters in Wilmington, Delaware. The lasileexpire in September 2018. The
Company also leases office space in Laguna Beaadtipfia for an executive office. This lease veiltpire in February 2016.

Management considers its leased and owned propetitable and adequate for its current and foedsdeaeeds.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings
A discussion of legal matters as of December 313Z6llows:
Shareholder Class Action and Derivative Lawsu

On February 3, 2012, a purported class action lawss filed in the United States District Court fbe Northern District of lllinois under
the caption Thomas Lauria, on behalf of himself alhdthers similarly situated v. BioSante Pharnudicals, Inc. and Stephen M. Simes
naming the Company and its former President anéf@&hecutive Officer, Stephen M. Simes, as defeteddrhe complaint alleges that certain
of the Company’s disclosures relating to the efficaf LibiGel® and its commercial potential were false and/or @eaiding and that such false
and/or misleading statements had the effect di@atiy inflating the price of the Company’s settigs resulting in violations of Section 10(b)
of the Exchange Act, Rule 10b-5 and Section 20{#)@Exchange Act.

Although a substantially similar complaint wasdile the same court on February 21, 2012, such @mpvas voluntarily dismissed by
the plaintiff in April 2012. The plaintiff soughttrepresent a class of persons who purchased timp&ty’'s securities between February 12,
2010 and December 15, 2011, and sought unspecifiegpensatory damages, equitable and/or injuncéiefy and reasonable costs, expert
fees and attorney$tes on behalf of such purchasers. On Novembed1,2he plaintiff filed a consolidated amended ptaimt. On Decembe
28, 2012, the Company and Mr. Simes filed motiandismiss the consolidated amended complaint. QieSder 11, 2013, the lllinois distr
court judge granted defendants’ motions to disnvigthout prejudice, and gave plaintiffs 28 daydilwan amended complaint. The plaintiffs
did not file an amended complaint and the mattertie®en concluded.

On May 7, 2012, Jerome W. Weinstein, a purportedkstolder of the Company, filed a shareholder @eire action in the United States
District Court for the Northern District of lllinsiunder the caption Weinstein v. BioSante Pharnmaeds, Inc. et al., naming the Company’s
directors as defendants and the Company as a nbdefeandant. A substantially similar complaint wiked in the same court on May 22, 2012
and another substantially similar complaint waadfiin the Circuit Court for Cook County, IllinoiSpunty Department, Chancery Division, on
June 27, 2012. The suits generally related todngesevents that are the subject of the class ddigation described above. The complaints
allege breaches of fiduciary duty, abuse of congmiss mismanagement and unjust enrichment aggafigiction occurring from at least
February 2010 through December 2011. The complagek unspecified damages, punitive damages, @odtdisbursements and unspecified
reform and improvements in the Company’s corpogaternance and internal control procedures.

On September 24, 2012, the United States DistactrCconsolidated the two shareholder derivativaesdefore it and on November 20,
2012, the plaintiffs filed their consolidated amedatomplaint. On January 11, 2013, the defenddatsd motion to dismiss the amended
complaint. On September 11, 2013, the lllinoisrdistourt judge granted defendantsbtions to dismiss, without prejudice, and gavénpiiés
28 days to file an amended complaint. The plfigtiid not file an amended complaint and the @istourt matter has been concluded.

On November 27, 2012, the plaintiff in the shardkolderivative action pending in lllinois state ddiled an amended complaint. On
January 18, 2013, the defendants filed a motiatigmiss the amended complaint. On July 1, 2013llliheis state court judge granted
defendants’ motions to dismiss, without prejudaneg gave plaintiffs until July 31, 2013 to file amended complaint. On September 9, 201:
the lllinois state court judge granted defendamtstion to dismiss, with prejudice. On October 912the plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal to
lllinois state appellate court. The Company belgethe state court complaint is without merit antl eantinue to defend the action vigorously.

Management is unable to predict the outcome ofeh®ining lawsuit and the possible loss or randes, if any, associated with its
resolution or any potential effect the lawsuit naye on the Company’s operations. Depending ooubeme or resolution of the remaining
lawsuit, it could have a material effect on the @amy’s operations, including its financial conditjsesults of operations, or cash flows. No
amounts have been accrued related to this legahaas of December 31, 2013.
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Louisiana Medicaid Lawsui

On September 11, 2013, the Attorney General oftate of Louisiana filed a lawsuit in Louisianatsteourt against the Company and
numerous other pharmaceutical companies, undesusstate laws, alleging that each defendant cathsestate’s Medicaid agency to provide
reimbursement for drug products that allegedly wereapproved by the FDA and therefore allegedlyramnbursable under the federal
Medicaid program. The lawsuit relates to three toaigd cold prescription products manufactured atditsy the Company’s former Gulfport,
Mississippi operation, which was sold in Septen#@0. Through its lawsuit, the state seeks ungpéaifamages, statutory fines, penalties,
attorney’s fees and costs. On October 15, 2013J¢fendants removed the lawsuit to the U.S. Dis€@murt. On November 14, 2013, the state
filed a motion to remand the lawsuit to the Louisisstate court. While the Company cannot predebtiitcome of the lawsuit at this time, it
could be subject to material damages, penaltiediaes. The Company intends to vigorously defenairegs all claims in the lawsuit.

Other Commitments and Contingencies

All manufacturers of the drug Regl8mnd its generic equivalent metoclopramide, inclgdire Company, are facing allegations from
plaintiffs in various states claiming bodily injas as a result of ingestion of metoclopramidesobiind name Regl&tprior to the FDA's
February 2009 Black Box warning requirement. Thenfany has been named and served in 85 separatéatmisdncluding three in
Pennsylvania, nine in New Jersey, and 73 in Califgrcovering 2,934 plaintiffs in total. In Augu&@12, the Company was dismissed with
prejudice from all New Jersey cases. Managemerdiders the Compang’exposure to this litigation to be limited duesaveral factors: (1) tl
only generic metoclopramide manufactured by the gamy prior to the implementation of the FDA's wamhrequirement was an oral solution
introduced after May 28, 2008; (2) the Company’skatashare for the oral solution was a very smaitipn of the overall metoclopramide
market; and (3) once the Company received a redoieshange of labeling from the FDA, it submitiésiproposed changes within 30 days,
and such changes were subsequently approved IRDBeAt the present time, management is unablessess the likely outcome of the
remaining cases. The Company’s insurance compangd$smmed the defense of this matter. In additi@enCompany’s insurance company
renewed the Company’s product liability insuranoeSeptember 1, 2012 and 2013 with absolute exaladir claims related to Regl&mand
metoclopramide. Management is unable to predicotlieome of these matters and the possible lossnge of loss, if any, associated with
their resolution or any potential effect the legation may have on the Company’s operations. Fintbee, management cannot provide
assurances that the outcome of these mattersatilave an adverse effect on its business, resiuttgerations, financial condition, and cash
flow. Like all pharmaceutical manufacturers, ther@any in the future may be exposed to other prolitwtity claims, which could harm its
business, results of operations, financial conditind cash flow.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Skbwlder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities

Market Information

The Company’s common stock trades on the NASDAG&IMarket under the symbol “ANIP.” The followingtile shows the high and low
sales price for ANIP common stock as reported ByNASDAQ Global Market for each quarter in the yeanded December 31, 2013 and
2012, as adjusted for the one-for-six reverse s$pdiks that occurred on June 4, 2012 and July2QT3:

Common Stock Price

2013 2012
High Low High Low
First Quartel $ 9.48 $ 6.60 $ 4428 $ 15.84
Second Quarte $ 8.64 $ 480 $ 27.36 $ 12.00
Third Quartel $ 9.94 $ 546 $ 15.72 $ 7.26
Fourth Quarte $ 23.00 $ 9.75 $ 11.82 $ 6.48

Stockholder Information

As of February 14, 2014, there were approximat8ly €hareholders of record of the Company’s comniaecksas well as approximately 22
thousand beneficial shareholders, and six holdersoord of Class C stock.

Dividends

The Company has not paid cash dividends in thesyeradled December 31, 2013 and 2012. The Compasyndbd@nticipate paying cash
dividends in the near term.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities and UseRrbceeds from Registered Securities
None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None.

Performance Graph

Not required due to Smaller Reporting Company st

Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

Not required due to Smaller Reporting Company st
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis ofirancial Condition and Results of Operations

Please read the following discussion in conjunctioth Item 1A. “Risk Factors”) and the Company's audited consolidated financetieshent
included elsewhere in this annual report. Somdefstatements in the following discussion are fodAlaoking statements. See the discussion
about forward-looking statements in Item 1. (“Buesig”).

Overview

ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) is ategrated specialty pharmaceutical company devaippnanufacturing, and marketing
branded and generic prescription pharmaceutichls.Jompany's targeted areas of product developooergntly include narcotics, oncolytics
(anti-cancers), hormones and steroids, and confptexulations involving extended release and contimngoroducts. The Company has two
pharmaceutical manufacturing facilities locate@audette, Minnesota that are capable of produciabsolid dose products, as well as liquids
and topicals, narcotics, and potent products thedtine manufactured in a fully-contained environin€he Company's strategy is to continue
to use these manufacturing assets to develop, peodnd distribute niche generic pharmaceuticadyxts.

On June 19, 2013, BioSante Pharmaceuticals, IBio$ante”) acquired ANIP Acquisition Company (“AN)Rn an all-stock, tax-free
reorganization (the “Merger”), in which ANIP becamevholly-owned subsidiary of BioSante. BioSantes wabsequently renamed ANI
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. The Merger was accounteds@ reverse acquisition pursuant to which ANIP eaassidered the acquiring entity for
accounting purposes. As such, ANIP's historicallteof operations replace BioSante's historicalilts of operations for all periods prior to
Merger. The results of operations of both compaaresncluded in the Company’s consolidated finainsiatements for all periods after
completion of the Merger.

Recent Developments

The Company's strategy is to use its assets tdajfeaad acquire, manufacture, and market brandddyaneric specialty prescription
pharmaceuticals. By developing and acquiring célsefonsidered prescription pharmaceutical produttanagement believes the Company
will be able to continue to grow its business, expand diversify its product portfolio, and crektieg-term value for its investors.

In August 2013, the Company entered into an agraemi¢h Sofgen to develop an oral soft gel pred@mipproduct indicated for
cardiovascular health. The product will be subjean abbreviated new drug application (*“ANDA”")riij once developed. Sofgen will be
responsible for the development, manufacturingragdlatory submission of the product, includinggamation of the ANDA, and the
Company will be responsible for the marketing arsdrithution of the product in the U.S.

In December 2013, the Company entered into an aggeeto acquire the ANDAs for 31 previously markiegeneric drug products from
Teva Pharmaceuticals for $12.5 million in cash amercentage of future gross profits from prodatts An initial payment of $8.5 million
was paid on January 2, 2014, and the balance &ilidid upon receipt of hard copy materials, whesteipt shall not exceed ninety (90) days
from the date of agreement. The acquisition, wiiiehCompany accounted for as an asset acquisiticdmded 20 solid-oral immediate release
products, four extended release products, and diped products. All of the products have beenviasly approved by U.S. Food and Drug
Administration (“FDA”") as ANDAs.
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General

The following table sets forth, for the periodsigaded, the percentage that items in the Compatorisolidated statements of operations
bear to net revenues.

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Net revenue 100.0% 100.0%
Operating expenst
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amatitin) 33.2% 45.0%
Research and developme 5.7% 57%
Selling, general and administrati 54.5% 46.7 %
Depreciation and amortizatic 3.6 % 2.8%
Operating income (loss) from continuing operati 3.0% (0.2%
Interest expens 1.6% 6.5%
Other expens 1.0% 1.2%
Net income (loss) from continuing operatic 0.4 % (7.7%
Gain on discontinued operati 0.6 % 0.3%
Net income (loss 1.004 (7. 4)%

The following table summarizes the Company's resaflbperations for the years ended December 313 aAd 2012.

Years Ended December 31

(in thousands 2013 2012
Net revenue $ 30,082 $ 20,371
Operating expens¢
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and arnatitin) 9,974 9,167
Research and developme 1,712 1,158
Selling, general and administrati 16,388 9,521
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,110 567
Operating income (loss) from continuing operati 898 (42)
Interest expens 467 1,327
Other expens 305 241
Net Income/(Loss) from Continuing Operatic
Before (Provision) Benefit for Income Tax 126 (1,610
(Provision) benefit for income tax (20 36
Net income (loss) from continuing operatic 106 (1,574
Gain on discontinued operati 195 68
Net income (loss $ 301 $ (1,506
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Results of Operations for the Years Ended Decemb&1, 2013 and 2012

Net Revenue

(in thousands Years Ended December 31
%
2013 2012 Change Change
Generic pharmaceutical produ $ 19,281 $ 10,157 $ 9,124 89.8%
Branded pharmaceutical produ 3,370 1,829 1,541 84.3%
Contract manufacturin 6,018 7,557 (1,539 (20.4%
Contract services and other inco 1,413 828 585 70.7 %
Total net revenue $ 30,082 $ 20,371 $ 9,711 47.7 %

The Company has historically derived substantiallyf its revenues from sales of generic and bedngharmaceutical products, contract
manufacturing, and contract services, which inclpaluct development services, laboratory serviaed,royalties on net sales of certain
contract manufactured products. Revenue for thegreded December 31, 2013 was $30.1 million contpr&20.4 million for 2012.

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013 sede$0.7 million, or 47.7%, compared to 2012, pritpas a result of the following
factors:

. Net revenues for generic pharmaceutical productse %£9.3 million in the year ended December 3132@h increase of 89.8
compared to $10.2 million for 2012. A primary reasor the $9.1 million increase was an $8.1 millinarease in revenue
related to Esterified Estrogen with Methyltestoster tablets (‘EEMT”), which was the result of ingses in both market share
and prices per bottle, due to a significant de@éasompetition, beginning in the third quarteR6f.3, which the Company
cannot be certain will continue. For the year endedember 31, 2013, EEMT comprised 33% of the Coiyiganet sales, a
substantial increase over the prior year whereiMEEomprised only 9% of the Company’s net salegshinthird quarter of
2013, a significant competitor stopped producindvHEwhich led to a material increase in the Compamyarket share for the
product and enabled the Company to significanttygase the price it charges for the product. Meiaskare gains on Opium
Tincture and Fluvoxamine Maleate tablets also d¢outed to increased generic product reven

As discussed further under Item 1. BusineG®wernment Regulations3napproved Products, the Company markets EEM1
Opium Tincture without FDA-approved NDAs or ANDABhe FDA's policy with respect to the continued nedirkg of
unapproved products appears in the FDA's Septegtiddr Compliance Policy Guide Sec. 440.100 titlecitkéted New Drugs
without Approved NDAs or ANDAs." Under this policthe FDA has stated that it will follow a risk-bds@pproach with regard
to enforcement against marketing of unapprovedymrtsd The FDA evaluates whether to initiate enforeet action on a case-
by-case basis, but gives higher priority to enforeat action against products in certain categosiesh as those with potential
safety risks or that lack evidence of effectiven&ghile the Company believes that, so long asntgiges with applicable
manufacturing and labeling standards, the FDA mall take action against it under the current efiorent policy, it can offer no
assurances that the FDA will continue this policyot take a contrary position with any individypabduct or group of products.
The Company's combined net revenues for these gioér the years ended December 31, 2013 and ®@1&2$14.6 million
and $6.0 million, respectivel
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. Net revenues for branded pharmaceutical products $&4 million in the year ended December 31, 2@h3ncrease of 84.3'
compared to $1.8 million for the same period in20The primary reason for the increase was highitrsales of Reglafi
tablets. Higher unit sales of Cortene® contributed to the increase to a lesser ex

. Contract manufacturing revenues were $6.0 millmmtlie year ended December 31 2013, a decrease48foZrom $7.6 million
for 2012, due to decreased orders from contracufaaturing customers during the 2013 period. Omeigrof products that the
Company manufactures on behalf of a contract custasrmarketed by that customer without an FDA-aped NDA. If the
FDA took enforcement action against such custothercustomer may be required to seek FDA apprarahe group of
products or withdraw them from the market. The Canys contract manufacturing revenue for the gafumapproved
products for the years ended December 31, 2012@h# was $2.0 million and $1.4 million, respectyvt

. Contract services and other income were $1.4 mifiay the year ended December 31, 2013, an inciefasd@. 7% from
approximately $0.8 million for 2012, due to a $thBlion non-recurring payment from Teva in relatimthe Teva license
agreement acquired in the Merger. The Companyveseabyalties on the net sales of a group of cottranufactured products,
which are marketed by the contract customer witlhouEDA-approved NDA. If the FDA took enforcemeantian against such
customer, the customer may be required to seek &fiphoval for the group of products or withdraw thigam the market. The
Company’s royalties on the net sales of these unapg products for the years ended December 3B and 2012 were $330
thousand and $284 thousand, respecti\

Cost of Sales (Exclusive of Depreciation and Amaetiion)

(in thousands Years Ended December 31
%
2013 2012 Change Change
Cost of sales (excl. depreciation and amortizal $ 9,974 $ 9,167 $ 807 8.8%

Cost of sales consists of direct labor, includirgnofacturing and packaging, active and inactiverphaeutical ingredients, freight costs,
and packaging components. Cost of sales does clatmdepreciation and amortization expense, wisicaported as a separate component o
operating expenses on the Company's consolidadezhstnts of operations.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, cost of salesased to $10.0 million from $9.2 million fod22, an increase of $0.8 million or
8.8%, primarily as a result of an increase in safageneric and branded pharmaceutical products.

Cost of sales as a percentage of net revenuesasecréo 33.2% during the year ended December 3B, f20m 45.0% for 2012, primarily
as a result of a price increase for EEMT. SaldSEIT provided approximately 33% of total net revesubut only approximately 24% of cost
of sales in 2013. In addition, the Company expegeindecreases in the costs of raw materials faroikhmine Maleate tablets and EEMT,
which were the result of establishing long-termpy@greements with vendors.

The Company sources the raw materials for its prtsincluding active pharmaceutical ingredienR|”), from both domestic and
international suppliers. As discussed in Item 1siBess — Manufacturing, Suppliers and Raw Materiady a single source of APl is gener:
qualified for use in each product due to the caststime required to validate a second source mblguChanges in API suppliers usually must
be approved by the FDA, which can take 18 montHerager. As a result, the Company is dependent ifgamurrent vendors to supply reliably
the API required for ongoing product manufacturilmgaddition, certain of the Company’s API for drug products, including those that are
marketed without approved NDAs or ANDAs, are sodrftem international suppliers. From time to tirhe Company has experienced
temporary disruptions in the supply of certain wéts imported API due to FDA inspections.
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During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coynparchased approximately 37% of total costs cdsédom three suppliers. As of

December 31, 2013, amounts payable to these stpplas immaterial.

The Company has supply agreements with two vertlatsnclude purchase minimums. Pursuant to thgsseanents, the Company will

be required to purchase a total of $2.2 millio’\&1 from these two vendors in the year ended Deeer@lb, 2014.

Other Operating Expenses

(in thousands Years Ended December 31
%
2013 2012 Change Change
Research and developme $ 1,712 $ 1,158 $ 554 47.8%
Selling, general and administrati 16,388 9,521 6,867 72.1%
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,110 567 543 95.8 %
Total other operating expens $ 19,210 $ 11,246 $ 7,964 70.8 o

Other operating expenses consist of research aredagenent costs, selling, general and administeagxpenses, and depreciation and
amortization. For year ended December 31, 201&ratherating expenses increased to $19.2 milliom11.2 million for the same period in

2012, an increase of $8.0 million, or 70.8%, prifyaas a result of the following factors:

. Research and development expenses increased fr@mdilion in 2012 to $1.7 million in 2013, dueitccreased expenses
incurred with respect to the RiconPharma and Soégdiaborative arrangements. The Company anticipidat research and

development costs will continue to increase basethe Compar’s strategy to expand its product portfo

. Selling, general and administrative expenses ise&om $9.5 million in 2012 to $16.4 million i023, primarily as a result of
$6.2 million of expenses incurred relating to therlyer, including $4.5 million of non-cash transactbonuses paid to the
Company’s executives upon completion of the Merlzeaddition, one-time bonuses paid to certainceffs after completion of

the merger and increases in personnel contribotétetincrease in expen:

. Depreciation and amortization increased from $0l6am in 2012 to $1.1 million in 2013, an increask95.8%, due to
amortization of the Teva license acquired in thedéde The Teva license is being amortized ovezstimated useful life of 11

years.

The Company expects other operating expenses tmuaerio increase in the future to support antiggdadditional revenue growth, as

well as from anticipated additional research aratipct development costs.
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Other Expenses

(in thousands Years Ended December 31
2013 2012 Change % Change
Interest expens $ 467 $ 1,327 $ (860; (64.8%
Other expens 305 241 64 26.4 %
Total other expense $ 772 $ 1,568 $ (796, (50.8%

For the year ended December 31, 2013, other expeleseeased to $0.8 million from $1.6 million inl20a decrease of $0.8 million, or
50.8%, primarily as a result of the following fato

« Interest expense decreased from $1.3 million t6 $tillion. In June 2012, all of ANIP’s subordinatdebt was converted to Series D
convertible preferred stock. In addition, the Comppaid down its revolving line of credit in thecead quarter of 2013, in connection
with the Merger. The resulting reductions from bttt subordinated debt conversion and repaymethieafevolving line of credit

were partially offset by an early termination fewl accelerated amortization of deferred loan dostsrred upon repayment of the line
of credit.

« Other expense increased from $0.2 million to $0i8an as a result of payments totaling $0.4 miflito certain of the Company’s

investors for monitoring and advisory fees, pastiaffset by other income from the third quartesuking from the settling of several
aged liabilities

Gain on Discontinued Operation
(in thousands Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 Change % Change
Gain on discontinued operation, net of $ 195 $ 68 $ 127 187.6%

Gain on discontinued operation consists of revemgeexpenses associated with the Company’s overetieter pharmaceutical products
operation in Gulfport, Mississippi. This operatiwas sold in September 2010.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, gain onmlisee@d operation, net of $38 thousand of tax, thasesult of finalizing a portion of
the discontinued operatiamtemaining liabilities. For the year ended Decan®de 2012, gain on discontinued operation, n&i38 thousand ¢
tax, consisted of various vendor settlements.

41




Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table highlights selected liquiditpchworking capital information from the Companyimsolidated balance sheets.

(in thousands December 31
2013 2012
Cash and cash equivalel $ 11,105 $ 11
Accounts receivable, n 12,513 5,432
Inventories 3,518 2,810
Prepaid expenst 580 313
Total current asse $ 27,716 $ 8,566
Accounts payabl $ 1,429 $ 1,994
Accrued expense 1,326 927
Returned goods reser 736 411
Deferred revenu 47 315
Borrowing under line of cred - 4,065
Total current liabilities $ 3,538 $ 7,712

At December 31, 2013, the Company had approxim&®lyl million in cash and cash equivalents. Oudan2, 2014 the Company paid
$8.5 million to Teva Pharmaceuticals as the finstallment in a transaction in which the Comparguared ANDAs for 31 products for $12.5
million. The remaining $4 million will be paid frofunds stemming from operating cash flows. At Deben81, 2012, the Company had $11
thousand in cash and cash equivalents and unusddkalty of $0.9 million under its then-existirime of credit.

The Company believes that the combination of itsezut cash and cash equivalents and other finaresalurces, consisting of current
working capital and anticipated future operatingereue, will be sufficient to enable it to meetitsrking capital requirements for at least the
next 12 months. If the Company's assumptions upidgrestimated revenue and expenses prove to hegweo if its cash requirements change
materially as a result of shifts in its businesstoategy, the Company may require additional fiagn The Company does not currently have
any bank credit lines. If in the future the Compalgs not turn profitable or generate cash fromaifmns as anticipated and additional capita
is needed to support operations, management maydige to obtain such financing, or obtain it ovof@ble terms, in which case the
Company may be required to curtail developmentea? products, limit expansion of operations or atdi@ancing terms that are not as
attractive as desired.

The Company has never generated positive cash flowsoperations. To bridge the gap between reveane operating and capital
needs, the Company has, in the past, relied omietyaf financing sources, including the issuaotequity and equity-linked securities and
revolving lines of credit. The Company’s consol@tiafinancial statements have been prepared onisithas assumes that it will continue as a
going concern and which contemplates the realizaifcassets and the satisfaction of liabilities aachmitments in the normal course of
business. These statements do not include anytadjots that might result if the carrying amountexforded assets and liabilities are not
realized.

The Company's primary cash requirements are to dpedations, including research and developmemgraros and collaborations, to
support general and administrative activities, enfilind acquisitions of products or businesses.Cbpany's future capital requirements will
depend on many factors, including, but not limited

« proportions of net revenues comprised of contraatumfacturing and sales of the Company’s genericoaadded products;
« pricing and payment terms with customers;

42




« costs of raw materials and payment terms with Segml
« capital expenditures and equipment purchases fwosuproduct launches; and
« business and product acquisitions.

Consolidation among wholesale distributors, chairgdtores and group purchasing organizationsdssted in a smaller number of
companies each controlling a larger share of pheenitécal distribution channels. The Company's eeénues were concentrated among three
customers representing 27%, 18%, and 10% of nettas, respectively, during the year ended DeceBihe2013. As of December 31, 2013,
accounts receivable from these three customergtboépproximately 68% of the Company's net accorgusivable. As a result, negotiated
payment terms with these customers have a matenict on the Company's liquidity and working cabit

Two of the Company's generic pharmaceutical praduieEMT and Opium Tincture, account for approxiryaB8% and 16% of the
Company's net revenues in 2013, respectively, ge9%tiand 20% of net revenues in 2012, respectivaya result, market pricing for these
products, combined with the costs of raw mateaald payment terms with suppliers, have a matariphct on the Company's liquidity and
working capital. The increase in revenue relateBEMT has had a significant impact on the Compafigancial results and if revenues from
EEMT were to decrease substantially or entirelwatild have a material, negative impact on the Camgfs cash flows and liquidity.

Sources and Uses of Ca:
Debt Financing

At December 31, 2013, all of the Company’s previliss of credit had either expired or were remaid terminated, with no amounts
outstanding. In June 2012, the Company enterechim@w revolving loan agreement with a commerdaalkhin the amount of $5.0 million. As
of December 31, 2012, approximately $4.1 milliorsweatstanding under the loan agreement, at antefdoterest rate of 6.0%. The Comp
was not in compliance with certain covenants utidedoan agreement as of December 31, 2012. Thep@oyrobtained a waiver from its
lender, the loan covenants were revised, and traver loan limit was increased to $6 million. TBempany remained in compliance with the
revised covenants until the loan was repaid in A01eS.

At December 31, 2013, the Company had approxim&elyl million in cash and cash equivalents. Atémeber 31, 2012, the Company
had approximately $11 thousand in cash and cashkagats and unused availability under its lineedit of approximately $0.9 million.

Equity Financing

In December 2013, a warrant-holder exercised wesanpurchase approximately 90 thousand shai®$ pér share. The Company
received $0.8 million as a result of this exercise.

Uses of Cash

On January 2, 2014 the Company paid $8.5 milliohewa Pharmaceuticals as the first installmenttimasaction in which the Company
acquired ANDAs for 31 products for $12.5 million.
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Discussion of Cash Flow

The following table summarizes the net cash anH egsiivalents provided by (used in) operating &étis, investing activities and
financing activities for the periods indicated:

(in thousands Years ended December 31,
2013 2012
Operating Activities $ (5,484 $ (137,
Investing Activities $ 20,267 $ (292
Financing Activities $ (3,689 $ 440

Net Cash Used In/Provided By Operatic

Net cash used in operating activities was $5.5anilfor the year ended December 31, 2013 compar80.1. million during the same
period in 2012, an increase in the use of casib & Million between the periods. This increase éi#sto changes in current assets and currel
liabilities, partially offset by the change frornat loss in 2012 to net income in 2013. There w®6.8 million increase in cash provided in
2013 due to the Company's net income/(loss) fronticoing operations, after adjusting for noash expenses. $1.8 million of this increase
due to the change from a net loss in 2012 to metnme in 2013. In addition, increases in non-cagerses, primarily due to $4.4 million of
non-cash expenses related to the Merger and andilli&n increase in depreciation and amortizatiapense were partially offset by a $0.9
million decrease in non-cash interest relatingdoity-linked securities and loan cost amortization.

Increases in current assets and decreases in cliatglities (in each case a use of cash) fonjibar ended December 31, 2013 totaled
$11.4 million compared to $0.1 million for the saperiod in 2012, an increase of approximately $MilBon between the periods. Accounts
receivable and prepaid expenses increased by $ili@nand $0.1 million more in the years ended Bmber 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively,
than in the prior year periods. The increase irants receivable was due to increased sales ithitteand fourth quarters of 2013. Accrued
compensation and accounts payable decreased bynfita® and $1.4 million more in the years endegcBmber 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively, than in the prior year periods. Hinalccrued expenses increased by $0.2 milliontlesss it increased in the prior year.

Net Cash Provided by/Used in Investing Activi

Net cash provided by investing activities for tleayended December 31, 2013 was $20.3 millioncipafly due to $18.2 million of cash
acquired in the Merger and the release of $2.2amibf restricted cash held for severance paymeatsially offset by capital expenditures
during the period. Net cash used in investing &&iwas $0.3 million for the year ended Decen8ier2012 and related primarily to capital
expenditures.

Net Cash Used in/Provided by Financing Activi

Net cash used in financing activities was $3.7iamlfor the year ended December 31, 2013, resuftiimgarily from the $4.1 million
repayment in June 2013 of the Company'’s revolvimg of credit in connection with the Merger and4$illion of treasury stock repurchases,
partially offset by $0.8 million of proceeds reasiMfor a warrant exercised in December 2013. Ngh paovided by financing activities was
$0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 20dt#ch included $1.0 million in increased borrowingser ANI's revolving line of credit,
net of payment of debt issuance costs of $0.3anikind $0.3 million in note payable repayments.
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Critical Accounting Estimates

This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Firsu@@ondition and Results of Operations is basetherCompany’s consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepareddardance with accounting principles generally pteg in the United States of America
(“U.S. GAAP"). The preparation of financial statem®in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires managetitermake estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts eftsssd liabilities and disclosure of contingersieds and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amount of revenuesxgemhses during the reporting period. In the Comigaronsolidated financial statements,
estimates are used for, but not limited to, stbaked compensation, allowance for doubtful accoaestzuals for chargebacks, returns and «
allowances, allowance for inventory obsolescenaijation of derivative liabilities, accruals forntmgent liabilities, fair value of long-lived
assets, deferred taxes and valuation allowancethendepreciable lives of fixed assets.

On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates thésgaéss and assumptions, including those deschiemiv. The Company bases its
estimates on historical experience and on varitlusrassumptions that it believes to be reasonatier the circumstances. These estimates
and assumptions form the basis for making judgmaintsit the carrying values of assets and liakilitieat are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results could differ from thoséneates. Due to the estimation processes invoNedfdllowing summarized accounting
policies and their application are considered tafitecal to understanding the Company's businggsations, financial condition and results of
operations.

Revenue Recoghnitio

Revenue is recognized for product sales and cdntranufacturing product sales upon passing ofarsktitle to the customer, when
estimates of the selling price and discounts, eshatromotional adjustments, price adjustmentarmst chargebacks, and other potential
adjustments are reasonably determinable, collediogasonably assured, and the Company has refyéerformance obligations. Contract
manufacturing arrangements are typically less thanweeks in duration, and therefore the revenuedsgnized upon completion of the
aforementioned factors rather than using a propoatiperformance method of revenue recognition. 8dtenates for discounts, rebates,
promotional adjustments, price adjustments, retuainargebacks, and other potential adjustmentseedgross revenues to net revenues in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatintsare presented as current liabilities or rédastin accounts receivable in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets (seeUAlscior Chargebacks, Returns, and Other Allowdicesstorically, the Company has r
entered into revenue arrangements with multiplmelgs.

Occasionally, the Company engages in contractasyivhich include product development servicdmriaory services, and royalties on
net sales of certain contract manufactured prodécisthese services, revenue is recognized acgptdithe terms of the agreement with the
customer, which sometimes include substantive, arabte risk-based milestones, and when the Compasy contractual right to receive
such payment, the contract price is fixed or deilesivie, the collection of the resulting receivaisleeasonably assured, and the Company ha:s
no further performance obligations under the agezenThe Company recognized $1.4 million and $0I8am of revenue related to contract
services in 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The Company’s revenue recognition accounting medlogdes contain uncertainties because they requéneagement to make
assumptions and to apply judgment to estimatent@uat of discounts, rebates, promotional adjustmeprice adjustments, returns,
chargebacks, and other potential adjustments, vdrielaccounted for as reductions to revenue. Tésgaates are based on historical
experience.

The Company has not made any material changes tevienue recognition policies during the yearsdrdecember 31, 2013 and 2012.
Management believes it is unlikely that there Wwéla material change in the future estimates amastions used to measure estimates for
discounts, rebates, promotional adjustments, @lp@stments, returns, chargebacks, and other patadjustments. However, if actual results
were not consistent with management’s estimatesCtimpany could be exposed to losses or gainsdigd be material, as any changes to
these estimates could cause an increase or de@naasenue recognized during the year. For exanifpleere were a 10% change to these
adjustments throughout the year, Net Revenues anhthidome/(Loss) from Continuing Operations bef@evision)/Benefit for Income Tax
for the year ended December 31, 2013 would be teffidzy $3.3 million.
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Accruals for Chargebacks, Returns and Other Allowezas

The Company's generic and branded product revaregaypically subject to agreements with custonadlosving chargebacks, product
returns, administrative fees, and other rebategpampt payment discounts. The Company accruethése items at the time of sale based on
the estimates and methodologies described belothelaggregate, these accruals, reflected as aatgcto gross sales, exceed 60% of generi
and branded gross product sales, reduce grossuevém net revenues in the consolidated staternépfserations, and are presented as currel
liabilities or reductions in accounts receivablélia consolidated balance sheets. The Companync@atif monitors and re-evaluates the
accruals as additional information becomes avaglalhich includes, among other things, updatesattetinventory levels and customer
product mix. The Company makes adjustments toc¢hruals at the end of each reporting period, teceiny such updates to the relevant
facts and circumstances. Accruals are relieved uposipt of payment from or issuance of crediti ¢ustomer.

Chargebacks

As discussed in Note 1 of Item 8. Consolidated e Statements, the Company estimates the anodwhiargebacks based its actual
historical experience. A number of factors influe current period chargebacks by impacting theageeselling price (“ASP”) of products,
including customer mix, negotiated terms, prodad¢s mix, volume of off-contract purchases, andlegale acquisition cost (“WAC").

The Company has not made any material changes policy for estimating chargeback accruals dutivgyears ended December 31,
2013 and 2012. Management believes it is unliked there will be a material change in the futigingates or assumptions used to measure
chargeback estimates. However, if actual resultg wet consistent with management’s estimatesCtimapany could be exposed to losses or
gains that could be material, as changes to chaogedstimates could cause an increase or decreaseenue recognized during the year and
increase or decrease accounts receivable. If there a 10% change in the chargeback estimatesghoot the year, the Company’s net
earnings would be affected by $2.8 million for tfear ended December 31, 2013.

Returns

As discussed in Note 1 of Item 8. Consolidated e Statements, the Company's estimate for retigrbased upon its historical
experience with actual returns. While such expegdmas allowed for reasonable estimation in thg patory may not always be an accurate
indicator of future returns.

The Company has not made any material changes policy for estimating returns during the yeardeshDecember 31, 2013 and 2012.
Management believes it is unlikely that there Wwéla material change in the future estimates amastions used to measure estimates of g
returned. However, if actual results were not cetesit with management’s estimates, the Companyldmibxposed to losses or gains that
could be material, as changes to returns estincatdd cause an increase or decrease in revenugnieed during the year and decrease or
increase the returned goods reserve. If there wé&@% change in the returns estimates througheutehr, the Company’s net earnings would
be affected by $0.2 million for the year ended Deiger 31, 2013.

Administrative Fees and Other Rebs
As discussed in Note 1 of Item 8. Consolidated e Statements, the Company accrues for feesedbvades, by product by wholesaler,

at the time of sale based on contracted rates, Agfélson-hand inventory counts obtained from whadéss.
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The Company has not made any material changes policy for estimating administrative fee accrudlsing the years ended December
31, 2013 and 2012. Management believes it is ulylitket there will be a material change in the fatastimates or assumptions used to
measure estimates of administrative fees. Howdvactual results were not consistent with managefeestimates, the Company could be
exposed to losses or gains that could be matagalhanges to these estimates could cause anse@edecrease in revenue recognized durin
the year and increase or decrease accounts rekeilfahere were a 10% change in the administeatides estimates throughout the year, the
Company'’s net earnings would be affected by $0IRamifor the year ended December 31, 2013.

Prompt Payment Discoun

As discussed in Note 1 of Item 8. Consolidated i Statements, the Company reserves for sadesulits based on invoices
outstanding, assuming, based on past experieratel @% of available discounts will be taken.

The Company has not made any material changes policy for estimating prompt payment discountsraals during the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012. Management believed thainlikely that there will be a material clggnin the future estimates or assumption:
used to measure estimates of prompt payment disedéisustomers do not take 100% of available alisits as estimated by the Company, th
Company could need to re-adjust its methodology&culating the prompt payment discount reserfviere were a 10% decrease in the
prompt payment discounts estimates throughout ¢lae, yhe Company’s net earnings would increase0hy Sillion for the year ended
December 31, 2013.

Intangible Asset:

Intangible assets consist of rights to produce phaeutical products and a license. These intangddets were recorded at fair value and
are stated net of accumulated amortization.

The rights and licenses are amortized over theiaiging estimated useful lives, ranging from twd foyears, based on the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives directly imghetamount of amortization expense recorded faelassets on a quarterly and annual basi

In addition, the Company tests for impairment dirdte-lived intangible assets when events or aginstances indicate that the carrying
value of the assets may not be recoverable. Jedgisiused in determining when these events androstances ariself it is determined the
the carrying value of the assets may not be reaterjudgment and estimates are used to assefsrthielue of the assets and to determine
the amount of any impairment loss.

Goodwill

Gooduwill relates to the Merger and represents #oess of the total purchase consideration ovefainealue of acquired assets and
assumed liabilities , using the purchase methatobunting. Goodwill is not amortized, but is sabj® periodic review for impairment. As a
result, the amount of goodwill is directly impacteylthe estimates of the fair values of the assegsired and liabilities assumed.

In addition, goodwill is reviewed annually, as oft@ber 31, and whenever events or changes in cgtzues indicate that the carrying
amount of the goodwill might not be recoverablalghaent is used in determining when these eventgiacwimstances arise. The Company
performs its review of goodwill on its one repogianit. If it is determined that the carrying valfehe assets may not be recoverable,
judgment and estimates are used to assess thealfadr of the assets and to determine the amouwaryofmpairment los:

The carrying value of goodwill at December 31, 20&3 $1.8 million. Management believes it is urijkbat there will be a material

change in the future estimates or assumptions tasedt for impairment losses on goodwill. Howevkactual results are not consistent with
management's estimates or assumptions, the Compaype exposed to an impairment charge that cailudterial.
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Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has a stock-based compensation plaimthades stock options and restricted stock, Whie awarded in exchange for
employee and non-employee director services. Thepaoy recognizes the estimated fair value of stmaded awards and classifies the
expense where the underlying salaries are cladsker the year ended December 31, 2013, all dhaslked awards were classified as sales,
general and administrative expense in the acconipgusyatements of operations. Stock-based compensaist for stock options is
determined at the grant date using an option gyiciodel and stock-based compensation cost foliaesirstock is based on the closing marke
price of the stock at the grant date. The valudefaward that is ultimately expected to vesti®gmized as expense on a straight-line basis
over the employee's requisite service period.

Valuation of stock awards requires management tceragsumptions and to apply judgment to deternhieddir value of the awards.
These assumptions and judgments include estimttafuture volatility of the Company’s stock prickyidend yields, future employee
turnover rates, and future employee stock opti@r@se behaviors. Changes in these assumptionaffeant the fair value estimate.

Estimation of awards that will ultimately vest régs judgment for the amounts that will be forfdittue to failure to fulfill service
conditions. To the extent actual results or updatttates differ from current estimates, such art®are recorded as a cumulative adjustmel
in the period estimates are revised. Changes imatgts could affect compensation expense withiividdal periods.

On July 12, 2013, the Company'’s Board of Direcagproved grants of stock options to employeesudioh certain executive officers,
under the 2008 Plan, subject to shareholder appodea increase in the total shares availabléssmance under the 2008 Plan, which the
Company intends to seek at its next annual me@ti@@14. As of December 31, 2013, the Company ladtg of 325 thousand common stock
options outstanding pending shareholder approves& grants were approved by the board on Jul2QlB, but expense related to these stoc
options will begin to be recognized only upon shatder approval. While stock compensation expesns®i material for the year ended
December 31, 2013, if shareholders approve theaser in the total shares available for issuancerutthd 2008 Plan and the previously-
approved stock options are issued, the stock cosaien expense would be significantly greater drahges to the estimates involved in the
calculation of stock compensation expense coul@ laamaterial effect on the Company’s consolidaiteahicial statements. Based on stock
price information at December 31, 2013, if the @&ge in total shares available for issuance uhée2@08 Plan had been approved on
December 31, 2013 and these options had been issugdDecember 31, 2013, there would have beerogippately $5.0 million of expense
related to these options, to be expensed oveethainder of the four year service period. Howebecause the stock compensation expense
will be calculated based on the stock price asiefdate of approval by the shareholders, the aetganse could be materially higher or lower,
depending on the Company’s stock price as of thtd.dEstimates and assumptions are based upon informaiiwently available. However
actual results are not consistent with currenhestiés or assumptions, the Company could be exgosdthnges in stock-based compensation
expense that could be material.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability meth@atodunting for income taxes. Deferred tax assetdiahilities are determined based on
differences between the financial reporting andoases of assets and liabilities and are measusiag the enacted tax rates and laws that are
expected to be in effect when the differences apeeted to reverse. The effect on deferred taxtsssal liabilities of a change in tax rates is
recognized in the period that such tax rate chaagesnacted. The measurement of a deferred takiagsgduced, if necessary, by a valuation
allowance if it is more likely than not that somon or all of the deferred tax asset will notrealized.

Management uses a recognition threshold and a mezaent attribute for the financial statement rediigm and measurement of tax
positions taken or expected to be taken in a taxmeas well as guidance on derecognition, clasgibn, interest and penalties and financial
statement reporting disclosures. For those bertefit® recognized, a tax position must be mordylikigan-not to be sustained upon
examination by taxing authorities. The Companyrasdentified any uncertain income tax positiomattcould have a material impact to the
consolidated financial statements. The Companyhgest to taxation in various United States juisidns and remains subject to examination
by taxing jurisdictions for the years 1998 andsalbsequent periods due to the availability of petrating loss carryforwards. To the extent the
Company prevails in matters for which a liabilitgshbeen established, or is required to pay amauetscess of its established liability, the
Company'’s effective income tax rate in a givenficial statement period could be materially affected unfavorable tax settlement generally
would require use of the Company’s cash and mayltresan increase in the Company'’s effective inediax rate in the period of resolution. A
favorable tax settlement may reduce the Compariféstéve income tax rate and would be recognizetheperiod of resolution.
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The Company considers potential tax effects regyftiom discontinued operations and records ingnasp tax allocations, when those
effects are deemed material. The Company’s @ffeaicome tax rate is also affected by changéaynaw, the level of earnings and the
results of tax audits.

Although management believes that the judgmentsatichates discussed herein are reasonable, aetudtls could differ, and the
Company may be exposed to losses or gains thad beunaterial.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Stand@&dard (“FASB”) issued guidance related to addéiaeporting and disclosure of
amounts reclassified out of accumulated other cetmgaisive income (“OCI”). Under this new guidaneanpanies are required to disclose the
amount of income or loss reclassified out of OCéagh respective line item on the income statemvbpte net income is presented. The
guidance allows companies to elect whether to asscthe reclassification either in the notes tdithencial statements, or on the face of the
income statement. The adoption of this standa@®i8 did not have a material impact on the Compaoghsolidated results of operations,
cash flows or financial position.

In July 2012, the FASB issued accounting guidancgrplify the evaluation for impairment of indefiived intangible assets. Under-
updated guidance, an entity has the option of fiesforming a qualitative assessment to determimether it is more likely than not that an
indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired bef@roceeding to the quantitative impairment testennwhich it would calculate the asset'’s fair
value. When performing the qualitative assessnteatentity must evaluate events and circumstamegsiay affect the significant inputs used
to determine the fair value of the indefinite-livietiangible asset. The adoption of this standaDib3 did not have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated results of operations, flasés or financial position.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of each of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Coyng not have any off-balance sheet arrangemastdefined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii)
of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC.

Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations
Not required due to Smaller Reporting Company statu
ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk

Not required due to Smaller Reporting Company statu
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Item 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Sulygidiae “Company”)as of Decembi
31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidatednsénts of operations, changes in stockholdegsity/(deficit), and cash flows for eact
the years in the two-year period ended Decembe2@ll3. The financial statements are the respiitgibf the Company’s managemenur
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversightf8lo(United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet daodibtain reasonable assurance about whethdimtecial statements are free of mate
misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were vgaged to perform, an audit of its internal contreér financial reportin
Our audits included consideration of internal cohtiver financial reporting as a basis for desigradit procedures that are appropriate il
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgsamopinion on the effectiveness of the Compsairyternal control over financial reportii
Accordingly, we express no such opiniosn audit includes examining, on a test basis, exddesupporting the amounts and disclosures i
financial statements.An audit also includes assessing the accountingipies used and significant estimates made by geanant, as well
evaluating the overall financial statement pred@ria We believe that our audits provide a reabde basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredabove present fairly, in all material respeci® tonsolidated financial position of A
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary as of Dece®be?013 and 2012, and the consolidated resultsedf operations and their cash flows
each of the years in the twear period ended December 31, 2013, in conformitli accounting principles generally accepted i@ tnitec
States of America.

/sl EisnerAmper LLP

New York, New York
February 28, 2014
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ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31, December 31,

2013 2012
Assets
Current Asset
Cash and cash equivale $ 11,105 $ 11
Accounts receivable, net of $5,104 and $6,124 pfsachents for chargebacks
and other allowances at December 31, 2013 @h#d, 2espectivel 12,513 5,432
Inventories, ne 3,518 2,810
Prepaid expenst 580 313
Total Current Asset 27,716 8,566
Property and Equipment, n 4,537 4,880
Deferred loan costs, n - 217
Intangible assets, n 10,409 85
Goodwill 1,838 -
Total Assets $ 44,500 $ 13,748
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity/(Defic
Current Liabilities
Accounts payabl $ 1,429 $ 1,994
Accrued expense 1,326 927
Returned goods reser 736 411
Deferred revenu 47 315
Borrowings under line of cred - 4,065
Total Current Liabilities 3,538 7,712
Commitments and Contingencies (Note
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock (Nof - 48,751

Stockholders' Equity/(Deficil
Common Stock, $0.0001 par value, 33,333,334 starwrized; 9,629,174 shares
issued and 9,619,941 shares outstanding atniire31, 2013; 4,070,373 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, : 1 -
Class C Special Stock, $0.0001 par value, 781,A8fes authorized; 10,868 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2012@h2, respectivel - -
Preferred Stock, $0.0001 par value, 1,666,667 sharthorized; 0 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012¢ctisply -
Treasury stock, 9,233 shares of common stock,sif abDecember 31, 20: (68)

Additional paic-in capital 89,501 1,083
Accumulated defici (48,472 (43,798
Total Stockholders' Equity/(Defici 40,962 (42,715
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity/(Defic $ 44,500 $ 13,748

The accompanying notes are an integral part oférmmnsolidated financial statemer
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ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Net Revenue

Operating Expense
Cost of sales (excluding depreciation and amoitina
Research and developmt
Selling, general and administrati
Depreciation and amortizatic

Total Operating Expenst
Operating Income/(Loss) from Continuing Operati

Other Expens
Interest expens
Other expens

Net Income/(Loss) from Continuing Operatic
Before Benefit for Income Taxt

(Provision)/Benefit for income taxt
Net Income/(Loss) from Continuing Operatic

Discontinued Operatio
Gain on discontinued operation, net of provisioan@fit) for income taxe

Net Income/(Loss

Computation of Income/(Loss) from Continuing Operatons
Attributable to Common Stockholders:
Net Income/(Loss) from Continuing Operatic
Preferred stock dividenc
(Loss) from Continuing Operatiol
Attributable to Common Stockholde

Basic and Diluted Income/(Loss) Per Share
Continuing operation
Discontinued operatio

Basic and Diluted Income/(Loss) Per Sh

Basic and Diluted Weight-Average Shares Outstandi

Years ended December

2013 2012
30,082 $ 20,371
9,974 9,167
1,712 1,158
16,388 9,521
1,110 567
29,184 20,413
898 (42)
(467 (1,327
(305, (241
126 (1,610
(20) 36
106 (1,574
195 68
301 (1,506
106 (1,574
(4,975 (6,922
(4,869 (8,496
(0.96 N/A (1)
0.04 N/A (1)
(0.92 N/A (1)
5,071 N/A (1)

(D Earnings per common share is not calculable beazarsenon shareholders from ANIP Acquisition Compditynot receive consideration

from the June 19, 2013 Merger with BioSante. Sete Ndor further details.

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofermmnsolidated financial statemer
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ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Changes in StockholderEquity/(Deficit)
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
(in thousands)

Common Common Class C Additional Treasury
Stock Stock Special Paid-in Stock Treasury  Accumulated
Par Value Shares Stock Capital Shares Stock Deficit Total
Balance, December 31, 20 $ - 3,045 $ -3 1,086 - 3 - $ (35370 $ (34,284
Issuance of Common Stock upon Cashless WarrantiEe 2 22 - 2) - - - -
Issuance of Peferred Stock upon Cashless Warrartisr - - - ®3) - - - ?3)
Preferred Stock Dividenc - - - - - - (6,922 (6,922
Effect of Reverse Merge 2) 1,003 - 2 - - -
Net loss - - - - - (1,506 (1,506
Balance, December 31, 20 $ - 4,070 $ - $ 1,083 - $ - $ (43,798 $ (42,715
Preferred Stock Dividenc - - - - (4,975 (4,975
Non-cash Compensation Relating to Business Combin - - - 4,418 - - - 4,418
Cancellation of Convertible Preferred Stc - - - 53,726 - - - 53,726
Shares Issued in Merg 1 5,469 - 29,794 - - - 29,795
Stocl-based Compensation Expel - - - 36 - - - 36
Purchase of Common Stock for Treas - - - - 59 (433) - (433,
Issuance of Common Stock upon Warrant Exel - 90 - 809 - - 809
Treasury Stock Shares Issued as Restricted ! - - - (365, (50) 365 - -
Net Income = = - - - 301 301
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 1 9,629 $ - $ 89501 9 3 (68) $ (48,472 $ 40,962

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofefmmsolidated financial statemer
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ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

For the years ended December 2013 2012
Cash Flows From Operating Activiti
Net income/(loss $ 301 $ (1,506
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash asti equivalents
used in operating activitie
Stocl-based compensatic 36 -
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,110 567
Non-cash interest relating to eqt-linked securities and loan cost amortizai 217 1,071
Non-cash compensation relating to business combin 4,418 -
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, n&tafe acquired in business
combination
Accounts receivabl (7,081 (327,
Inventories (708 (702
Prepaid expenst (188 (88)
Accounts payabl (565; 785
Accrued compensatic (2,854 -
Accrued expenses, returned goods reserve and egf@venus 25 205
Net Cash and Cash Equivalents Used in Continuingr&jons (5,289 5
Net Cash Used in Discontinued Operal (195 (142
Net Cash and Cash Equivalents Used in Operatiniyifes (5,484 (237
Cash Flows From Investing Activiti¢
Cash acquired in business combina 18,198 -
Release of restricted ca 2,260
Acquisition of property and equipme (191 (292
Net Cash and Cash Equivalents Provided by/(Usebhu@sting Activities 20,267 (292
Cash Flows From Financing Activitis
(Repayments)/borrowings under line of credit, (4,065 1,001
Payment of debt issuance cc - (261
Proceeds from warrant exerc 809 -
Treasury stock purchas (433 -
Net Cash and Cash Equivalents (Used in)/Provide@dmntinuing Operation (3,689 740
Net Cash Used in Discontinued Operat - (300
Net Cash and Cash Equivalents (Used in)/Providefitgncing Activities (3,689 440
Change in Cash and Cash Equivale 11,094 11
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe 11 -
Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe $ 11,105 $ 11
Supplemental disclosure for cash flow information
Cash paid for intere: $ 250 $ 255
Supplemental nor-cash investing and financing activities
Issuance of common stock in connection with busiresnbinatior $ 40,034 $ -
Cancellation of Series D, Series C, Series B, a@®1S A preferred stoc $ 53,726 $ -
Acquired noi-cash net asse $ 11,597 $ =
Preferred stock dividends accr $ 4,975 $ 6,922
Issuance of common and preferred stock upon cashiagant exercis $ - $ 5
Issuance of preferred stock upon convertible debversior $ - $ 17,610

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofé¢rmmnsolidated financial statemer
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ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Organization and Business

ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its consolidateasgliary, ANIP Acquisition Company (together, thédmpany”) is a specialty
pharmaceutical company, developing and marketimgige and branded prescription products. The Compas organized as a Delaware
corporation in April 2001. At its two facilities ¢ated in Baudette, Minnesota, which have a comhinadufacturing, packaging and laboratory
capacity totaling 173,000 square feet, the Compaagufactures oral solid dose products, as welbagls and topicals, including those that
must be manufactured in a fully contained environiiie to their potency. The Company also perfaramract manufacturing for other
pharmaceutical companies.

On June 19, 2013, BioSante Pharmaceuticals, IBio$ante”) acquired ANIP Acquisition Company (“AN)Rn an all-stock, tax-free
reorganization (the “Merger”) (Note 2), in which ANbecame a wholly-owned subsidiary of BioSanteSBinte was renamed ANI
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. The Merger was accounteds@ reverse acquisition pursuant to which ANIP eaassidered the acquiring entity for
accounting purposes. As such, ANIP's historicallteof operations replace BioSante's historicalilts of operations for all periods prior to
Merger. The results of operations of both compaaresncluded in the Company’s consolidated finainstiatements for all periods after
completion of the Merger.

The Company's operations are subject to certais dad uncertainties including, among others, ctirmad potential competitors with
greater resources, dependence on significant cessphack of operating history and uncertaintyuttife profitability and possible fluctuations
in financial results. The accompanying consoliddiegincial statements have been prepared assuimnghe Company will continue as a
going concern, which contemplates continuity ofragiens, realization of assets, and satisfactidiabflities in the ordinary course of busine
The propriety of using the going-concern basiseigehdent upon, among other things, the achieveofidature profitable operations, the
ability to generate sufficient cash from operaticarsd potential other funding sources, includinghcan hand, to meet the Company’s
obligations as they become due. Management belibeegoing-concern basis is appropriate for th@eganying consolidated financial
statements based on its current operating plamgir®ecember 31, 2014.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemieane been prepared in accordance with accountingiples generally accepted in the
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP"). Certaingrperiod information has been reclassified to oamfto the current period presentation.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its whollyned subsidiary, ANIP. All
significant intercompany accounts and transactayaseliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith U.S. GAAP requires management to make esdti:and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilitiesdisilosure of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdate of the financial statements and the
reported amount of revenues and expenses duringplogting period. In the accompanying consolidditeaincial statements, estimates are
used for, but not limited to, stock-based compéosaallowance for doubtful accounts, accrualsdlmargebacks, returns and other allowances
allowance for inventory obsolescence, valuatioderivative liabilities, accruals for contingenttibities, fair value of long-lived assets,
deferred taxes and valuation allowance, and theed&ble lives of fixed assets. Actual results daliffer from those estimates.
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ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Credit Concentration

The Company's customers are primarily wholesaleildigors, chain drug stores, group purchasing mizgdions, and other pharmaceutica
companies.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, thre@est represented approximately 27 %, 18 %, artd b0 net revenues, respectively.
As of December 31, 2013, accounts receivable floead customers totaled 68 % of net accounts rdaleiMauring the year ended
December 31, 2012, three customers representedxapgately 25 %, 21 %, and 11 % of net revenueqeetively.

Vendor Concentration

The Company sources the raw materials for its prtsincluding active pharmaceutical ingredienR|”), from both domestic and
international suppliers. Generally, only a singlarse of APl is qualified for use in each produgédo the costs and time required to validate
second source of supply. As a result, the Compadgpendent upon its current vendors to supplgbiglithe API required for ongoing product
manufacturing. During the year ended December 313 2the Company purchased approximately 37 %taf tosts of goods sold from three
suppliers. As of December 31, 2013, amounts payaltleese suppliers was immaterial. During the wraled December 31, 2012, the
Company purchased approximately 63 % of total colsg@ods sold from three suppliers.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized for product sales and adntranufacturing product sales upon passing ofaisktitle to the customer, when
estimates of the selling price and discounts, eshatromotional adjustments, price adjustmentsrmef chargebacks, and other potential
adjustments are reasonably determinable, colle@iosasonably assured, and the Company has m@fyperformance obligations. Contract
manufacturing arrangements are typically less thanweeks in duration, and therefore the revenuedsgnized upon completion of the
aforementioned factors rather than using a propoatiperformance method of revenue recognition. 8dtenates for discounts, rebates,
promotional adjustments, price adjustments, returinargebacks, and other potential adjustmentseedross revenues to net revenues in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operat&nmsare presented as current liabilities or rédaostin accounts receivable in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets (seeUAlscior Chargebacks, Returns, and Other Allowdicesstorically, the Company has r
entered into revenue arrangements with multiplmelgs.

Occasionally, the Company engages in contracteesyivhich include product development servicdmriaory services, and royalties on
net sales of certain contract manufactured prodécisthese services, revenue is recognized acgptdithe terms of the agreement with the
customer, which sometimes include substantive, arabte risk-based milestones, and when the Compasy contractual right to receive
such payment, the contract price is fixed or deteatvle, the collection of the resulting receivailsleeasonably assured, and the Company ha:
no further performance obligations under the agesemT he Company recognized $ 1.4 million and8brillion of revenue related to contr.
services in 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid instrumentth original maturities of three months or lesde cash equivalents. All interest

bearing and non-interest bearing accounts are gigad by the FDIC up to $ 250 thousand. The Compaeny maintain cash balances in
excess of FDIC coverage. Management considersattis a normal business risk.
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ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
In conjunction with the Merger, the Company acqiirestricted cash, none of which remained at Deeer@b, 2013.
Accounts Receivable

The Company extends credit to customers on an uregdasis. The Company utilizes the allowance atetb provide for doubtful
accounts based on management's evaluation of Heetedility of accounts receivable, whereby thar(any provides an allowance for
doubtful accounts equal to the estimated uncobeetimounts. Managemesstimate is based on historical collection exgpee and a revie
of the current status of trade accounts receivdliie. Company determines trade receivables to tiegieint when greater than 30 days past
due. Receivables are written off when it is deteedithat amounts are uncollectible. The Compangraehed that no allowance for doubtful
accounts was necessary as of December 31, 20123042d

Accruals for Chargebacks, Returns and Other Allowaes

The Company's generic and branded product revaregaygpically subject to agreements with custonadiosving chargebacks, product
returns, administrative fees, and other rebategpampt payment discounts. The Company accruethése items at the time of sale based on
the estimates and methodologies described belothelaggregate, these accruals exceed 60 % ofigamel branded gross product sales and
reduce gross revenues to net revenues in the aecimg consolidated statements of operations, emgr@sented as current liabilities or
reductions in accounts receivable in the accompangdnsolidated balance sheets. The Company caifliimaonitors and re-evaluates the
accruals as additional information becomes avadlalhich includes, among other things, updatesattetinventory levels and customer
product mix. The Company makes adjustments tod¢hrials at the end of each reporting period, teecetiny such updates to the relevant
facts and circumstances. Accruals are relieved ueogipt of payment from or upon issuance of criedihe customer.

Chargebacks

Chargebacks, primarily from wholesalers, resulirfrarrangements the Company has with indirect custemstablishing prices for
products which the indirect customer purchaseautiiia wholesaler. Alternatively, the Company magrauthorize wholesalers to offer
specified contract pricing to other indirect cusess Under either arrangement, the Company prowiddmrgeback credit to the wholesaler
any difference between the contracted price withitidirect customer and the wholesaler's invoiggeptypically Wholesale Acquisition Cost
("WAC").

Chargeback credits are calculated as follows:

Prior period chargebacks claimed by wholesaleraaatyzed to determine the actual average selliicg §'ASP") for each product. This
calculation is performed by product by wholesa#$Ps can be affected by several factors such as:

. A change in customer mix

. A change in negotiated terms with customers

. A change in product sales mix

. A change in the volume of off-contract purchases
. Changes in WAC

As necessary, the Company adjusts ASPs based icipatéd changes in the factors above.
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The difference between ASP and WAC is recordedrasliaction in both gross revenues in the consditistatements of operations and
accounts receivable in the consolidated balancetshat the time the Company recognizes revenue e product sale.

To evaluate the adequacy of its chargeback ac¢rih@lsCompany obtains drand inventory counts from the wholesalers. Thigiiory is
multiplied by the chargeback amount, the differebetveen ASP and WAC, to arrive at total expectidré chargebacks, which is then
compared to the chargeback accruals. The Companrtinaally monitors chargeback activity and adjus&Ps when it believes that actual
selling prices will differ from current ASPs.

Returns

The Company maintains a return policy that allowstemers to return product within a specified pgpoior to and subsequent to the
expiration date. Generally, product may be retufieec period beginning six months prior to its eapon date to up to one year after its
expiration date. The Company's product returnsetied through the issuance of a credit to théoowsr. The Company's estimate for returns
is based upon its historical experience with aatetairns. While such experience has allowed fosapable estimation in the past, history may
not always be an accurate indicator of future retuThe Company continually monitors its estimédeseturns and makes adjustments when:
believes that actual product returns may diffenfriie established accruals. Accruals for returag@eorded as a reduction to gross revent
the consolidated statements of operations and agegase to the return goods reserve in the cioladet! balance sheets.

Administrative Fees and Other Reba

Administrative fees or rebates are offered to wsallers, group purchasing organizations and ind@estomers. The Company accrues for
fees and rebates, by product by wholesaler, dinfeof sale based on contracted rates and ASPs.

To evaluate the adequacy of its administrativeafaegruals, the Company obtains on-hand inventorytsoiuiom the wholesalers. This
inventory is multiplied by the ASPs to arrive atiacexpected future sales, which is then multipbgccontracted rates. The result is then
compared to the administrative fee accruals. Th@amy continually monitors administrative fee aityiand adjusts its accruals when it
believes that actual administrative fees will diffieem the accruals. Accruals for administrativedand other rebates are recorded as a
reduction in both gross revenues in the consolistatements of operations and accounts receivakibe consolidated balance sheets.

Prompt Payment Discoun
The Company often grants sales discounts for prgapinent. The reserve for sales discounts is baséuloices outstanding. The

Company assumes based on past experience thaagdide discounts will be taken. Accruals for primpayment discounts are recorded as a
reduction in both gross revenues in the consolilstatements of operations and accounts receiuabie consolidated balance sheets.
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The following table summarizes activity in the colidated balance sheets for accruals and allowafiocéke years ended December 31,
2013 and 2012:

(in thousands Accruals for Chargebacks, Returns and Other Allowares
Administrative Prompt
Fees and Other Payment
Chargebacks Returns Rebates Discounts
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 3,681 $ 252 $ 238 $ 166
Accruals/Adjustment 22,912 698 1,369 775
Credits Taken Against Reser (20,931 (539 (1,376 (699
Balance at December 31, 20 5,662 411 231 242
Accruals/Adjustment 28,009 1,595 2,355 1,129
Credits Taken Against Reser (29,595 (1,270 (1,851 (1,039
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 4,076 $ 736 $ 735 $ 332
Inventories

Inventories consist of raw materials, packagingemals, work-in-progress, and finished goods. Inggas are stated at the lower of

standard cost or net realizable value. The Companipdically reviews and adjusts standard costs;lmgenerally approximates weighted
average cost.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Exjpees for repairs and maintenance are chargeggerse as incurred. Depreciation is
recorded on a straight-line basis over estimatefulifves as follows:

Buildings and improvemen 20- 40 year
Machinery, furniture and equipme 3-10year

Construction in progress includes the cost of gortibn and other direct costs attributable todbestruction, along with capitalized
interest, if any. Depreciation is not recorded onstruction in progress until such time as thetass® placed in service.

Management reviews property and equipment for impamnt whenever events or changes in circumstandésaite that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Reduiligraf the long-lived asset is measured by a panson of the carrying amount of the
asset to future undiscounted net cash flows exgedotbe generated by the asset. If such asset®as&lered to be impaired, the impairment tc
be recognized is measured by the amount by whigledhrying amount of the assets exceeds the estinfait value of the assets. Assets held
for disposal are reportable at the lower of theytag amount or fair value, less costs to sell. Biggment determined that no assets were
impaired and no assets were held for disposal Beoémber 31, 2013 and 2012.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets were acquired as part of the dtexgd asset acquisition transactions and corfsigghis to produce pharmaceutical
products and a license. These intangible assefmally were recorded at fair value and are stattdf accumulated amortization.
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The rights and licenses are amortized over theiamging estimated useful lives, ranging from 2 1o ylears, based on the straight-line
method. Management reviews definite-lived intargisets for impairment whenever events or changcumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable, in a masingitar to that for property and equipment.

Goodwill

Gooduwill relates to the Merger and represents #tess of the total purchase consideration ovefainealue of acquired assets and
assumed liabilities , using the purchase methaatodunting. Goodwill is not amortized, but is sebj® periodic review for impairment.
Goodwill is reviewed annually, as of October 31d arhenever events or changes in circumstancesatadibat the carrying amount of the
goodwill might not be recoverable. The Company @enk its review of goodwill on its one reportingtun

Before employing detailed impairment testing metilogies, management first evaluates the likelihobidnpairment by considering
qualitative factors relevant to its reporting ullithen performing the qualitative assessment, manageevaluates events and circumstances
that would affect the significant inputs used ttedenine the fair value of the goodwill. Events amtumstances evaluated include:
macroeconomic conditions that could affect the Camyp industry and market considerations for theegermpharmaceutical industry that could
affect the Company, cost factors that could affeetCompany’s performance, the Company’s finaméaformance (including share price),
and consideration of any Company-specific everds¢buld negatively affect the Company, its businesits fair value. If management
determines that it is more likely than not that dwil is impaired, management will then apply didditesting methodologies. Otherwise,
management will conclude that no impairment hasioed.

Detailed impairment testing involves comparing fdie value of the Company's one reporting unittsocarrying value, including goodwi
Fair value reflects the price a market participsatild be willing to pay in a potential sale of tiempany. If the fair value exceeds carrying
value, then it is concluded that no goodwill impaént has occurred. If the carrying value of theorépg unit exceeds its fair value, a second
step is required to measure possible goodwill impant loss. The second step includes hypothetigallying the tangible and intangible asset
and liabilities of the Company's one reporting @sitif it had been acquired in a business comhinafihen, the implied fair value of the
Company's one reporting unit's goodwill is comparethe carrying value of that goodwill. If the oang value of the Company's one repori
unit's goodwill exceeds the implied fair value loé goodwill, the Company recognizes an impairmess in an amount equal to the excess, nc
to exceed the carrying value.

Collaborative Arrangements

Third party costs incurred and revenues generatedrangements involving the Company and one oerparties, both of whom are
actively involved and exposed to risks and rewaifdbe activities, are classified in the consokhstatements of operations on a gross basis
only if the Company is determined to be the priatjparticipant in the arrangement. Otherwise, tpady revenues and costs generated by
collaborative arrangements are presented on aaset. lPayments between participants are recordedlassified based on the nature of the
payments.
Research and Development Expenses

Research and development costs are expensed agdhand primarily consist of expenses relatingrmduct development. Research and
development costs totaled $ 1.7 million and $ lilBan for the years ended December 31, 2013 ari2fespectively.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has a stock-based compensation plaimthades stock options and restricted stock, Wisie awarded in exchange for
employee and non-employee director services. Thepaoy recognizes the estimated fair value of stmaded awards and classifies the
expense where the underlying salaries are cladsker the year ended December 31, 2013, all dhaslked awards were classified as sales,
general and administrative expense in the acconipampnsolidated statements of operations. Stmded compensation cost for stock opt
is determined at the grant date using an optiatingimodel and stock-based compensation cost $tricted stock is based on the closing
market price of the stock at the grant date. Theevaf the award that is ultimately expected totVv@secognized as expense on a straight-line
basis over the employee's requisite service period.

Valuation of stock awards requires management tkeragsumptions and to apply judgment to deternhieddir value of the awards.
These assumptions and judgments include estimttafuture volatility of the Company’s stock prickyidend yields, future employee
turnover rates, and future employee stock opti@r@se behaviors. Changes in these assumptionaffeant the fair value estimate.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability meth@tobunting for income taxes. Deferred tax assetdiahilities are determined based on
differences between the financial reporting andbases of assets and liabilities and are measwsirg the enacted tax rates and laws that are
expected to be in effect when the differences apeeted to reverse. The effect on deferred taxtsissel liabilities of a change in tax rates is
recognized in the period that such tax rate chaagesnacted. The measurement of a deferred takiasgduced, if necessary, by a valuation
allowance if it is more likely than not that somatmon or all of the deferred tax asset will notrealized.

Management uses a recognition threshold and a mezasent attribute for the financial statement redtbgm and measurement of tax
positions taken or expected to be taken in a taxmeas well as guidance on derecognition, clasgibn, interest and penalties and financial
statement reporting disclosures. For those bertefit® recognized, a tax position must be mordylikgan-not to be sustained upon
examination by taxing authorities. The Companyrasdentified any uncertain income tax positiomsttcould have a material impact to
the consolidated financial statements. The ComjEmaybject to taxation in various jurisdictionghe United States and remains subject to
examination by taxing jurisdictions for the yea@9& and all subsequent periods due to the avatiabflnet operating loss carryforwards.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties edamn any unrecognized tax exposures as a compohierbme tax expense. The
Company did not have any amounts accrued reladimgtérest and penalties as of December 31, 20d 2ah2.

The Company considers potential tax effects regyftiom discontinued operations and records inénasp tax allocations, when those
effects are deemed material.

Earnings (Loss) per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed bylidiginet income (loss) available to common shaddsl by the weighted-average
number of shares of common stock outstanding duhiegeriod.

For periods of net income, and when the effectiatanti-dilutive, diluted earnings per shareasmputed by dividing net income
available to common shareholders by the weightesteaye number of shares outstanding plus the ingdadt potential dilutive common
shares, consisting primarily of common stock ogjamvested restricted stock awards, and stockhpaecwarrants, using the treasury stock
method.
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For periods of net loss, diluted loss per shamalsulated similarly to basic loss per share bestius impact of all dilutive potential
common shares is anti-dilutive. The number of diltitive shares, consisting of Class C Speciallstoommon stock options, unvested
restricted stock awards, and warrants exercisabledmmon stock (and prior to the Merger, equitkdid securities, convertible preferred
stock, and stock purchase warrants exercisablgréderred stock) , which have been excluded froencttmputation of diluted earnings (loss)
per share, were 2.7 million for both of the yeardedl December 31, 2013 and 2012. The Company’sstetveestricted shares contain non-
forfeitable rights to dividends, and therefore emasidered to be participating securities; theudatwon of basic and diluted income (loss) per
share excludes net income (but not net loss) atafide to the unvested restricted shares from tineenator and excludes the impact of those
shares from the denominator.

For periods prior to the Merger, earnings per skarmot be calculated, as ANIP common sharehottidnsot receive consideration in the
Merger. In a reverse merger, the weighted averhgess outstanding used to calculate basic earpigigshare for periods prior to the merger i
the weighted average shares outstanding of the consfmares of the accounting acquirer (in this cAs#P) multiplied by the exchange ratio.
In the Merger, only holders of ANIP’s Series D pmeéd stock received consideration. Because ANiBrsmon shareholders did not receive
any consideration in the Merger , their exchangje ia zero, creating a weighted average sharesanding of zero for periods prior to the
Merger.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had 120 tmelisammon stock options, 50 thousand unvestedatest stock awards, and 686
thousand warrants exercisable for common stockandg.

Stock Splits and Other Reclassifications

In July 2013, the Company's Board of Directors stodkholders approved a resolution to effect afonesix reverse stock split of the
Company's common stock and Class C Special statknsicorresponding change to the par values. Ther of authorized shares of
common stock, Class C Special stock and blank chesflerred stock was reduced proportionally. Commstork and Class C Special stock for
all periods presented have been adjusted retragplycto reflect the one-for-six reverse stock spli
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

Prior to the Merger, the carrying value of ANIP&ieemable convertible preferred stock was increlbgédlde accretion of any related
discounts and accrued but unpaid dividends salileatarrying amount would equal the redemption arhatithe dates the stock became
redeemable. ANIR Series A, B, C and D preferred stock was redeknztthe option of the holders, subject to cersaiditional requirement
All of ANIP’s Series D preferred stock was canceded exchanged for shares of BioSante common stodlall of ANIP’s Series A, B and C
preferred stock were canceled in conjunction with Merger (Note 2).
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company's consolidated balance sheéltsde various financial instruments (primarily lc@sd cash equivalents, prepaid expenses,
accounts receivable, accounts payable, accruedsa&peborrowings under line of credit, and otherent liabilities) that approximate fair
value. Fair value is the price that would be reedifrom the sale of an asset or paid to transfiabdity assuming an orderly transaction in the

most advantageous market at the measurement d&eGBAP establishes a hierarchical disclosure éaork which prioritizes and ranks the
level of observability of inputs used in measuriaig value. These tiers include:

. Level 1—Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active mirkigat are accessible at the measurement daitdefaical assets or liabilities.
The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priotity evel 1 inputs.

* Level 2—Observable market-based inputs other thaegl prices in active markets for identical aseetsbilities.

» Level 3—Unobservable inputs are used when littla@market data is available. The fair value higmgrgives the lowest priority to
Level 3 inputs.

See Note 6 for additional information regarding failue.
Segment Information

The Company currently operates in a single busisegment.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standd@dard (“FASB”) issued guidance related to addaiaeporting and disclosure of
amounts reclassified out of accumulated other cehmasive income (“OCI”). Under this new guidanaanpanies will be required to disclose
the amount of income or loss reclassified out of @&ach respective line item on the income statérwhere net income is presented. The
guidance allows companies to elect whether to asscthe reclassification in the notes to the firgrstatements, or on the face of the income
statement . The adoption of this standard in 20d $1dt have a material impact on the Comparggnsolidated results of operations, cash fl
or financial position. The Company does not haBaement of Comprehensive Income because the Cgnias no Other Comprehensive
Income.

In July 2012, the FASB issued accounting guidancgrplify the evaluation for impairment of indefiived intangible assets. Under-
updated guidance, an entity has the option of fiesforming a qualitative assessment to determimether it is more likely than not that an
indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired bef@roceeding to the quantitative impairment testennwhich it would calculate the asset'’s fair
value. When performing the qualitative assessnteatentity must evaluate events and circumstamegsiay affect the significant inputs used
to determine the fair value of the indefinite-livietiangible asset. The adoption of this standaDib3 did not have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated results of operations, flasés or financial position.

The Company has evaluated all issued and unadégtslinting Standards Updates and believes the mhopt these standards will not
have a material impact on its consolidated resdltyperations, financial position, or cash flows.

2. BUSINESS COMBINATION

On June 19, 2013, BioSante acquired ANIP in astaltk, tax-free reorganization. The Company is atiey under the leadership of the
ANIP management team and the board of directarensprised of two former directors from BioSante &ind former ANIP directors.

BioSante issued to ANIP stockholders shares of &W&common stock such that the ANIP stockholdersed 57 % of the combined
company’s shares outstanding, and the former BiSstockholders owned 43 %. In addition, immedyapeior to the Merger, BioSante
distributed to its then current stockholders cageint value rights (“CVR”) providing payment righgtasing from a future sale, transfer, license
or similar transaction(s) involving BioSante’s L@el® (female testosterone gel).

The Merger was accounted for as a reverse ac@umgitirsuant to which ANIP was considered the aagyientity for accounting purpos
As such, ANIP's historical results of operationslaee BioSante's historical results of operatiamsafl periods prior to the Merger. BioSante,
the accounting acquiree, was a publicly-traded phaeutical company focused on developing high vahedically-needed products. ANIP
entered into the Merger to secure additional chaitd gain access to capital market opportunitea public company.

The results of operations of both companies aredied in the Compang’consolidated financial statements for all periaftisr completiol
of the Merger.
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2. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

Transaction Costs

In conjunction with the Merger, the Company incdrepproximately $ 7.million in transaction costs, which were expensethe period
in which they were incurred. Costs incurred throligitember 31, 2013, include:

Category (in thousands
Legal fees $ 1,227
Accounting fee! 122
Consulting fee: 119
Monitoring and advisory fee 390
Transaction bonuse 4,801
Other 429

Total transaction cos $ 7,088

Of the total expenses, $ 0n8illion was incurred and expensed in the year eridlecember 31, 2012 as selling, general and admatiis
expense in the accompanying consolidated stateroémigerations. The remaining $ Gllion was incurred and expensed in the year e
December 31, 2013, $ 5.5 million as selling, gelhanal administrative expense $ 0.3 million as iesérexpense, and $ Odillion as othe
expense, in the accompanying consolidated statesnoéiperations.

Purchase Consideration and Net Assets Acquired

-

The fair value of BioSante’s common stock useddtetnining the purchase price was $ 1p22 share, the closing price on June 19, -
which resulted in a total purchase consideratios @0.8million. The fair value of all additional considéim, including the vested BioSa
stock options and CVRs, was immaterial. The folloyvpresents the preliminary allocation of the pasghconsideration to the assets acq
and liabilities assumed on June 19, 2013:

(in thousands

Total purchase considerat $ 29,795
Assets acquire

Cash and cash equivalel 18,198
Restricted cas 2,260
Teva license intangible as: 10,900
Other tangible asse 79
Deferred tax assets, r -
Goodwill 1,838
Total asse 33,275

Liabilities assumei
Accrued severanc 2,965
Other liabilities 515
Total liabilities 3,480
Total net assets acquil $ 29,795

Any changes in the estimated fair values of theassets recorded for this business combination tiperiinalization of more detail
analyses of the facts and circumstances that ebédtthe date of the transaction will change theration of the purchase price. Any subseq
changes to the purchase allocation during the mewamnt period that are material will be adjustacbspectively.
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The Teva license is related to a generic male se=tone gel product and is being amortized orrags$itdine basis over its estimai
useful life of 11 years. Goodwill, which is not tabeductible since the transaction was structured &sxiree exchange, is considered
indefinite-lived asset and relates primarily toaimgible assets that do not qualify for separategeition. As a result of purchase accoun
related to the Merger, the Company establishedridefeax assets of $ 9.6 million, deferred taxiliiés of $ 3.9million, and a valuatic
allowance of $ 5.7 million, netting to deferred tssets of $ 0 .

Former BioSante operations generated $ 0.5 mifliorevenue in a nonecurring payment related to the Teva license,ramdxpense fro
the acquisition date through December 31, 2013.

Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Informationunaudited)

The following unaudited pro forma condensed comthifirrancial information summarizes the results pém@tions for the periods indica
as if the Merger had been completed as of Janya2@12. Pro forma information reflects adjustmamtating to (i) elimination of the intere
on ANIP’s senior and equitipked securities, (ii) elimination of monitoringhd advisory fees payable to two ANIP investors) @liminatior
of transaction costs, and (iv) amortization of ngibles acquired. The pro forma amounts do not i be indicative of the results t
would have actually been obtained if the Merger tdeclirred as of January 1, 2012 or that may beradutan the future.

Year ended December 31

(in thousands 2013 2012
Net revenue $ 30,228 $ 22,671
Net income/(loss $ 89 $ (27,718

3. INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of the following as of DecemBer

(in thousands 2013 2012
Raw materials $ 1,480 $ 975
Packaging materia 766 585
Work-in-progres: 162 374
Finished good 1,152 891
3,560 2,825
Reserve for excess/obsolete invento (42) (15)
Inventories, ne $ 3518 $ 2,810
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4. PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

Property, Plant and Equipment consist of the foltmas of December 31:

(in thousands 2013 2012
Land $ 87 $ 87
Buildings 3,682 3,682
Machinery, furniture and equipme 3,736 3,565
Construction in progres 229 209
7,734 7,543
Less: accumulated depreciati (3,197 (2,663
Property, Plant and Equipment, | $ 4537 $ 4,880

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenih@033 and 2012 totaled $ 534 thousand and $Hslisand, respectively. During the
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, thereowasiterial interest capitalized into constructinmprogress

5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

As a result of the Merger (Note 2), the Companyréed goodwill of $ 1.8 million in its one repomgimnit. Management assesses the
recoverability of the carrying value of goodwill an annual basis as of October 31 of each yeat whenever events occur or circumstances
changes that would, more likely than not, reduesf#iir value of the Company’s reporting unit beldsvcarrying value.

For the goodwill impairment analysis performed atdber 31, 2013, managemgetrformed a qualitative assessment to determinghet
it was more likely than not that the Company’s geitidasset was impaired in order to determine theassity of performing a quantitative
impairment test, under which management would ¢ateuhe asset’s fair value. When performing thalitative assessment, management
evaluates events and circumstances that wouldtaffesignificant inputs used to determine the¥ailue of the goodwill. Events and
circumstances evaluated include: macroeconomicitons that could affect the Company, industry amatket considerations for the generic
pharmaceutical industry that could affect the Comypaost factors that could affect the Company$ggenance, the Company’s financial
performance (including share price), and consid@raif any Company-specific events that could neght affect the Company, its business,
or its fair value. Based on management’s assagsoh¢he aforementioned factors, it was determitied it was more likely than not that the

fair value of the Company’ one reporting unit igager than its carrying amount as of Octobe£813, and therefore no quantitative testing
for impairment was required.

In addition to the qualitative impairment analygésformed at October 31, 2013, there were no ewwrnthanges in circumstances that
could have reduced the fair value of the Compargp®rting unit below its carrying value from Octol3d, 2013 to December 31, 2013. No
impairment loss was recognized during the year @fterember 31, 2013.
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Definite-lived Intangible Assets

The components of net definite-lived intangibleeassre as follows:

December 31, 201 December 31, 201
Gross Carrying  Accumulated  Gross Carrying  Accumulated ~ Amortization
(in thousands Amount Amortization Amount Amortization Period
Acquired ANDA intangible asst $ 60 $ (55) $ 60 $ - 3 years
Reglan® intangible asse 100 (100 100 (75) 2 years
Teva license intangible as: 10,900 (496 - - 11 years
$ 11,060 $ (651 $ 160 $ (75)

The acquired ANDA and Regldhintangible assets consist of the exclusive rigimsluding all of the applicable technical data antle!
relevant information, to produce certain pharmaicabproducts which the Company acquired from wagicompanies. The Teva license
acquired as part of the Merger (Note. 2htangible assets are stated at the lower of @ofdir value, net of amortization using the gjtailine
method over the expected useful lives of the prodights. Amortization expense was $ 0.6 milliordah 50thousand for the years ent
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The Company tests for impairment of definliteed intangible assets when events or circumstnudicate that the carrying value of
assets may not be recoverable. No such triggenegte were identified in 2013 and 2012, and theeefe impairment loss was recogni
during those periods.

Expected future amortization expense is as follfmwshe years ending December 31.:

(in thousands

2014 $ 996
2015 991
2016 991
2017 991
2018 991
2019 and thereaftt 5,449
Total $ 10,409

6. FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES

Fair value is the price that would be received ftbm sale of an asset or paid to transfer a ligtalssuming an orderly transaction in the
most advantageous market at the measurement d&eGIBAP establishes a hierarchical disclosure éaork which prioritizes and ranks the
level of observability of inputs used in measuriaig value.

Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair \&lue on a Recurring Basis

The inputs used in measuring the fair value of @aghcash equivalents are considered to be leinehdcordance with the three-tier fair
value hierarchy. The fair market values are baseplesiod-end statements supplied by the varioukdand brokers that held the majority of
the Company's funds. The fair value of short-teémarfcial instruments (primarily accounts receivaplepaid expenses, accounts payable,
accrued expenses, borrowings under line of cradd,other current liabilities) approximate theirrgang values because of their short-term
nature.
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6. FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The Companys CVRs (Note 2) are considered to be contingensidenation and are classified as liabilities. Ashsuthe CVRs wel
recorded as purchase consideration at their estdnfair value, using level 3 inputs, and are martednarket each reporting period u
settlement. The fair value of CVRs is estimatedgighe present value of managemgmgiojection of the expected payments pursuartte
terms of the CVR agreement, which is the primarphservable input. If managemetrojection or expected payments were to inc
substantially, the value of the CVRs could increase result. The present value of the liabilityswalculated using a discount rate of%5
The Company determined that the fair value of tMRE, and the changes in such fair value, was immadtes of December 31, 2013 and
the period from the date of the Merger to Decendder2013.

Prior to the Merger, ANIR® warrants to purchase common and preferred stec& wlassified as derivative liabilities and wereasured i
fair value using level 3 inputs. The fair value stbck purchase warrants was determined using aste-process which included valu
ANIP's equity using both market and discounted d¢lst methods, and then apportioning that valuégign equity allocation model, to ei
of ANIP's classes of stock. These models requieeutbe of unobservable inputs such as fair valuANiP's common and preferred stc
expected term, anticipated volatility, future irtstrand interest rates, expected cash flows andutmeer of outstanding common and prefe
shares as of a future date. The Company deternthr@dthe fair value of the derivative liabilitiesnd the changes in such fair value,
immaterial as of and for the years ended Decembe?@L3 and 2012. All such stock purchase warmxpged in connection with the Merger.

The following table presents the Companjinancial assets and liabilities that were actedirior at fair value on a recurring basis &
December 31, 2013 and 2012, by level within thevfalue hierarchy:

(in thousands

Fair Value at
December 31,
Description 2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Liabilities
CVRs $ - % - % - % -
Fair Value at
December 31,
Description 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Liabilities
Warrants $ - $ - 3 - $ -

Non-Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fia Value on a Recurring Basis
The Company has no non-financial assets and ligsilihat are measured at fair value on a recubasis.
Non-Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fa Value on a Non-Recurring Basis
The Company measures its long-lived assets, inodupioperty, plant and equipment, intangible assetsgoodwill, at fair value on a non-

recurring basis. These assets are recognized ravdhie when they are deemed to be other-tearporarily impaired. No such fair va
impairment was recognized in the years ended DeeeB1h 2013 and 2012.
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7. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On September 17, 2010, the Company sold its operatiGulfport, Mississippi to a third-party. Thedadsion to sell the Gulfport operation
was based on its historical underperformance atwtieg losses and the anticipated need for coadrfinancing from outside sources to
maintain ongoing operations.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, total net linddiassociated with the discontinued operatiorev#ed.2 million and $ 0.4 million,
respectively, and consisted balances due to vaviendors of the discontinued operation and othmarging liabilities. These liabilities are
included in accrued expenses in the accompanyingatiolated balance sheets.

The gains on the discontinued operation totale@8%thousand and $ 68 thousand , net of $ 38 thousiadh $ 36 thousand of income tax
expense , for the years ended December 31, 2013C4r#] respectively and have been segregated foowncing operations in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatiomsng the year ended December 31, 2013, the@aitiscontinued operation was the
result of finalizing a portion of the remainingbifities . During the year ended December 31, 2012, theaaitiscontinued operation consis
of various vendor settlements.

8. LINE OF CREDIT

At December 31, 2013, all of the Company’s previlss of credit either expired or were repaid grhinated, with no amounts
outstanding. Prior to June 2012, the Company hacbtvings under a line of credit agreement with mptercial lender. Under the terms of a
forbearance agreement, amended in October 201 Cdimpany could borrow an amount equal to the lesstire borrowing base, as defined,
or $ 3.5 million. Interest accrued at an annuat oitthe Base Rate, as defined, plus 6.0% . Intiaddia usage fee equal to 0%bper annum ¢
the unused facility and a management fee equabBtthbusand per annum were assessed monthly. Adeflicredit was secured by
substantially all of the Company’s assets. The diheredit and amended forbearance agreement elipirdune 2012 and all amounts borrowe
were repaid in full at that time.

In June 2012, the Company entered into a new revddan agreement with a commercial bank in thewarhof $ 5.0 million.The revolve
loan agreement bore interest daily at the gredt@y bIBOR plus 5%, or (ii) 6%, and was secureddupstantially all of the Company’s assets.
In addition, a usage fee equal to 0.375 % per anviutme unused facility and a management fee emuilil8 thousand per annum were
assessed monthly. Under the agreement, the Conwamyequired to maintain a minimum fixed chargeecage ratio of 1.1 to 1.0, calculated
by dividing (a) (i) earnings before interest, tax@spreciation and amortization (EBITDA) less (ijfinanced capital expenditures, by the sum
of cash paid for (b) (i) interest and (ii) monitagiand advisory fees (Note 14). Also, the Compaay wequired to generate at least $0.8 millior
in EBITDA measured on a trailing four-quarter baBisstrictive covenants applied to, among otherghi research and development
expenditures, additional liens, mergers or conatilichs, and sales of assets. The Company was gotiipliance with certain covenants as of
December 31, 2012. The Company subsequently obtaimeaiver from its lender, the loan covenants wewésed, and the revolver loan limit
was increased to $ 6.0 million.

Beginning in 2013, the Company was required to taainra minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of .1.0. Also beginning in 2013, t
Company was required to generate at least 0.2omiiti EBITDA during the three month period endingrigh 31, 2013, $0.5 million in
EBITDA during the six month period ending June 3013, $0.7 million in EBITDA during the nine monpleriod ending September 30, 2013,
and $0.9 million in EBITDA for the year ended Dedem31, 2013 and for every quarterly period theezaheasured on a trailing four-quarter
basis. Restrictive covenants applied to, amongrdatiegs, additional liens, mergers or consolidagioand sales of assets. In the event of early
termination, the Company was required to pay agmeent fee of $ 0.2 million if termination occudri the first year, $ 0.1 million if
termination occurred in the second year, and $160gand if termination occurred after the secorat pet prior to the last day of the term. As
of December 31, 2012, $ 4.1 million was outstandinghe revolver, at an effective interest rat6.6f%. The revolver loan was repaid in full
in June 2013.
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9. REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

Prior to the Merger (Note 2), ANIP had four issuesmof redeemable convertible preferred stock: Sé&jaé, C and D. The ANIP’s Series
A, B, C and D preferred stock was redeemable abpiien of the holders, subject to certain addaiaequirements. The carrying value of
ANIP’s redeemable convertible preferred stock wisdased by the accretion of any related discamdsaccrued but unpaid dividends so tha
the carrying amount would equal the redemption amhatithe dates the stock became redeemable. AIN&®’'s Series D preferred stock was
exchanged for shares of BioSante common stock ko8l ANIP’s Series A, B and C preferred stock weenceled in conjunction with the
Merger (Note 2). There was no Series A, B, C, aefleemable convertible preferred stock outstandingecember 31, 2013.

The following table presents the highlights of eaelies of redeemable convertible preferred steaif ecember 31, 2012:

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Shares Dividend
Shares Issued and Carrying Stated Value Accrual per Accrued
Series Authorized Outstanding Value per share Annum Dividends
A 108 103 $ 11,579 $ 100 10% $ 2,186
B 119 78 $ 10,560 $ 110 10% $ 1,837
C 38 35 $ 4,815 $ 110 12% $ 994
D 3,400 2,375 $ 21,797 $ 30 10% $ 4,185

For all Series of redeemable convertible prefestedk, dividends compounded quarterly and werelglayia cash. All accrued dividends
were included in Redeemable Convertible PrefertedkSn the accompanying consolidated balance sheeich share of preferred stock was
initially convertible into one share of common #t@¢ ANIP at the option of the holder. The conversrate was subject to adjustment upon th
occurrence of certain events including the issuafckvidends payable in the form of common stackecapitalization, reorganization or other
similar change in the outstanding common stockipam the occurrence of certain dilutive financirgsdefined.

10. SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY
Authorized shares

The Company is authorized to issue up to 33.3 onil§hares of common stock with a par value of $LQ&er share, 0.8 million shares of
class C special stock with a par value of $0.00€&1spare, and 1.7 million shares of undesignatefeped stock with a par value of $0.0001
per share at December 31, 2013.

There were 9.6 million and 4.1 million shares afntoon stock issued and outstanding as of Decemh&03B and 2012, respectively.

There were 11 thousand shares of class C spéoidd issued and outstanding as of both Decembe2@ll3 and 2012. Each share of
class C special stock entitles its holder to orte per share. Each share of class C special stakchangeable, at the option of the holder, for
one share of the Company's common stock, at araegehprice of $ 90.00 per share, subject to adprstimpon certain capitalization events.
Holders of class C special stock are not entitteckteive dividends or to participate in the diition of the Company's assets upon any
liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Conmga The holders of class C special stock have moutative voting, preemptive,
subscription, redemption or sinking fund rights.

There were no shares of undesignated preferrell stastanding as of December 31, 2013 or 2012.
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10. SHAREHOLDER'’S EQUITY (Continued)
Equity Offerings

In the years leading up to the Merger 33iote completed several equity offerings. WhileSBiote's capital structure remains in place,
ANIP’s historical results of operations replace 8amte’'s (Note 2). All historical information is pided using share and per shares amounts
adjusted for the July 17, 2013 one-for-six revessé.

In August 2012, the Company completed a registdnextt offering of 393 thousand shares of its comrsimck and warrants to purchase
an aggregate of 197 thousand shares of its cominok at a purchase price of $8.835 per share tarmtigutional investor for gross proceeds
of $3.5 million. The offering resulted in net preds to the Company of $3.3 million after deducferement agent fees and offering
expenses. The warrants were exercisable immediatelycontinue for a period of five years, at arr@ge price of $9.00 per share. The nun
of shares issuable upon exercise of the warramtshenexercise price of the warrants are adjustalilee event of stock splits, combinations
and reclassifications, but not in the event ofifis@ance of additional securities.

Warrants issued prior to the Merger

Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 686 thousemdss(as adjusted for the July 17, 2013 one-foresierse split) of the Company's
common stock were outstanding and exercisable Beoémber 31, 2013:

(in thousands, except per share price)

Number of
Underlying Shares Per Share

Issue Date Of Common Stock Exercise Price Expiration Date

August 13, 200! 67 $ 90.00 August 12, 201
August 13, 200! 7% 90.00 June 9, 201.
March 8, 201( 145 $ 74.88 September 8, 201
March 8, 201( 6 $ 77.76 June 9, 201
June 23, 201 929 $ 88.20 June 23, 201
June 23, 201 6 $ 94.68 June 9, 201!
December 30, 201 147 $ 72.00 December 30, 201
December 30, 201 9 % 76.50 June 9, 201!
March 8, 201! 112 $ 81.00 March 8, 201«
March 8, 201 7% 92.88 June 9, 201
August 20, 201! 83 % 9.00 August 16, 201

During 2013, the Company issued no warrants.doeinber 2013, warrants to purchase an aggregatetbbusand shares of common

stock were exercised. During 2013, warrants tolpase an aggregate of 13 thousand shares of comownexpired unexercised. All warrants
are classified as equity.

During 2012, the Company issued warrants to puehasaggregate of 197 thousand shares of the Cgfsgammon stock in connection
with the August 2012 registered direct offeringdascribed above. During 2012, warrants to purchassggregate of 23 thousand shares of
common stock were exercised and warrants to puechiasiggregate of 16 thousand shares of the Corspaogmon stock expired
unexercised.
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11. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

All equity-based service awards are granted urite ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Amended and Resta@€8 Stock Incentive Plan (the
“2008 Plan”). As of December 31, 2013, 136 thousstmares of the Company’s common stock remainedadpbaifor issuance under the 2008
Plan.

The Company measures the cost of equity-basedcseswiards based on the grant-date fair value cdwaed. The cost is recognized over
the period during which an employee is requiredrtivide service in exchange for the award or tl@isite service period. The Company
recognizes stock-based compensation expense ratadrythe vesting periods of the awards, adjuste@$timated forfeitures. The non-cash,
stock-based compensation cost that was incurrebdebompany in connection with the 2008 Plan waé $housand and $ 0 for the years
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectivelghwhas included in sales, general and adminigg&xpense in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. No incomédaefit was recognized in the Company’s constdidatatements of operations for stock-
based compensation arrangements due to the Congpaetyfoss position.

Stock Options

Outstanding employee stock options generally vest a period of three or four years and have l1@r-gentractual terms. Upon exercise
of an option, the Company issues new shares obitsmon stock.

No options were granted by ANIP in 2012. For 2ah8,fair value of each option grant was estimatethe date of grant using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model, using the followingighted average assumptions:

2013
Expected option life (year: 6.25
Risk-free interest rat 1.72%
Expected stock price volatilil 55.0%

Dividend yield —

The Company uses the simplified method to estirtetdife of options. The risk-free interest rated is the yield on a United States
Treasury note as of the grant date with a mateudtyal to the estimated life of the option. The @any calculated an estimated volatility rate
based on the closing prices of several competit@smanufactureimilar products. The Company has not issued a daglend in the past n
does it have any current plans to do so in thedytand therefore, an expected dividend yield ob zeas used. Forfeitures are estimated at th
time of grant and revised through a cumulativelcaig adjustment in the period of change if actodkitures differ from those estimates. For
stock options granted during the year ended DeceBthe2013, the Company has estimated a forfeiateof zero.

In July 2013, the Company granted 21 thousand ogtio the non-officer directors under the 2008 Pl&he weighted average fair value
of the options at the date of grant for optionswgge during 2013 was $ 3.40 per share. BioSant®fdtousand stock options outstanding at
the date of the Merger. These continued as a rekthe Merger, as stock options previously issaied still outstanding under BioSardd?lan
became fully-vested on the date of the Merger .

On July 12, 2013, the Company'’s Board of Direcapproved grants of stock options to employees utide?008 Plan, subject to
shareholder approval of an increase in the totaleshavailable for issuance under the 2008 Plawof R2cember 31, 2013, the Company had
325 thousand common stock options outstanding pgretiareholder approval. Expense related to thiesk eptions will begin to be
recognized only upon shareholder approval.
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11. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

A summary of stock option activity under the Plamidg the year ended December 31, 2013 and 20d2sented below:

Weighted Weighted Aggregate

Option Average Average Intrinsic
(in thousands, except per share d Shares Exercise Price.  Remaining Term Value
Outstanding December 31, 20 18 $ 11.00 6.2 $ 0
Grantec - -
Exercisec - - 0
Forfeited or expire! (18) $ 11.00
Outstanding December 31, 20 - - - $ —
Exercisable at December 31, 2( - - - $ —
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, ! = = - $ =
Net BioSante Stock Options assun 9 $ 59.59
Grantec 21 $ 6.36
Exercisec - - —
Forfeited or expirel = =
Outstanding December 31, 20 120 3 50.35 24 $ 81
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 99 $ 59.59 09 $ —
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, ; 120 $ 50.35 24 % 81

As of December 31, 2013, there was $ 63 thousamat@ifunrecognized compensation cost related imvwested stock options granted
under the Plan. The cost is expected to be rezedriver a weighted-average period of 3.53 years.

Restricted Stock Awards

On November 1, 2013, the Company granted 50 #ralisrestricted stock awards (“RSAs”) to the nfficer directors under the 2008
Plan. No RSAs were granted in the year ended DeeeBih 2012. The RSAs vest one-third per year, twee years on the anniversary of the
grant date, provided that the director continuesetwe as a director of the Company on each ofékeing dates. Shares of the Company’s
common stock delivered to the directors will beastricted upon vestingQuring the vesting period, the recipient of thetnieted stock has fu
voting rights as a stockholder and would receiwédeinds, if declared, even though the restrictedkstemains subject to transfer restrictions
and will generally be forfeited upon terminationtieé director from the board prior to vesting. Taie value of each RSA is based on the
market value of the Company’s stock on the dagraft.
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11. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

A summary of RSA activity under the Plan during ylear ended December 31, 2013 is presented below:

Weighted

(in thousands, except per share Average Grant Weighted Average
data) Shares Date Fair Value Remaining Term (years)
Unvested at December 31, 2C - $ -

Grantec 50 $ 10.20

Vested - $ -

Forfeited - $ -

Unvested at December 31, 2C 50 § 10.20 2.84

As of December 31, 2013, there was $ 0.5 milliototdl unrecognized compensation cost related tewssted RSAs granted under the
Plan, which is expected to be recognized over glted-average period of 2.84 years.

12. INCOME TAXES

The Company'’s total provision (benefit) from incotages consists of the following for the years ehBecember 31, 2013 and 2012:

(in thousands 2013 2012
Current income tax provision (benefi
Federa $ 20 $ -
State > =
Total 20 -
Deferred income tax provision (benefi
Federal 635 (1,486
State (221, (35)
Total 414 (1,522
Change in valuation allowan (414, 1,522
Tax provision (benefit) from continuing operatic 20 (36)
Tax provision from discontinued operati 38 36
Total provision (benefit) for income tax $ 58 § -

The difference between the Company's expected iactm provision (benefit) from applying federaltatary tax rates to the prex
income (loss) from continuing operations and acivedme tax provision (benefit) from continuing ogions relates primarily to the effect
the following:

As of December 31

(in thousands 2013 2012

US Federal statutory ra 35.0% (34.0%
State taxes, net of Federal ben 1.0% (0.9%
Non-deductible expenst¢ 245.9% 17.7%
Change in valuation allowan (300.4% 100.7%
Change in tax rates and ott 34.6 % (85.7%
Total income tax provision (benef 16.1 94 (2.2
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12. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effetwifferences between the bases of assets antitlegfor financial reporting and incor
tax purposes. The Company's deferred income tatsaand liabilities consisted of the following:

As of December 31,

(in thousands 2013 2012
Deferred tax asset
Accruals and advanci $ 1,160 $ 383
Net operating loss carryforwa 16,409 11,271
Other 418 193
Total deferred tax asse 17,987 11,847
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciatior (220; (236,
Intangible assel (526, -
Other (374 (52)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (1,220 (288
Valuation allowanct (16,867 (11,559
Total deferred tax asset (liability), r $ - $ -

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had Fedetabperating loss carryforwards of approximately 353 million, which expir
beginning in 2018, and a portion of which arosa assult of the mergerThe utilization of the net operating loss carryfards may be limite
in future years as prescribed by Section 382 olil® Internal Revenue Code, which results in @medl tax asset related to the net oper
loss carryforward after application of the SectB®?2 limitations of approximately $ 16.4 million.

The Company is required to establish a valuatitowaince for deferred tax assets if, based on thighvef available evidence, it is m¢
likely than not that some portion or all of the eleéd tax assets will not be realized. The ultintatdization of deferred tax assets is deper
upon the generation of future taxable income dutimg periods in which those temporary differencesome deductible. The Comp:
considers the projected future taxable income ardlanning strategies in making this assessmesge® upon the level of historical taxe
income and projections for future taxable incoméhim periods which the deferred tax assets areatibth) the Company has determined tt
full valuation allowance is required as of Decem®®r2013 and 2012.

The Company is subject to income taxes in humepmisdictions in the United States. Significant gmdent is required in evaluating
Company'’s tax positions and determining its pravrisior income taxes. The Company establishes fiigsilfor taxrelated uncertainties bas
on estimates of whether, and the extent to whidtitmnal taxes will be due.These liabilities are established when the Comgmatigves the
certain positions might be challenged despiteélgebthat its tax return positions are fully supgable. The Company adjusts these liabilitie
light of changing facts and circumstances, sucth@asoutcome of a tax audit. The provision for ineotaxes includes the impact of change
the liability that is considered appropriate. Thanany has identified no material uncertain taxtos as of December 31, 2013.
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12. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

The Company is subject to income tax audits ijuaiédictions for which it files tax returns. Taxdits by their nature are often complex
and can require several years to complete. Neitlee€ompany nor any of its subsidiaries is curgemtider audit in any jurisdiction. All of the
Company'’s income tax returns remain subject to éxation by tax authorities due to the availabitifynet operating loss carryforwards.

13. COLLABORATIVE ARRANGEMENTS
RiconPharma LLC

In July 2011, the Company entered into a collalxgarrangement with RiconPharma LLC (“RiconPharmb/hder the parties' master
product development and collaboration agreemeet“@iconPharma Agreement”), the Company and Ricanfh have agreed to collaborate
in a cost, asset and profit sharing arrangemernthidevelopment, manufacturing, regulatory apdramd marketing of pharmaceutical
products in the United States.

In general, RiconPharma is responsible for devalpgie products and the Company is responsiblm&ufacturing, sales, marketing ¢
distribution of the products. The parties are jginésponsible for directing any bioequivalencedgts. The Company is responsible for
obtaining and maintaining all necessary regulasgrgrovals, including the preparation of all ANDAs.

Under the RiconPharma Agreement and unless othespiscified in an amendment, the parties will ogueadly all the rights, title and
interest in the products. To the extent permittgabplicable law, the Company will be identified thve product packaging as the manufacture
and distributor of the product. During the ternthod agreement, both parties are prohibited fronekbging, manufacturing, selling or
distributing any products that are identical ordgjoivalent to products covered under the RiconPaakgreement.

The Company recognizes the costs incurred withedp this agreement as expense and classifiexi@nses based on the nature of the
costs. In the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2@ Zompany incurred $0.7 million and $0.2 miilio research and development
expenses related to the RiconPharma AgreementeWmue has yet been recognized.

Sofgen Pharmaceuticals

In August 2013, the Company entered into an agraemi¢h Sofgen Pharmaceuticals (“Sofgen”) to depedn oral soft gel prescription
product indicated for cardiovascular health (theftfgn Agreement”). It will be subject to an ANDAIfig once developed. In general, Sofgen
will be responsible for the development, manufantuand regulatory submission of the product, idioig preparation of the ANDA, with the
Company providing payments based on the completi@ertain milestones. Upon approval, Sofgen walmafacture the drug and the
Company will be responsible for the marketing arsdrithution, under the ANI label, of the producttive U.S., providing a percentage of prc
from sales of the drug to Sofgen.

Under the Sofgen Agreement, Sofgen will own alltights, title and interest in the products. Durthg term of the Agreement, both
parties are prohibited from developing, manufaagyiselling or distributing any product that isritieal or bioequivalent to the product
covered under the Sofgen Agreement in the U.S.abineement may be terminated or amended underrcsgacified circumstances.

The Company recognizes the costs incurred withe@dp the Sofgen Agreement as expense and ctsstig expenses based on the

nature of the costs. In the year ended Decembe2®1, the Company incurred $0.2 million in resbad development expenses related to
the Sofgen Agreement. No revenue has yet been mexauh

76




ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Leases

The Company leases equipment under operating |8asesxpire in May 2017. The Company also lea$isecspace under operating
leases that expire beginning in February 2014 tjindbeptember 2018.

For the annual periods after December 31, 2013oappate minimum annual rental payments under remmzelable leases are presented
below:

(in thousands

Minimum
Annual Rental
Year Payments
2014 $ 148
201E 78
201¢€ 53
2017 44
201€ 29
Thereafte -
Total $ 352

Rent expense for the years ended December 31,8013012 totaled $ 36 thousand and $ 18 thousaspectively.

Monitoring and Advisory Fees

The Company was required to pay monitoring andsatyifees to two investors. A total of $ 0.5 mitliand $ 0.2 million are included in
other expense in the accompanying consolidatednstatts of operations for the years ended Decenih@033 and 2012, respectively. These
fees were paid quarterly in advance on the firsiriess day of each calendar quarter.

Included in the amounts above and in conjunctiaih wWie Merger, the Company paid additional monitgand advisory fees totalingd$4
million to the same two investors (Note 2). Upomptetion of the Merger, the Company’s obligatiorpty monitoring and advisory fees was
terminated.

Government Regulation

The Company's products and facilities are subgectdgulation by a number of federal and state gowental agencies. The Food and D
Administration ("FDA"), in particular, maintains exsight of the formulation, manufacture, distributi packaging and labeling of all of the
Company's products. The Drug Enforcement Admintistna"DEA") maintains oversight over the Comparpreducts that are considered
controlled substances.

Unapproved Products
Two of the Company’s products, Esterified Estrogéth Methyltestosterone tablets and Opium Tinctare, marketed without

approved New Drug Applications ("NDAs") or Abbretdd New Drug Applications ("ANDAS"). During the yseended December 31, 2013
and 2012, net revenues for these products totaled&million and $ 6.0 million, respectively.
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14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

The FDA's policy with respect to the continued nesirkg of unapproved products is stated in the F3&ptember 2011 Compliance
Policy Guide Sec. 440.100 titled “Marketed New Dswgthout Approved NDAs or ANDAs.” Under this pajicthe FDA has stated that it will
follow a risk-based approach with regard to enforert against such unapproved products. The FDAuated whether to initiate enforcement
action on a case-by-case basis, but gives highanitgrto enforcement action against products irtaia categories, such as those marketed as
unapproved drugs with potential safety risks ot thek evidence of effectiveness. The Company besdhat so long as it complies with
applicable manufacturing and labeling standartie RDA will not take action against it under thereat enforcement policy . There can be no
assurance, however, that the FDA will continue gmcy or not take a contrary position with angividual product or group of products. If
the FDA were to take a contrary position, the Comypaay be required to seek FDA approval for theseycts or withdraw such products
from the market.

In addition, one group of products that the Compamayufactures on behalf of a contract customeraikated by that customer without an
FDA-approved NDA. If the FDA took enforcement actiagainst such customer, the customer may be estjtorseek FDA approval for the
group of products or withdraw them from the marRéte Company's contract manufacturing revenuethfogroup of unapproved products for
the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 w#s fiflion and $ 1.4 million, respectively.

The Company received royalties on the net salesgsbup of contraatanufactured products, which are marketed by tinéract custome
without an FDA-approved NDA. If the FDA took enfernent action against such customer, the customghbmeequired to seek FDA
approval for the group of products or withdraw thigam the market. The Company's royalties on thesakes of these unapproved product:
the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 we3@ $h8usand and $ 284 thousand, respectively.

In October 2012, the Company received a telephalieerjuesting a meeting with the FDA represengatifrom the Minneapolis district
the FDA to discuss continued manufacturing andidigion of the Opium 10mg/mL Solution 118mL prot¢{tOpium Tincture”) , which is a
Non-NDA Product. That meeting was held on October2Z8,2 by conference telephone call and included FEpkesentatives from the Office
of Compliance at the Center for Drug Evaluation Redearch. Counsel to the Company sent a lettaet6DA on November 9, 2012 in
support of the Company'’s position. Although the FBgxfirmed receipt of this letter, the Company hexived no further response thereto. If
the FDA were to make a determination that the Comgauld not continue to sell Opium Tincture asuaapproved product, the Company
would be required to seek FDA approval for suctdpod or withdraw such product from the markethd Company determined to withdraw
the product from the market, the Company 's netmaes for generic pharmaceutical products woultirdematerially, and if the Company
decided to seek FDA approval, it would face inceglasxpenses and might need to suspend sales mfathect until such approval is obtained,
and there are no assurances that the Company wendd/e such approval.

Shareholder Class Action and Derivative Lawsuits

On February 3, 2012, a purported class action lawss filed in the United States District Court fbe Northern District of lllinois under
the caption Thomas Lauria, on behalf of himself alhdthers similarly situated v. BioSante Pharnudicals, Inc. and Stephen M. Simes
naming the Company and its former President anéf@hiecutive Officer, Stephen M. Simes, as defetedarhe complaint alleges that certain
of the Company’s disclosures relating to the effjcaf LibiGel® and its commercial potential were false and/or eaiding and that such false
and/or misleading statements had the effect di@atiy inflating the price of the Company’s settigs resulting in violations of Section 10(b)
of the Exchange Act, Rule 10b-5 and Section 20{#)@Exchange Act.

Although a substantially similar complaint wasdile the same court on February 21, 2012, such @nmpvas voluntarily dismissed by
the plaintiff in April 2012. The plaintiff soughttrepresent a class of persons who purchased ting&ty’'s securities between February 12,
2010 and December 15, 2011, and sought unspecifiegpensatory damages, equitable and/or injuncéiefy and reasonable costs, expert
fees and attorney$tes on behalf of such purchasers. On Novembed1,2he plaintiff filed a consolidated amended ptaimt. On Decembe
28, 2012, the Company and Mr. Simes filed motiandismiss the consolidated amended complaint. @teS®er 11, 2013, the lllinois distr
court judge granted defendants’ motions to disnvigthiout prejudice, and gave plaintiffs 28 daydilwan amended complaint. The plaintiffs
did not file an amended complaint and the matterlde®en concluded.
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14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

On May 7, 2012, Jerome W. Weinstein, a purportedk$tolder of the Company, filed a shareholder @gire action in the United States
District Court for the Northern District of Illlineiunder the caption Weinstein v. BioSante Pharntaeds, Inc. et al., naming the Company’s
directors as defendants and the Company as a nbdefeandant. A substantially similar complaint wWiesd in the same court on May 22, 2012
and another substantially similar complaint waadfiin the Circuit Court for Cook County, IllinoiSpunty Department, Chancery Division, on
June 27, 2012. The suits generally related todngesevents that are the subject of the class ddigation described above. The complaints
allege breaches of fiduciary duty, abuse of congmlss mismanagement and unjust enrichment assafisiction occurring from at least
February 2010 through December 2011. The complag#k unspecified damages, punitive damages, aogdtdisbursements and unspecified
reform and improvements in the Company’s corpogateernance and internal control procedures.

On September 24, 2012, the United States DistoerCconsolidated the two shareholder derivativwesaefore it and on November 20,
2012, the plaintiffs filed their consolidated amedaomplaint. On January 11, 2013, the defenddatsd motion to dismiss the amended
complaint. On September 11, 2013, the lllinoisrdistourt judge granted defendantsbtions to dismiss, without prejudice, and gavénpiés
28 days to file an amended complaint. The plfigdid not file an amended complaint and the distourt matter has been concluded.

On November 27, 2012, the plaintiff in the shardbolderivative action pending in lllinois state ddiled an amended complaint. On
January 18, 2013, the defendants filed a motiatigmiss the amended complaint. On July 1, 2013llliheis state court judge granted
defendants’ motions to dismiss, without prejudaneg gave plaintiffs until July 31, 2013 to file amended complaint. On September 9, 201:
the lllinois state court judge granted defendamistion to dismiss, with prejudice. On October 9120he plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal to
lllinois state appellate court. The Company belgethee state court complaint is without merit antl eantinue to defend the action vigorously.

Management is unable to predict the outcome ofeh®ining lawsuit and the possible loss or randes, if any, associated with its
resolution or any potential effect the lawsuit niye on the Company’s operations. Depending oodbeme or resolution of the remaining
lawsuit, it could have a material effect on the @amy’s operations, including its financial conditjoesults of operations, or cash flows. No
amounts have been accrued related to this legahaas of December 31, 2013.

Louisiana Medicaid Lawsuit

On September 11, 2013, the Attorney General oftate of Louisiana filed a lawsuit in Louisianatsteourt against the Company and
numerous other pharmaceutical companies, undesusastate laws, alleging that each defendant cathsestate’s Medicaid agency to provide
reimbursement for drug products that allegedly wereapproved by the FDA and therefore allegedlyramnbursable under the federal
Medicaid program. The lawsuit relates to three toaigd cold prescription products manufactured atdtsy the Company’s former Gulfport,
Mississippi operation, which was sold in Septen##0. Through its lawsuit, the state seeks ungpéaifamages, statutory fines, penalties,
attorney’s fees and costs. On October 15, 2013¢fendants removed the lawsuit to the U.S. Dis@murt. On November 14, 2013, the state
filed a motion to remand the lawsuit to the Louisisstate court. While the Company cannot prede&btiitcome of the lawsuit at this time, it
could be subject to material damages, penaltiediaag. The Company intends to vigorously defengiragf all claims in the lawsuit.
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14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

Other Commitments and Contingencies

All manufacturers of the drug Regl&mnd its generic equivalent metoclopramide, inclgdiee Company, are facing allegations from
plaintiffs in various states claiming bodily injas as a result of ingestion of metoclopramidesobiind name Regl&prior to the FDA's
February 2009 Black Box warning requirement. Thenfany has been named and served in 85 separatéatmisdncluding three in
Pennsylvania, nine in New Jersey, and 73 in Califgrcovering 2,934 plaintiffs in total. In Augu&®12, the Company was dismissed with
prejudice from all New Jersey cases. Managemergiders the Company’exposure to this litigation to be limited dueséwveral factors: (1) tl
only generic metoclopramide manufactured by the @amy prior to the implementation of the FDA's wamrequirement was an oral solution
introduced after May 28, 2008; (2) the Company’skatashare for the oral solution was a very smaitipn of the overall metoclopramide
market; and (3) once the Company received a redpieshange of labeling from the FDA, it submitiégiproposed changes within 30 days,
and such changes were subsequently approved IRRDAeAt the present time, management is unablessess the likely outcome of the
remaining cases. The Company’s insurance compangssumed the defense of this matter. In additrenCompany’s insurance company
renewed the Company’s product liability insuranoeSeptember 1, 2012 and 2013 with absolute excladiar claims related to Regl&mand
metoclopramide. Management is unable to predicbtlieome of these matters and the possible losmnge of loss, if any, associated with
their resolution or any potential effect the legefion may have on the Company’s operations. Furtbe2, management cannot provide
assurances that the outcome of these mattersatilave an adverse effect on its business, resiutigerations, financial condition, and cash
flow. Like all pharmaceutical manufacturers, ther@any in the future may be exposed to other prolitmtity claims, which could harm its
business, results of operations, financial condjtand cash flows.

15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Asset Purchase

In December 2013, the Company entered into an aggeeto purchase Abbreviated New Drug Applicati@®dNDAS”) to produce 31
generic drug products from Teva Pharmaceuticats,(IfTeva”) for $12.5 million in cash an d a pertage of future gross profits from product
sales . According to the terms of the agreementa Teas required to provide soft copy materials tansfer ownership of the ANDASs to the
Company within five business days of signing theeament, and the Company was required to and didhesfirst installment of $ 8.5 million
upon receipt thereof.eva provided the soft copy materials and transteawnership of the ANDAs to the Company on Jan@aB014 and tt
Company paid the first installment of $8.5 millitmTeva on January 2, 2014. Teva was also reqtirpdovide hard copy materials to the
Company within 90 days of signing the asset purelgseement and the Company will pay the balanoa wgceipt of hard copy materials.
The drug products include 20 solid-oral immediaease products, four extended release productsenmuh liquid products. Management
performed an assessment of the assets purchasel@t@nchined that this transaction was an assehpsecand not a business combination. Th
ANDAs were not recorded as of December 31, 201&heagxchange did not take place until 2014. ThéAKN will be amortized in full over
their useful lives, averaging 10 years.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Account&mon Accounting and Financial Disclosure

On June 19, 2013, after completion of the Merder,Audit Committee of the Company’s Board of Dicestdismissed Deloitte & Touche
LLP as the Company’s independent registered palgliounting firm and appointed EisnerAmper LLP a&sG@ompanys independent register
public accounting firm for the year ending DecemB&r2013, both with immediate effect. The Compaitially reported this change in a
Form 8-K dated June 19, 2013 and filed with the ®BQune 21, 2013.

Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

Disclosure controls and procedures are controlsoéimer procedures that are designed to ensurénfoamation required to be disclosed in
the Company’s reports filed or submitted underSbkeurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (tkeH&nhge Act"), is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time period€i§pe in the Securities and Exchange Commissianés and forms. Disclosure controls
and procedures include, without limitation, corgrahd procedures designed to ensure that informegiguired to be disclosed in the
Company’s reports filed under the Exchange Actiuanulated and communicated to management, inguti|m Company's principal
executive officer and principal financial officexs appropriate, to allow timely decisions regardiqguired disclosure.

The Company’s management has carried out an ei@yander the supervision and with the particpainf the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, tieteffectiveness of the design and operation o€tbrapany’s disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 5%el Linder the Exchange Act), as of December 313 2Based upon that evaluation, the
Company'’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finah®fficer have concluded that, as of the end efgglriod covered by this report, the
Company'’s disclosure controls and procedures wigzetave.

Managemen's Annual Report on Internal Control over FinanciaReporting

The Company’s management is responsible for estabfj and maintaining adequate internal control ttwe Company’s financial
reporting. Internal control over financial repodiis defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) untherExchange Act as a process designed b
or under the supervision of, a company'’s princgacutive and principal financial officers and eféal by a company’s board of directors,
management and other personnel to provide reasoaablurance regarding the reliability of finanogdorting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancelih GAAP. The Compang'internal control over financial reporting inclsd@ose policie
and procedures that:

. pertain to the maintenance of records thateasonable detail, accurately and fairly refteamisactions and dispositions of its assets;

. provide reasonable assurance that transaci@recorded as necessary to permit prepardtfimaacial statements in accordance
with U.S. GAAP, and that receipts and expenditaresbeing made only in accordance with authoripatmf management and directors; and

. provide reasonable assurance regarding piewesr timely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose, or disposition of assets that
could have a material effect on the Company’s clasied financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @etaisstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Ceiapaternal control over financial reporting as@écember 31, 2013. In making this

assessment, management used the criteria sebfotlle Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission (“COSQO”) in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (1992).
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Based on this assessment, the Company’s managéasnbncluded that, as of December 31, 2013, tingp&oy’s internal control over
financial reporting is effective based on thos¢ecia.

This report does not include an attestation repiottte Company’s independent registered public aeting firm regarding internal control
over financial reporting, as such attestation israquired.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportm

The Company is currently integrating BioSante’s AhNIP’s business processes and information systerasiding internal controls. This
work began immediately upon completion of the Memyed continued throughout calendar year 2013.

There was no change in the Company'’s internal obatrer financial reporting during the quarter eshd@cember 31, 2013 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evélly affect, the Company’s internal control o¥i@ancial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART Il
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Rgistrant

The text of the Company’s Code of Ethics, whichlaso the Company’s principal executive officgfincipal financial officer, principal
accounting officer or controller, and persons peniag similar functions, is posted on the Companyé&bsite, www.anipharmaceuticals.com,
under the “Corporate Governance” subsection ofliineestors” section of the site. The Company wiadose on its website amendments to,
and, if any are granted, waivers of, its Code diic&t for its principal executive officer, principfthancial officer, or principal accounting
officer, controller, or persons performing simifanctions.

Information required by this item with respecthe Company’s directors will be set forth under¢hption “Election of Directors” in the
Company’s definitive proxy statement for the Compar2014 annual meeting, to be filed with the SE€spant to Regulation 14A no later
than 120 days after the close of the Company’silfigear, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Information required by this item with respecthe Company's executive officers will be set fortider the caption “Executive Officers of
the Company” in the Company's definitive proxy etaent for the Company's 2014 annual meeting, fildgewith the SEC pursuant to
Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after theelof the Company’s fiscal year, and is incorpatderein by reference.

Information required by this item with respect tompliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Adt e set forth under the caption
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Coigapte” in the Company's definitive proxy statemfenthe Company's 2014 annual
meeting , to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Ratinn 14A no later than 120 days after the clasthe Company’s fiscal year, and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Information required by this item with respect e taudit committee of the Company, the audit cotemitinancial expert of the Company
and any material changes to the way in which the@my's security holders may recommend nominetteet€@ompany’s Board of Directors
will be set forth under the caption “Corporate Gmamce” in the Company's definitive proxy statenfenthe Company's 2014 annual
meeting , to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Ratinn 14A no later than 120 days after the clasthe Company’s fiscal year, and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required by this item with respect t@eutive compensation will be set forth under thption “Executive Compensation” in
the Company’s definitive proxy statement for ther@any’s 2014 annual meeting, to be filed with the SEGpant to Regulation 14A no lat
than 120 days after the close of the Company’sifigear, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

Information required by this item with respect &xgrity ownership of certain beneficial owners amhagement will be set forth under
captions “Security Ownership of Certain Benefiéalners” and “Security Ownership of Directors anaéixtive Officers in the Company's
definitive proxy statement for the Company's 20@Awal meeting, to be filed with the SEC pursuarRégulation 14A no later than 120 days
after the close of the Company’s fiscal year, igridcorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ns, and Director Independence
Information required by this item with respect @tain relationships and related transactions @nedtr independence will be set forth
under the captions “Certain Relationships and Rdl@ransactions” and “Corporate Governance” inGhenpany’s definitive proxy statement

for the Company's 2014 annual meeting, to be fiflgd the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no latentthi20 days after the close of the
Company’s fiscal year, and is incorporated hebgimeference.
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information required by this item with respect tinpipal accounting fees and services will be sethfunder the caption “Ratification of
Selection of Independent Registered Public Accaurtan the Company’s definitive proxy statementttee Company's 2014 annual meeting,
to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation I¥Aater than 120 days after the close of the Gos fiscal year, and is incorporated

herein by reference.
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PART IV.

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

Documents filed as part of this report on Form 10-K

(&) Financial Statements:
The consolidated balance sheets of the Registsaof December 31, 2013 and 2012, the relatesotidated statements of operations,
changes in stockholders' equity/(deficit), and déshis for each of the years ended December 313 20 2012, the footnotes thereto,
and the reports of EisnerAmper LLP, independensteged public accounting firm, are filed herew

(b)  Financial Statement Schedules
All schedules have been omitted because thegarapplicable or the required information is irdgd in the consolidated financial
statements or notes there

(c)  Exhibits
Exhibits included or incorporated by reference mergee Exhibit Index on page ¢
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, théoedmy authorized.

ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ Arthur S. Przyby
Arthur S. Przyby
President and Chief Executive Offic
(principal executive officet

Date: February 28, 2014

By: /s/ Charlotte C. Arnol(
Charlotte C. Arnolc
Vince President, Finance and
Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer’

Date: February 28, 2014

Pursuant to the requirements the Securities Ex@haArgof 1934, this report has been signed belowhbyfollowing persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the datéisated.

Name Capacity Date
/ s/ Arthur S. Przyby Director, President and February 28, 2014
Arthur S. Przyby Chief Executive Officer
/ s/ Robert E. Brown, Ji Director and Chairman of the Board of February 28, 2014
Robert E. Brown, Ji Directors
/ s/ Fred Holubow Director February 28, 2014
Fred Holubow
/ s/ Ross Mangan Director February 28, 2014
Ross Mangan
/s/ Tracy L. Marshbanks, Ph.| Director February 28, 2014

Tracy L. Marshbanks, Ph.I

/s/ Thomas A. Pen Director February 28, 2014
Thomas A. Pen

/s/ Daniel Rayno Director February 28, 2014
Daniel Raynol
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ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

EXHIBIT INDEX TO ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

Exhibit
No. Exhibit Method of Filing
21 Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Medlgexd as of April 12 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to ANI's
2013, by and among BioSante Pharmaceuticals,ANl. Merger Sub, Inc.  Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
and ANIP Acquisition Company (1) Securities and Exchange Commission on April
2013 (File No. 00-31812)
2.2 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of Decemb&028, by and between Filed herewith
ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Teva Pharmaceutld8la, Inc. (2)
3.1 Certificate of Amendment of the Restated Certitoatt Incorporation of Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to ANI's
BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dated as of JulpQ¥3, Certificate of Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
Amendment of the Restated Certificate of Incorgorabf BioSante quarter ended June 30, 2013 (File No. 001-3181.:
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dated as of June 1, 201PRastated Certificate of
Incorporation of BioSante Pharmaceuticals,
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of BioSante Pharmaedsitinc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to ANI's
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 1
2010 (File No. 00-31812)
4.1 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued bga&ite Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ANI's
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. with an Initial Exercise Dafté\ugust 13, 2009 Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on
August 14, 2009 (File No. 0-31812)
4.2 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued bgdite Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ANI's
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. with an Initial Exercise Daft&eptember 2010 Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Mart
2010 (File No. 00-31812)
4.3 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued bgdite Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ANI's
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. with an Initial Exercise Daftdune 2010 Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 2
2010 (File No. 00-31812)
4.4 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued bga&ite Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ANI's
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. with an Initial Exercise Dait®ecember 2010 Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on
December 29, 2010 (File No. (-31812)
4.5 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued bgdite Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ANI's

Pharmaceuticals, Inc. with an Initial Exercise Daftdlarch 2011

Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Mart
2011 (File No. 00-31812)




Exhibit
No.

Exhibit

Method of Filing

4.6

10.1*

10.2*

10.3*

10.4*

10.5*

10.6*

10.7*

10.8*

10.9*

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued bgdite
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. with an Initial Exercise Dafté&ugust 2012

Amended and Restated Employment Letter Agreemaktéddas of July 16,

2008, between BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. aggh8h M. Simes

Amended and Restated Employment Letter Agreemaigddas of July 16,

2008, between BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. aillipFBr Donenberg

ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Third Amended and Redt2#08 Stock
Incentive Plan

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement underAihd
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Third Amended and Restaté8 Sdock Incentive
Plan

Form of Non-Statutory Option Agreement under thel AN
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Third Amended and Restaté8 3dock Incentive
Plan

Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement betwAdl|
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its Non-Employee Directémder the ANI
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Third Amended and Restat®é8 Sdock Incentive
Plan

BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Amended and Resi®@8 Stock Plan

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement UnderBi@Sante
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Amended and Restated 19%& $fan

Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement Unither BioSante
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Amended and Restated 19%& $lan

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ANI's
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on
August 17, 2012 (File No. 0-31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Al
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on July 18
2008 (File No. 00-31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Al
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on July 18
2008 (File No. 00-31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Al
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 1
2012 (File No. 00-31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Al
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 1
2012 (File No. 00-31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Al
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 1
2012 (File No. 00-31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Al
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 1
2008 (File No. 001-31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Al
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 1
2006 (File No. 00-31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to
ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 (File
No. 001-31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to
ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 (File
No. 001-31812)




Exhibit
No.

Exhibit

Method of Filing

10.10*

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

Form of Indemnification Agreement between BioSante
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and each of its DirectorsExetutive Officers

License Agreement, dated June 13, 2000, betweendder Technologie,
AG (renamed as Antares Pharma IPL AG) and BioSante
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (3)

Amendment No. 1 to the License Agreement, dated gy001, by and
between Antares Pharma IPL AG and BioSante Phawutiaats, Inc. (3)

Amendment No. 2 to the License Agreement, dated 92001, between
Antares Pharma IPL AG and BioSante Pharmaceutitais(3)

Amendment No. 3 to the License Agreement, datedu&ug0, 2001,
between Antares Pharma IPL AG and BioSante Phautiaats, Inc. (3)

Amendment No. 4 to the License Agreement, datedu&ug, 2002,
between Antares Pharma IPL AG and BioSante Phawutiaats, Inc. (3)

Amendment No. 5 to the License Agreement, dateceBéer 30, 2002,
between Antares Pharma IPL AG and BioSante Phaurtiaats, Inc.

Amendment No. 6 to the License Agreement, datedliget20, 2006,
between Antares Pharma IPL AG and BioSante Phauriaats, Inc. and

Letters, dated October 27, 2006, November 6, 2806 November 7, 2006,

from BioSante Pharmaceuticals to Antares PharmaABlRegarding the
License Agreement (:

License Agreement, dated December 3, 2008, by atvadden BioSante
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Azur Pharma Internatibriamited (3)

Amendment No. 1 to License Agreement and AssettRisic Agreement,

dated November 30, 2009, by and between BioSardmRiteuticals, Inc.

and Azur Pharma International Il Limited (3)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to
ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2007 (File No.-
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to
ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2010 (File No.-
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to
ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2010 (File No.-
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to
ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-KSB40 for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2001 (File No. 0
28637)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to
ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2010 (File No.-
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to
ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2010 (File No.-
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to
ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2010 (File No.-
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to
ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2010 (File No.-
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Al
Current Report on Form 8-K/A as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 7
2010 (File No. 00-31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Al
Current Report on Form 8-K/A as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 7
2010 (File No. 00-31812)




Exhibit
No.

Exhibit

Method of Filing

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

Development and License Agreement, dated Decenh&?2, between
BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Teva Pharmaedsuti SA, Inc.

First Amendment to Development and License Agreentzted March 13,
2003, between BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Pearmaceuticals

USA, Inc.

Letter Agreement, dated June 4, 2007, between BieSa
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Teva Pharmaceuticals UfARegarding
Development and License Agreement between TevanRitauticals
USA, Inc. and BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. effeddecember 27, 20C

Third Amendment to Development and License Agredmnedfective
October 18, 2012, by and between Teva Pharmackut&, Inc. and

BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Department of Veterans Affairs Federal Supply Safe@€ontract Award t
ANIP Acquisition Company, d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticdig., effective Jul
15, 2012, and Product Number Change Request, dafgast 22, 2012

Sublicense Agreement, dated as of October 30, 2808nd between ANIP
Acquisition Company, d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticals, lland Jazz

Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (3)

Supplier Agreement Multisource and Onestop Genétiogram, dated as
November 1, 2010, by and between McKesson Cormoraind ANIF

Acquisition Company (3)

Master Product Development and Collaboration Agerdated as of Ju
11, 2011, by and among ANIP Acquisition Companyal/ANI

Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and RiconPharma LLC (3)

Amended and Restated Manufacturing and Supply Agee¢, dated as of
June 10, 2008, between ANIP Acquisition Companly/adANI
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and Alaven Pharmaceutitals, and Addendum
No. 1 thereto, dated as of December 1, 2010, amttAdum No. 2 theret

dated as of July 10, 2012 (

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Al
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended September 30, 2012 (File No. 001
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Al
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended September 30, 2012 (File No. 001
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Al
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended September 30, 2012 (File No. 001
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Al
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended September 30, 2012 (File No. 001
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.54 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. -185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.55 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. 3-185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.56 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. 3-185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57 to
ANI's Amendment No. 1 to Registration
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(File No. 33:-185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.58 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391)
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10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32*

10.33*

10.34*

10.35*

10.36*

Generic Wholesale Service Agreement, dated as gfIM2006, between
ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Cardinal Health, tFAiiendment to
Generic Wholesale Service Agreement, dated aslpfliy 2008, Letter

Agreement, dated as of July 10, 2008, regardinigmasent of the Generic

Wholesale Service Agreement to ANIP Acquisition Qamy, d/b/a ANI
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Letter from Cardinal Healtited December 22,
2008 Regarding Increase in Base Service Fee, auh8&mendment to

Generic Wholesale Service Agreement, dated Map¥2%3)

Development, Manufacturing and Supply Agreementedias of February

5, 2009, by and between ANI Pharmaceuticals, Ind.@ounty Line

Pharmaceuticals, LLC, and Addendum to Developmdahufacturing and

Supply Agreement, dated as of June 12, 201

Manufacturing Transfer and Supply Agreement, daedch 31, 2010, by

and between ANIP Acquisition Company, d/b/a ANI Phaceuticals, Inc.,

and County Line Pharmaceuticals, LLC, and Addentuianufacturing

Transfer and Supply Agreement, dated as of Jun2ait2(3)

Employment Letter Agreement, dated February 259289 and between

ANIP Acquisition Company, d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticéis.,

S. Przybyl

and Arthur

Employment Letter Agreement, dated May 6, 2009y between ANIP
Acquisition Company, d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inand Charlotte C.

Arnold

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2007,ruy/leetween ANIP

Acquisition Company and James Marken

Transaction Bonus Agreement, dated September 22, 2y and between

ANIP Acquisition Company and Arthur Przybyl

Transaction Bonus Agreement, dated September 22, 2y and between

ANIP Acquisition Company and Charlotte Arnold

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.59 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.60 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. 3-185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.61 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. 3-185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.62 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. -185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.63 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. 3-185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.64 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. -185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.65 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. -185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.66 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. 3-185391)
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10.37*

10.38*

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

10.43*

10.44*

10.45*

Transaction Bonus Agreement, dated September 22, 2y and between
ANIP Acquisition Company and James Marken

Transaction Bonus Agreement, dated September 22, 2y and between
ANIP Acquisition Company and Robert Jamnick

Letter Agreement regarding fee payment, dated &ctsber 3, 2012, by
and between ANIP Acquisition Company and MVP Mamaget Company

Letter Agreement regarding fee payment, dated &ctfber 3, 2012, by
and between ANIP Acquisition Company and Healths&teie Capital
LLC

Loan and Security Agreement, dated June 6, 20Xiglem Alostar Bank of
Commerce and ANIP Acquisition Company

Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 28, B@tween ANIF
Acquisition Company, Meridian Venture Partnerd IR. and the other
parties thereto

Amendment No. 1 to Transaction Bonus AgreemenediBecember 28,

2012, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company anihér S. Przybyl

Amendment No. 1 to Transaction Bonus AgreemengdiBecember 28,
2012, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company ahdr®tte Arnold

Amendment No. 2 to Transaction Bonus Agreemengdiapril 12, 2013,
by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and ArtRurybyl

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.67 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. -185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.68 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. -185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.69 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. -185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.70 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. -185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.71 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. -185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.72 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. 3-185391)
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ANI's Amendment No. 1 to Registration
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and Exchange Commission on January 18, 2013
(File No. 33:-185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.74 to
ANI's Amendment No. 1 to Registration
Statement on Form %-as filed with the Securiti¢
and Exchange Commission on January 18, 2013
(File No. 33:-185391)
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10.46*

10.47*

10.48*

10.49

10.50*

10.51*

10.52*

16.1

21

23.1

31.1

31.2

32.1

Amendment No. 2 to Transaction Bonus Agreemengdiapril 12, 2013,
by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and Chazlétrnold

Amendment No. 1 to Transaction Bonus Agreemenediapril 12, 2013,
by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and Jamaskigh

Amendment No. 1 to Transaction Bonus Agreemengdiapril 12, 2013,
by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and RoBanhnick

First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreementdlais of April 11,
2013, between Alostar Bank of Commerce and ANIPuigitjion Company

Amendment No. 3 to Transaction Bonus Agreemengdias of June 18,
2013, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company anihér S. Przybyl

Amendment No. 3 to Transaction Bonus Agreemengdias of June 18,
2013, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company ahdrtte Arnold

Employment Letter Agreement, dated July 11, 20¥3rd between ANIP
Acquisition Company d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inend Robert
Schrepfel

Letter from Deloitte & Touche LLP, dated June 2012, regarding change
in certifying accountants

List of subsidiarie:

Consent of EisnerAmper LL

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant$EC Rule 12-14
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant$EC Rule 13-14
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chiginancial Officer

Pursuant to Rule 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adgutesiant to Section 9
of the Sarban«-Oxley Act of 2002

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.82 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
April 26, 2013 (File No. 33-188174)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.83 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
April 26, 2013 (File No. 33-188174)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.84 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.85 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
April 26, 2013 (File No. 33-188174)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Al
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 2
2013 (File No. 00-31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Al
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101** The following materials from ANI Pharmaceuticals¢fs Annual Report  Furnished herewith
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December2813, formatted in
XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) th@ audited
consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the audited dimt@ged Statements of
Operations, (i) the audited consolidated StateimehStockholders’
Equity; (iv) the audited consolidated Statement€ash Flows, and
(v) Notes to consolidated Financial Stateme

(1) All exhibits to this exhibit have been omittedrsuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. AMII furnish the omitted exhibits to the
SEC upon request by the SE

(2) Confidential treatment has been requested witheddp redacted portions of this docum
(3) Confidential treatment has been granted with redpe®dacted portions of this docume

* Management contract or compensatory plan omgeement required to be filed as an exhibit to #msual report on Form 10 K pursuant
to Item 15(a)

**  Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the RBrelated information in Exhibit 101 to this anhueport on Form 10k shall not b
deemed to be “filedfor purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exghafict of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subijeittetdiability of
that section, and shall not be deemed part of stragon statement, prospectus or other docunitstt tinder Section 11 or 12 of
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or otherwibgestito the liability of those sections, excepshall be expressly set forth by spe«
reference in such filing:
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Exhibit 2.2
ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT
THIS ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement) is made and entered into effective as of Decan?iie 2013 (the “
Effective Date”), by and between Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc.,lavidee corporation and those of its affiliates than the ANDAs (a

defined below) (collectively, “ Tevg, on the one hand, and ANI Pharmaceuticals, lm®glaware corporation (* Buy&y, on the other hand.

WHEREAS , Teva owns certain ANDAs and other assets thapareof the Purchased Assets (as defined beloth) nespect to tt
generic pharmaceutical products listed on Exhibith® “ Products, as further defined below) within the Territory;

WHEREAS, Buyer wishes to purchase the Purchased AssetsTewma, all upon the terms and subject to the camtithereinafter s
forth;

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the mutual covenants and itmms hereinafter expressed, Buyer and Teva age
follows:

1. For purposes of this Agreement, the following tetrage the following meaning

(a) “_Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person named hereingtamy Person that is controlled by, controls,s
under common control with the named Person. “tf@bi of a business entity means any of: (i) direct alirect beneficial ownership of fif

percent (50%) of more of the voting interest intsaatity, (i) the right to appoint fifty perceri@o) or more of the directors or manageme
such entity, or (iii) the power to otherwise dirétmé management and policies of such entity.

(b) “ ANDAs" means all the right, title and interest in, to amdler the Abbreviated New Drug Applications filedh
the FDA pursuant to its rules and regulations awetuded on Exhibit A

(c) “_Applicable Lavi means the applicable laws, rules, regulations,ajinies and requirements of any Governm
Entity related to the development, registrationnofacture, importation, sale and marketing of thedBcts in the Territory or any obligati
under, or related to, this Agreement, includingsthobligations applicable to the ANDAs.

(d) “ Assumed Liabilitiesshall have the meaning ascribed to the term utiSe 4 of this Agreement.

(e) “ Bill of Sal¢’ means a hill of sale to be executed and deliveyeddzh Party no later than (i) five (5) Busir
Days following the Effective Date with respect be tinitial Purchased Assets (the “ Initial Bill 8&le”) and (ii) ninety (90) days following tl
Effective Date with respect to the Remaining PuseldaAssets (the * Remaining Bill of Sd)e each of which will be substantially in the fc
of Exhibit B-1 and_Exhibit B2 , respectively.
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® " Business Daymeans any day on which commercial banks are withtoaized or required to close in New Y¢
New York.

“ Calendar Quartémeans any of the three (3) consecutive calendathhmeriods ending on March 31, June
September 30 or December 31.

(h) “ Confidential Informatiofishall have the meaning ascribed to the term icti®&e 13 of this Agreement.

0] " Continuing Royalty Obligatidhshall have the meaning ascribed to such termeati@n 6(c) of the Agreement.
@) “ Contract Margifi shall have the meaning ascribed to the term ihiliik C of this Agreement.

() “ Excluded Assetsshall have the meaning ascribed to the term iti®e 2(b) of this Agreement.

0] “ FDA" means the United States Food and Drug Administragiod all divisions under its direct control or

successor organizations.
(m) [***] shall have the meaniagcribed to the term in Exhibit @ this Agreement.

(n) “_Governmental Entity means any international, national, foreign, fedesghte or local judicial, legislatiy
executive, administrative or regulatory body orhauity.

(0) " Initial Acquisition Daté shall have the meaning ascribed to the term iiGe 2(a) of this Agreement.

(P) " Initial Disclosuré shall have the meaning ascribed to the term gti@e 15 of this Agreement.

() " Initial Purchased Assétshall have the meaning ascribed to the term ttiG@e 2(a) of this Agreement.

(n “ Launch Dateémeans, on a Product-tRroduct basis, the date on which Buyer, its Affdgor a third party und

an ANDA Sale Transaction (defined below) makesfitst commercial sale of such Product to an uneelahird party in an armigngtt
transaction in the Territory.
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(s) “ Liabilities’ means any and all debts, liabilities and obligatjomhether accrued or fixed, absolute or contin
matured or unmatured, or known or unknown, inclgdimose arising under Applicable Law or governmieattion and those arising under
contract, arrangement, commitment or undertakingtleerwise.

® “ Net Salesshall have the meaning ascribed to the term ihiliikC of this Agreement.
(u) “ Party or “ Parties” means Teva or Buyer, as applicable.
(v) “ Personi’ meansany individual, partnership (general or limitedgsaciation, corporation, limited liabili

company, joint venture, trust, estate, limited iliab partnership, unincorporated organization, gmument (or any agency or politi
subdivision thereof) or other legal person or oiggation.

(w) “_Product$ means the generic pharmaceutical products listedExhibit A that are manufactured pursuant tc
ANDA to be purchased by Buyer pursuant to this &grent.

(x) “ Product Yedl means, on a Product-tBroduct basis, each twelve month period following itaunch Date for
particular Product, with “ Product Year”Imeaning the first such twelve month period, “ ot Year 2° meaning the second such twe
month period, and “ Product Year 8neaning the third such twelve month period, ands.

) “ Purchased Assétaneans (i) the ANDAs and (ii) the related documentdy to the extent made available
Buyer for inspection at its Woodcliff Lake, NJ siie November 19, 2013.

(2) " Remaining Acquisition Dateshall have the meaning ascribed to the term gti@e 2(a) of this Agreement.
(aa) " Remaining Purchased AsS$edisall have the meaning ascribed to the term ati@e 2(a) of this Agreement.
(bb) “ Royalty' shall have the meaning ascribed to the term ihiliik C of this Agreement.

(cc) “ Royalty Terni shall have the meaning ascribed to the term ihilik C of this Agreement.

(dd) “ Territory” means the United States of America, including itstridts, territories, commonwealths :

possessions.
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(ee) “ UgkFront Payment%shall have the meaning ascribed to the term ttiGe 6 of this Agreement.

2.

(a) Upon the terms and subject to the conditions af Agreement, as promptly as practicable, but ievent later the
(i) five (5) Business Days, following the Effectii@ate (such date, the " Initial Acquisition Dd)e (A) Teva will transfer, sell, convey, ass
and deliver to Buyer all of the Purchased Asseds$ #ne in electronic form as well as the Purchaseskts in hardcopy relating to AND.
061591 (the " Initial Purchased Ass&tsand Buyer will purchase, accept and assumegfalleva's right, title and interest in and to théial
Purchased Assets, for the purchase price of onedHgr ($1.00) and the other consideration sethftwerein and (B) the Parties shall €
execute and deliver an Initial Bill of Sale withspect to such Initial Purchased Assets (the "dhBill of Sale™) and (ii) ninety (90) day
following the Effective Date (such date, the " Rémray Acquisition Daté'), (A) Teva will transfer, sell, convey, assigndaseliver to Buyer a
of the Purchased Assets other than the Initial lRaged Assets (the " Remaining Purchased As¥eind Buyer will purchase, accept i
assume, all of Teva's right, title and interesamu to the Remaining Purchased Assets, for thehpaecprice of one (1) dollar ($1.00) and
other consideration set forth herein and (B) thai€@ashall each execute and deliver a Bill of Saila respect to such Remaining Purchi
Assets (the " Remaining Bill of Salg

(b) Teva and Buyer expressly agree and acknowledgehba@urchased Assets do not include any assetsyokind
nature, character or description (whether reakq®al or mixed, whether tangible or intangible, thiee absolute, accrued, contingent, fixe
otherwise, and wherever situated) that are notesgly included within the definition of Purchasedséts (the “ Excluded Asséets For
purposes hereof, it is agreed that the Excludeetddaclude, without limitation, any and all tradeks, trade names, brand names, logot
symbols, service marks, and trade dress, and @straions or applications for registrations oy af the foregoing.

3. Buyer acknowledges and agrees that Teva may rigtagrchival purposes and for purposes of complyirty Applicable
Law only, one (1) copy of all or any part of thecdmentation that Teva delivers to Buyer pursuarséction 2. Teva agrees to treat st
copies as Confidential Information (in accordand#h\8ection 13 hereof).
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4, Buyer agrees that from and after the Initial Acdige Date, with respect to the Initial Purchasesbéts, and the Remain
Acquisition Date, with respect to the Remaining dhased Assets, Buyer will be responsible for anlll pay, perform and/or otherwi
discharge when due those Liabilities (including amgbilities arising in respect of taxes) arisingrh and after the Effective Date, that dire
arise out of or in connection with or directly rieldo the Purchased Assets or Products, the ussofher the marketing or sale of the Prod
by or on behalf of Buyer or its Affiliates, includj: (a) Liabilities arising on or after the Effective Ddtem any patent infringement claim
lawsuit brought by any third party, the FDA or asther Governmental Entity, in all cases only to élxéent that they relate to Products sol
or on behalf of the Buyer on or after the Effectidate; (b) Liabilities arising on or after the Effwe Date from any FDA or any ott
Governmental Entity action or naotification filed on after the Effective Date, in all cases onlyhe extent they relate to Products sold by ¢
behalf of Buyer or its Affiliateon or after the Effective Date; (c) Liabilities @irig on or after the Effective Date from any pradiiebility
claims relating to Products sold by or on behalBafyer or its agents or assignees on or after ffectve Date; and (d) state and fed
Medicaid/Medicare rebates and payments, and aditsiechargebacks, rebates, discounts, allowarinesntives and similar payments
connection with the sale of Products by or on HebBBuyer or its Affiliates on or after the Efféet Date (collectively, the ‘Assume:
Liabilities ). It is understood and agreed that the "Assumed liti@sl' do not include any Liabilities that arosggp to the Effective Date
that arise from and after the Effective Date tleddite to the Purchased Assets or Products or duy biabilities set forth in clauses (a) throl
(d) above in each case that relate to or arisespeact of (i) the period prior to the Effective ®air (ii) any Products sold by or on behal
Teva, which will remain Liabilities of Teva.

5. From and after the Initial Acquisition Date, witlsspect to the Initial Purchased Assets, and thealRémg Acquisition Datt
with respect to the Remaining Purchased AssetseBuill be in control of, and responsible for, etists and Liabilities arising from or rela
to any commitments or obligations to any Governm@kBntity involving the Products and related to ffexiod beginning on and after
Effective Date. It is understood and agreed tha@Twill be in control of and responsible for allst® and Liabilities arising from or relatec
any commitments or obligations to any Governmeltdity involving the Products and related to theiqek prior to the Effective Date.

6. The Parties covenant and agreelms\s:
€) In consideration of the sfar of the Purchased Assets to Buyer:

i. upon execution of the Initial Bill of Sale and deliry by Teva of the Initial Purchased Assets tod@lg accordanc
with Section 2(a), Buyer shall pay to Teva by winansfer of immediately available funds into anaot designated in writing to the Buyer
Teva, a non-refundable payment in the amount dftBigjllion Five Hundred Thousand Dollars (US$8,50@0)) (the " Initial Paymen); and

ii. upon execution of the Remaining Bill of Sale antivdey by Teva of the Remaining Purchased AssetBuger ir
accordance with Section 2(a), Buyer shall pay tealiey wire transfer of immediately available furid® an account designated in writing
the Buyer by Teva, a non-refundable payment iratheunt of Four Million Dollars (US$4,000,000) (th€econd Paymeritand, together wil
the Initial Payment, the “ Upront Payment®).
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(b) In addition to the Upront Payments and in further consideration oftthasfer of the Purchased Asset
Buyer, on a Product-broduct basis, following the Launch Date of eaabdBct and until the expiration of the applicabley®lity Term, Buye
shall pay to Teva the Royalty set forth on ExhiBif***] Such payments shall be subject to the record kgepindit and other provisio
contained in Exhibit C

(c) Buyer hereby represents and warrants to Teva Keafpe in connection with (i) a sale of all or sugtally all
of the assets or equity of Buyer or (ii) a pledfithe Purchased Assets as collateral under oneoog of the Buyer's credit facilities, it will n
transfer, sell, convey, assign or deliver, in adaoce with Section 22 or otherwise, one or more ANIo a third party (an ANDA Sale
Transactior?) for a period of [***] from the Effective Datewithout Tevas written consent, which shall not be unreasonailitigheld. In th
event Buyer enters into an ANDA Sale Transactianyd® hereby further represents and warrants to Treatathe ANDA Sale Transaction v
obligate such third party to pay or continue to,pg/ applicable, the Royalty for each Product ihaubject to the ANDA Sale Transaction
the remainder of the applicable Royalty Term, if dthe “ Continuing Royalty Obligatiot). In the event Buyer enters into any transac
other than an ANDA Sale Transaction pursuant tcctviai third party distributes one or more of thedamis or ANDAS or commercializes ¢
or more of the Products or ANDAs, then Buyer spay Teva a Royalty with respect to any such Pradantall amounts received by Bu
from such third party for the remainder of the aggille Royalty Term. Notwithstanding any provistogrein to the contrary, if Buyer transft
sells, conveys, assigns or delivers any ANDA td\#iliate, Buyer's Continuing Royalty Obligation tbeva shall not be affected thereby.

(d) Buyer shall provide Tevatwhi-annual status reports in writing on its developnastivities with respect
each of the Products, which reports shall be deamée "Confidential Information” hereunder and g¥hiTeva agrees will only be used b
for the purpose of monitoring Buyer's progress talsahe commercialization of the Products.

(e) [

€) Each of the Parties represand warrants to the other Party that:




i. such Party has the corporate power and authoritgnter into this Agreement and to consummat:
transactions contemplated hereby;

ii. neither the execution and delivery of this Agmegent by such Party, nor its performahegeunder, conflic
with or will result in any violation or breach afr constitutes (with or without due notice or lapgdime or both) a default under any of
terms or conditions of any note, indenture, licemggeement or other instrument or obligation tacWht is a party or by which it or any of
properties or assets may be bound; or to its rest/ledge, violates any Applicable Law;

iii. this Agreement is a legal, valid and binding agreenof such Party, enforceable in accord
with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptaysalvency, reorganization, moratorium, frauduleansfer and other similar laws affect
creditors’rights generally from time to time in effect andg®eneral principles of equity (including conceptsmateriality, reasonableness, g
faith and fair dealing), regardless of whether adered in a proceeding in equity or at law;

iv. such Party has not, and will not, directly or imdily, enter into any contract or any o
transaction with any third party that conflictsdmrogates from its undertakings hereunder; and

v. such Party has not been debarred, is not subjeldttarment, and will not use, in any capacity inretiot
with the obligations to be performed under this @gmnent, any person who has been debarred pursu&ection 346 of the United Ste
Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act.

(b) In addition, Teva hereby represents and warrantBuyer that (i) it has good and marketable titlethe
Purchased Assets, free and clear of all liensmdaand encumbrances and (i) as of the date hefeof has no actual knowledge of
Liabilities.

8. All representations and warranties contained ini8ed shall survive the Effective Date and shathain operative and
full force and effect for a period of twelve (12pnths following the Effective Date.

9. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH HEREIN, TEVA IS NOTAMING AND HEREBY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIME
ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIEDNCLUDING ANY WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY,
FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, TITLE OR NON-INGEMENT. WITHOUT DEROGATING FROM THE GENERALIT®
OF THE FOREGOING, BUYER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAEXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH HEREIN TEVA
SELLING THE PURCHASED ASSETS ON AN “AS IS” AND “WHEE IS”"BASIS AND TEVA MAKES NO OTHER REPRESENTATIO
OR WARRANTY WITH RESPECT TO THE PURCHASED ASSETS ORE PRODUCTS INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY
GUARANTEE THAT FDA APPROVAL WILL BE OBTAINED, RELATNG TO THE MANUFACTURE AND/OR MARKETING OF AN
PRODUCTS.




10.

€) Buyer shall indemnify, defend and hold Teva and Af§iliates and their respective officers, dire
employees, agents and subcontractors harmless drainagainst any and all liability, damage, losstar expense (including reason:
attorneys'fees and expenses) arising out of or resulting femy third party claims made or suits brought agfasuch parties which arise
result from (i) Buyers material breach of any of its representationsramties or covenants set forth in this Agreemengny of its obligatior
hereunder, (ii) any and all Assumed Liabilities) the manufacture, registration, marketing, hamgll storage, use or sale of the Products |
on behalf of Buyer, including, without limitatioany claim for personal injury or death; or (iv) RBuis negligence or willful misconduct.

(b) Teva shall indemnify, defend and hold Buyer and Af§liates and their respective officers, dire
employees, agents and subcontractors harmless drainagainst any and all liability, damage, losstar expense (including reason:
attorneys'fees and expenses) arising out of or resulting femy third party claims made or suits brought agfasuch parties which arise
result from (i) Teves material breach of any of its representationsramdies or covenants set forth in this Agreemengtny of its obligatior
hereunder, (ii) any and all Liabilities relating ttte Purchased Assets, other than the Assumedlities)i (iii) the manufacture, registratic
marketing, handling, storage, use or sale of tlegllrits prior to the Effective Date, including, vath limitation, any claim for personal injt
or death; or (iv) Teva's negligence or willful misuct.

11. In no event shall either Party or its Affiliatesvieaany liability to the other Party for indirecficidental, special
consequential damages (including lost profits)haf other arising out of the performance or failirgerform any obligations set forth her
irrespective of whether attributable to breach arfitcact, breach of warranty, negligence, stridbiliy or otherwise, other than with respec
the indemnification claims pursuant to Sectiond.he extent payable to third parties.

12. At all times from the Launch Date of a Producthe ferritory through the date which is three (Zrgeafter the final sale
a Product in the Territory, Buyer will maintain drect liability and other insurance (or self inswr@nfor itself in amounts which are reason
and customary in the USA pharmaceutical industrgyipled in no event shall the product liability imance amounts be less than [***]
occurrence and [***] in the aggregate limit of liity per year. Buyer shall provide written proaff such insurance to Teva upon request.
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13. Each of the Parties agrees that:

(a) Except as required by law or court order: (i) itlwibt disclose any Confidential Information, adided herein, c
the other Party to any third party at any time withthe prior written consent of the disclosing tiafii) it will not make use of ar
Confidential Information of the other Party for apurpose other than for the purposes set forthoinin furtherance of the transacti
contemplated by, this Agreement; and (iii) it wike all commercially reasonable efforts to prewerduthorized publication or disclosure
any person of such Confidential Information. Nohstanding the foregoing, the Parties agree thatAlgreement may be disclosed to t
respective attorneys, accountants and financialsads; provided such parties are informed of thafidential nature of the Confident
Information and, in the case of financial advisdv@ye executed a natisclosure agreement that contains provisionsaat las restrictive as 1
provisions set forth in this Section 13. In additi®@uyer shall be entitled to disclose this Agreetrte prospective purchasers of the ANC
the buyer of all or substantially all of the assetsusiness of the Buyer provided that any suasgective purchaser has executed a nc
disclosure agreement that contains provisionsast las restrictive as the provisions set forthis $ection 13.

(b) With respect to any Confidential Information regairto be disclosed by law or court order by a PHrat ha
received such Confidential Information from anotRarty, the receiving Party shall promptly notifietdisclosing Party as to the requiren
or demand for such disclosure and shall reasoreddigt the disclosing Party in seeking to limitshepe of such disclosure or ensuring the
same is accorded confidential treatment.

(c) All Confidential Information in any form will be terned to the Party who disclosed the Confidenti&drmatior
within thirty (30) days after written request byetlisclosing Party; provided that the Parties metgin one (1) copy of such Confiden
Information with its legal counsel as a recordtaf teceiving Party's ongoing confidentiality obtigas under this Agreement.

(d) For purposes of this Agreement,tdren “ Confidential Informatiori means all knowhow, trade secrets, formul
data, inventions, technology and other informatiocluding financial information, in whatever formrelated to the registration, manufact
sale or marketing of the Products, marketing sgiateor business of the disclosing Party, relatethis Agreement. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoindput subject to Section 15, the existence of thissAment and each of its provisions shall be consiti€onfidentic
Information. Confidential Information shall not include any infeation that (i) is or becomes public knowledgeotiyh no fault of th
receiving Party; (ii) rightfully was in the receing Partys possession at the time of disclosure (as evidebgewritten records); (iii) we
independently created by the receiving Party (adeexed by written records) without use or refeeettcany Confidential Information; or (
is received from a third party having the lawfight to disclose the information. Notwithstandingtfamg to the contrary set forth in clause
above, it is understood and agreed that in no envéinhe Confidential Information retained by Teuader Section 3, be deemed to be excl
from the term "Confidential Information."
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14, Teva shall dispatch a letter to FDAhe form set forth in Exhibit Pa) simultaneous with or promptly after Buygpaymer
to Teva of the Initial Payment, with respect to thiéial Purchased Assets and (b) simultaneous withromptly after Buyeg payment to Tey
of the Second Payment with respect to the Remaipimghased Assets.

15. The Parties agree that except as provided beloywuhbcity, release, disclosure or announcementenning this Agreeme
or the transactions contemplated hereunder shaldued without the advance written consent ofatmer Party, which consent shall not
unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditiondebr releases, disclosures or announcements reduyradplicable securities laws or Applice
Law, the Party proposing to make the release, aiscé or announcement shall, before making any selelse, disclosure or announcen
afford the other Party a reasonable opportunitsetdew and comment, and the first Party shall glue consideration to the comments ol
other Party. It is understood and agreed that dms& has reviewed and commented on the initiallaisice relating to this Agreement to
included in Buyer's filings with the Securities Banige Commission under applicable securities ldkes “(Initial Disclosure’), Teva agree
that the Initial Disclosure shall be deemed preaypgd for purposes of, and any may be included linfuture filings of the Buyer withol
triggering additional review and comment rightsTefva for each such subsequent filing. The Paréesgnize that Buyer may be require
file a copy of this Agreement with the SecuritieccBange Commission, as a material contract of tngeB Buyer agrees that if it is advisec
counsel that a copy of this Agreement must be fitedill redact confidential provisions to the exrt permitted by applicable law and will |
commercially reasonable efforts to obtain config@nteatment with respect to that portion of thgrdement which it is advised by counsi
eligible therefor.

16. Buyer will preserve all books and records includetthin the Purchased Assets for applicable perafdeme required by tt
FDA and any other applicable Governmental Entityt,ubject to the confidentiality restrictions cined herein, make such books and rec
available for inspection and copying by Teva origents upon reasonable request and upon reasaorwicke.

17. This Agreement shall be governed, interpreted amttued in accordance with the substantive lawthefState of Ne
York, U.S.A., without regard to its conflict of laxprinciples. Each of the Parties hereby irrevocably submiti¢oeixclusive jurisdiction of tl
United States District Court for the Southern Distof New York over any action or proceeding argsiout of or relating to this Agreeme
and each hereby waives the defense of any incoenefdrum for the maintenance or such action oc@eding. In addition, it is furthe
agreed that the Parties shall be entitled to eafepecifically the terms of this Agreement in theiteld States District Court for the Soutt
District of New York, this entitlement being in atidn to any other remedy to which such Party iStled at law or in equity. To the extent t
it may otherwise by applicable, the Parties hereXgressly agree to unconditionally waive and exelfrom the operation of this Agreem
the United Nations Convention on Contracts forltiternational Sale of Goods, concluded at Vienmal d April 1980, as amended and as
be amended further from time to time.

10
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18. All notices and other communications required ompted to be given or made pursuant to this Agreetshall be i
writing signed by the sender and shall be deemédgiven (a) on the date delivered, if personakyivkred, (b) on the date sent by telecc
with automatic confirmation by the transmitting rhae showing the proper number of pages were tratehwithout error, (c) on the busin
day after being sent by Federal Express or anoguaxgnized overnight mail service which utilizesrétten form of receipt for next day or ni
business day delivery or (d) three (3) business @der mailing, if mailed by U.S. postageepaid certified or registered mail, return ret
requested, in each case addressed to the appliPablg at the address set forth below; provided ¢h&arty may change its address
receiving notice by the proper giving of noticedwerder:

if to Teva, to:
Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc.
1090 Horsham Road
North Wales, PA 19454
Attention: Vik Seoni SVP, Business Developm&rilliance Management
Facsimile: (215) 293-6500

With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc.
425 Privet Road

Horsham, PA 19044

Attention: General Counsel
Facsimile: (215) 293-6499

if to Buyer, to:

ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
210 Main Street West
Baudette, MN 56623
Attention: Charlotte Arnold
Facsimile: (218) 634-3540

With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Dentons US LLP

1221 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10020
Attention: Jane A. Meyer
Facsimile: (212) 768-6700

11
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19. The status of the Parties under this Agreement bbahat of independent contractors, without ththarity to act on behe
of or bind each other.Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed aabdishing a partnership or joint venture relatiapsbetween th
Parties hereto.

20. This Agreement (including its Annexes) constitutes entire agreement between the Parties with ce$péts subject matt
and supersedes all prior agreements, arrangentsattngs or writings between the Partieshis Agreement may not be amended or mocd
except in writing executed by the duly authorizepresentatives of the Parties.

21. Should any part or provision of this Agreement leédhunenforceable or in conflict with Applicable wathe invalid o
unenforceable part or provision shall, providedt thadoes not affect the essence of this Agreembatreplaced with a revision wh
accomplished, to the greatest extent possibleotiginal commercial purpose of such part or pravisin a valid and enforceable manner,
the balance of this Agreement shall remain influite and effect and binding upon the Parties beret

22. The terms and provisions hereof shall inure tolibeefit of, and be binding upon the Parties and tiespective success:
and permitted assignsNo Party shall assign, encumber or otherwise teartbfis Agreement or any part of it to any thirdtpawithout the
prior written consent of the other Party which camswill not be unreasonably withheld; providedwewer, that notwithstanding the foregoi
and subject to the Continuing Royalty Obligatioa,such consent shall be required in the event piaasignment or transfer of this Agreen
(a) to any of its Affiliates, or (b) to any succes interest to such Partybusiness, whether by merger, sale of assethiervase; in the eve
of which a Party shall only be required to givetter notice of such assignment or transfer to theroParty but will not be required to obi
the consent of the other Partyln the case of an assignment to an Affiliate, teeigning Party shall remain liable for the full athely
performance by such Affiliate of all the obligat®onf the assigning Party hereunder. In the casyfsale, assignment, divestiture or ¢
transfer to a third party, the assigning Party Isteshain liable for the full and timely performancgsuch third party unless such third party
a tangible net worth that is no less than the taagiet worth of the assigning Party, in which extbe assigning Party shall be released froi
future liability hereunder, in the case of Buyebjgat to the Continuing Royalty Obligation. Nothingthis Section 22 shall prohibit Buy
from using contract manufacturers or distributorsdnnection with its ownership, development oe sdithe Products, subject to its obliga
to pay the Royalty to Teva.

23. No waiver of a breach or default hereunder shakkdresidered valid unless in writing and signed lxy Party giving suc
waiver, and no such waiver shall be deemed a waifvany subsequent breach or default of the sansevolar nature.

12
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24, Each of the Parties shall use its commerciallyopable efforts to take, or cause to be taken,ualh $urther actions and
do, or cause to be done, all things necessary epmpadvisable to consummate and make effectiyeramptly as possible, the transacti
contemplated by this Agreement including, withdatitation, notices to the FDA regarding the transféthe ANDAs from Teva to Buyer.
Each Party shall bear its own costs related thetetaddition, Teva agrees to cause any affilifiias own any of the ANDAs to fullgomply
with the terms of this Agreement and Teva's obiiget hereunder.

25. Any provision which by its terms is intended to\sue the termination or expiration of this Agreerhevill survive the
termination or expiration of this Agreement and aémin full force and effect thereafter.

26. This Agreement may be executed in two or more @mpatts, each of which shall be deemed an oridginakll of which
taken together, shall constitute one and the sasteuiment. PDF and facsimile signatures shalsttute original signatures.

[The remainder of this page intentionally left bikaln
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedAlgieement as of the date first written above.

TEVA PHARMACEUTICALS USA, INC.

By: /s/ Allan Obermai

Name:  Allan Obermar

Title: President and CEQ, Teva Americas Gene

By: /sl Vikram Seon

Name:  Vikram Seoni

Title: SVP, Business Development & Alliance Managen

ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /sl Charlotte C. Arnols
Name: Charlotte C. Arnolc
Title: VP & Chief Financial Office

14
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ANDA

77979

77725

65278

62698

88921
88812
89446
89447
88813
88918
88919
88840
87353
88768
88641
88922
74859
74610

75110
71800

EXHIBIT A

PRODUCT
ALPRAZOLAM EXTENDED RELEASE TABLET, 0.5 mg, 1 mg, g and 3 m(

ALPRAZOLAM EXTENDED RELEASE TABLET, 0.5 mg, 1 mg, g and 3 m¢
CEFADROXIL/CEFADROXIL HEMIHYDRATE FOR SUSPENSION,®& 250 mg base/5 mL, 500 mg base/5

CEFADROXIL/CEFADROXIL HEMIHYDRATE FOR SUSPENSION,®& 125 mg base/5 mL, 250 mg base mL/5
mL, 500 mg base/5 m

CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLET, 100 m
CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLETS 100 mg
CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLET, 100 m
CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLET, 250 m
CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLET, 250 m
CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLET, 100 m
CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLET, 250 m
CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLETS, 100 m
CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLETS, 250 m
CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLET, 100 mg
CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLET, 250 m\
CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLET, 250 m\

CIMETIDINE HYDROCHLORIDE SOLUTION, 300 mg/5 m
CIMETIDINE HYDROCHLORIDE SOLUTION, EQ 300 mg baseraL

CIMETIDINE HYDROCHLORIDE SOLUTION, 300 mg/5 m
DESIPRAMINE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET, 25 m¢

15
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71801 DESIPRAMINE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET, 50 m¢

71802 DESIPRAMINE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET, 75 mg

71803 DESIPRAMINE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET, 100 m

71804 DESIPRAMINE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET. 150 ,i

88682 DEXCHLORPHENIRAMINE MALEATE, 2 mg

61591 ERYTHROMYCIN STEARATE TABLET, EQ 250 mi

63179 ERYTHROMYCIN STEARATE TABLET, 500 m¢

61461 ERYTHROMYCIN STEARATE TABLET, 250 mg and 500 n
75126 ETODOLAC CAPSULE, 200 mg and 300 r

74899 ETODOLAC CAPSULE, 200 mg and 300 r

81310 FLUPHENAZINE HYDROCHLORIDE ELIXIR, ORAL, 2.5 mg/5 in
73058 FLUPHENAZINE HYDROCHLORIDE CONCENTRATE, ORAL, 5 mgl
89441 EXTENDED PHENYTOIN SODIUM, 100 mi

74149 GUANABENZ ACETATE TABLET, EQ. 4 mg base, 8 mg be
74267 GUANABENZ ACETATE TABLET, 4 mg and 8 m

75147 ISOSORBIDE MONONITRATE TABLET, 20 m

78730 LANSOPRAZOLE DELAYED RELEASE TABLETS, 15 mg and 36g
40001 METHAZOLAMIDE TABLET, 25 mg, 50 mc

74540 NICARDIPINE HYDROCHLORIDE CAPSULE, 20 mg and 30 r
74439 NIZATIDINE CAPSULES, 20 mg, 30 m¢

75461 NIZATIDINE CAPSULES, 150 mg, 300 m

75668 NIZATIDINE CAPSULES, 150 mg and 300 n

78005 OXCARBAZEPINE TABLET, 150 mg, 300 mg and 600 1

78138 PERINDOPRIL ERBUMINE TABLET, 2 mg, 4 mg and 8 m
89457 PERPHENAZINE TABLET, 16 m¢

89708 PERPHENAZINE TABLET, 4 m¢

89707 PERPHENAZINE TABLET, 2 m¢
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89456

88958

88959

88974
89438

40111

40435
80259

76550

71977
80215

76440

76287

88194
88270
88271
88272
88273
89603
89602
88456
88493
73178

77639

77641

PERPHENAZINE TABLET, 8 m¢
PROCAINAMIDE HYDROCHLORIDE EXTENDED RELEASE TABLET250 mg
PROCAINAMIDE HYDROCHLORIDE EXTEDNED RELEASE TABLET500 mg

PROCAINAMIDE HYDROCHLORIDE EXTEDNED RELEASE TABLE"
PROCAINAMIDE HYDROCHLORIDE EXTENDED RELEASE TABLET/50 mg

PROCAINAMIDE HYDROCHLORIDE EXTENDED RELEASE TABLET1 gm

EXTENDED PHENYTOIN SODIUM CAPSULE, 100 ir
PROMPT PHENYTOIN SODIUM CAPSULE, 100 n

PROPAFENONE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET, 150 m 225 mg, 300 m\

PROPRANOLOL HYDROCHLORIDE TABLETS, 90 m
PROPYLTHIOURACIL TABLET, 50 mc

RISPERIDONE SOLUTION, 1 mg/m
FLUOXETINE HYDROCHLORIDE CAPSULE, EQ. 10 mg base€QE20 mg bas

THIORIDAZINE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET, 50 m¢
THIORIDAZINE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET, 10 m¢
THIORIDAZINE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET, 15 m¢
THIORIDAZINE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET, 25 mc
THIORIDAZINE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET, 100 mc
THIORIDAZINE HYDROCHLORIDE CONCENTRATE, 5 mg/m|
THIORIDAZINE HYDROCHLORIDE CONCENTRATE, 5 mg/m|
THIORIDAZINE HYDROCHLORIDE CONCENTRATE, 5 mg/m|
THIORIDAZINE HYDROCHLORIDE CONCENTRATE, 5 mg/m|
VALPROIC ACID SYRUP, 250 mg/5 m

ZONISAMIDE CAPSULE, 100 mg, 25 mg, 50 n

ZONISAMIDE CAPSULE, 25 mg, 50 m¢ 100 mg

17




Confidential Materials Omitted and Filed Separatelywith the Securities and Exchange Commission Pursaéato a Request for
Confidential Treatment under Rule 406 under the Sadrities Act of 1933, as amended. Confidential Portins are marked: [***]

EXHIBIT B-1

Form Initial Bill of Sale

THIS BILL OF SALE (the "_Initial Bill of Sal€"), dated as of , 201_, is made aridedletl by Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, |
a corporation organized under the laws of the StatBelaware and those of its affiliates that olae ANDASs (as defined in the Purch
Agreement) ("_Tevd), to ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a company orgadiznder the laws of the State of Delaware (" Pagel’), (each a “
Party”, collectively the “ Partie8).

WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain asset purchaseeatent, dated as of December___, 2013, by andebatWeva and Purchaser (the
Purchase Agreemefit Teva has agreed to transfer, sell, convey, assidrdaliver to Purchaser, and Purchaser has agremarthase, acce
and assume as of the date hereof, all right, ditld interest, within the Territory, of the InitiBurchased Assets (as defined in the Pur
Agreement); and

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to deliver to eachrasheh instruments as are required in order tactfége and evidence the sale by Teve
purchase by Purchaser of the Initial Purchasedtésse

NOW, THEREFOREin consideration of the premises and in accordavittethe provisions of the Purchase Agreement,fandther good ar
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficieofcyhich is hereby acknowledged , Teva and Pueahlasreby each agree as follows:

1. The terms of the Purchase Agreement are incorpbtegeein by reference and capitalized terms uséddiidefined in thi
Initial Bill of Sale shall have the meaning ascdlibereto in the Purchase Agreement.

2. Teva hereby irrevocably and unconditionally transiells, conveys, assigns, and delivers to Puechasd Purchas
hereby irrevocably and unconditionally purchasesepts and assumes, all of Teva's right, titleiatetest, within the Territory, in and to all
the Initial Purchased Assets, free and clear ofli@mg, charges or other encumbrances.

3. The Parties, their respective divisions, subsidgriofficers, directors, employees, stockholdegents, representativ:
advisors, consultants, attorneys, independent actotrs and successors and assigns hereby reledsksaharge the other and their respe:
Affiliates, divisions, subsidiaries, officers, diters, employees, stockholders, agents, represergatadvisors, consultants, attorn
independent contractors and successors and assmnsany and all claims, causes of actions, olibiga, investigations, demands, suits ar
liabilities, of any nature whatsoever, whether gsskor unasserted, known or unknown, or suspemtethsuspected to exist from the begin
of time, in any way arising under or in any wayatilg to the Initial Purchased Assets, except wépect to fraud or any representai
warranty or covenant expressly made by it in thePase Agreement.
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4, All of the terms and provisions of this Initial Bdf Sale shall be binding upon Teva and its susmessand assigns, and s
be binding upon Purchaser and its successors aighas

5. This Initial Bill of Sale and any all matters arigi directly or indirectly herefrom shall be govedngy and construed a
enforced in accordance with the laws of the Statsew York, U.S.A. applicable to agreements made tnbe performed entirely in st
State.

6. It is acknowledged and agreed that this Initial Bfl Sale is intended to document the sale andyas®nt of the Initic
Purchased Assets to Purchaser.

7. This Initial Bill of Sale may be executed by PDFlan one or more counterparts, each of which dieltieemed an origir
and all of which together shall constitute a sirigktrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have execuiedinitial Bill of Sale as of the date first setrth above.

TEVA PHARMACEUTICALS USA, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:
By:
Name:
Title:

ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:
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EXHIBIT B-2

Form Remaining Bill of Sale

THIS BILL OF SALE (the "_Remaining Bill of Sal8, dated as of , 2014, is made and deli’by Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, |

a corporation organized under the laws of the StatBelaware and those of its affiliates that olae ANDASs (as defined in the Purch

Agreement) ("_Tevd), to ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a company orgadiznder the laws of the State of Delaware (" Pagel’), (each a “
Party”, collectively the “ Partie8).

WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain asset purchaseeatent, dated as of December___, 2013, by andebatWeva and Purchaser (the
Purchase Agreemefit Teva has agreed to transfer, sell, convey, assidrdaliver to Purchaser, and Purchaser has agremarthase, acce
and assume as of the date hereof, all right, ditié interest, within the Territory, of the Rema@miPurchased Assets (as defined in the Pun
Agreement); and

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to deliver to eachrasheh instruments as are required in order tactfége and evidence the sale by Teve
purchase by Purchaser of the Remaining Purchasssts\s

NOW, THEREFOREin consideration of the premises and in accordavittethe provisions of the Purchase Agreement,fandther good ar
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficieofcyhich is hereby acknowledged , Teva and Pueahlasreby each agree as follows:

1. The terms of the Purchase Agreement are incorpbrtetecin by reference and capitalized terms us¢
not defined in this Remaining Bill of Sale shalveahe meaning ascribed thereto in the Purchaseehgent.

2. Teva hereby irrevocably and unconditionally trans$ells, conveys, assigns, and delivers to Puezhas
Purchaser hereby irrevocably and unconditionallscpases, accepts and assumes, all of Teva's figftand interes
within the Territory, in and to all of the RemaigifPurchased Assets, free and clear of any lieresgel or othe
encumbrances.

3. The Parties, their respective divisions, subsidgriofficers, directors, employees, stockholdegents, representativ:
advisors, consultants, attorneys, independent @ctoirs and successors and assigns hereby relahsésaharge the other and their respe:
Affiliates, divisions, subsidiaries, officers, diters, employees, stockholders, agents, represm¥atadvisors, consultants, attorn
independent contractors and successors and asfigmsany and all claims, causes of actions, oliiga, investigations, demands, s
and/or liabilities, of any nature whatsoever, wiethsserted or unasserted, known or unknown, @ested or unsuspected to exist from
beginning of time, in any way arising under or imyavay relating to the Remaining Purchased Assstsept with respect to fraud or ¢
representation, warranty or covenant expressly rbgdein the Purchase Agreement.
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4, All of the terms and provisions of this Remaininigi Bf Sale shall be binding upon Teva and its ®8sors and assigns,
shall be binding upon Purchaser and its successarassigns.

5. This Remaining Bill of Sale and any all matterssisng directly or indirectly herefrom shall be goved by and constru
and enforced in accordance with the laws of théeSiBNew York, U.S.A. applicable to agreements enadd to be performed entirely in s
State.

6. It is acknowledged and agreed that this RemainiiligoB Sale is intended to document the sale ansigasnent of th
Remaining Purchased Assets to Purchaser.

7. This Remaining Bill of Sale may be executed by RiDE in one or more counterparts, each of whichl flsatleemed ¢
original and all of which together shall constitatgingle instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executsdRemaining Bill of Sale as of the date firstfeeth above.

TEVA PHARMACEUTICALS USA, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:
By:
Name:
Title:
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ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By:

Name:
Title:
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EXHIBIT C
Rovyalty Payment On a Product-byrroduct basis, Buyer shall pay to Teva the Royadtya percentage of the Contract Margin (as de

below) from the Launch Date for each Product andafperiod of [***] years thereafter, unless it s®o ceases to be recompensed for
sales (the “ Royalty Terri), as follows:

o [***]for Product Year 1 through Product Year [***]

(the “ Royalty”).

Within thirty (30) days following the end of eaclal€ndar Quarter during the Royalty Term, Buyer Isfiatompute and report to Teva il
mutually acceptable format and detail the Net Salesthe Royalty for that Calendar Quarter andp@y to Teva the Royalty for that Caler
Quarter as reflected in the report.

“ Contract Margin' means Net Sales (as defined below) less [***]dafined below); [***]

“ Net Sales’ — shall mean, with respect to the Products soldénTt@rritory, the aggregate gross sales amountéedddy Buyer or its Affiliate
on an arms-length basis to third parties in theifoey, less the following deductions (to the extaantually incurred or accrued):

(i) cash discounts given by Buyer (and its Affiéa};
(i) any adjustments on account of price adjustnitling adjustments, or shelf stock adjustmexftscting the Product;
(iii) chargebacks, rebates, administrative feersgements, reimbursements, and similar paymenthitdesalers and other distributc

buying groups, health care insurance carriers,mpaeay benefit management companies, health maintenaiganizations, other institutions
health care organizations or other customers;
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(iv) amounts due to third parties on account oftetpayments, including Medicaid rebates, or ofiee reductions provided, ba:
on sales by Buyer and its Affiliates to any goveemtal or regulatory authority in respect of statdemleral Medicare, Medicaid or simi
programs; and

(v) allowances and credits to third parties on aotof rejected, damaged, returned or recalledyrbd
Buyer will not use the Product as a “loss lead®ras part of a bundle, basket or group sale vétassof its other products not covered u
this Agreement that would result in financially atizantaging the Products relative to such othedymts.

In the event Buyer grants any discounts, chargehaebates, adjustments or allowances as partbafndle of other Buyer products, si
discounts, chargebacks, rebates, adjustmentsoovaices shall be allocated to the Product in ag@@manner.

[***] means, with respect to the aggregate amouhtach Product, the actual [***] and [***] as wells [***] incurred by Buyer that a
required for the [***], [***] and [***] of such Product, as determined in accordance with U.S. GAAéhtim effect. For the avoidance
doubt, such [***] shall not include any [***].

Recordkeeping During the Royalty Term and for a period of two {(@ars thereafter, Buyer shall keep complete amdrate books ar
records of account containing all information regdifor the computation and verification of Neté&sadnd the Royalty.

Audit Rights. At Tevas request (not to be made more than once in anyaw&2) month period and not more than eighte@®) (donths afte
delivery of the report setting forth such computa}iand expense, Buyer will permit a reputable fofrindependent accountants mutu
acceptable to the Parties to have access upomadalsawritten notice and during ordinary workingut®to such records as may be necess:
audit any computation of Royalty payments due tealleereunder.If as a result of any inaccuracies set forth irhstgport, the amount(s) pi
to Teva under this Exhibit @as either deficient or excessive, then Teva oreBugs the case may be, shall pay to the othemauat equal t
the deficiency or excess, plus interest thereothatthen prime rate (as reported in the Wall Stdeetrnal). In the event the examinati
reveals that the amount of any underpayment foratiaited period exceeds ten percent (10%) of theuammactually paid by Buyer to Te
during such audited period, Buyer shall also reirsbureva for Teva's reasonable and documentedcfesaged by such accountantén the
event of any dispute between Buyer and Teva regartiie findings of any such inspection or audig Barties shall initially attempt in gc
faith to resolve the dispute amicably between tledwves, and if the Parties are unable to resolvl digpute within a commercially reason:
period of time, such dispute shall be resolved myaecountant from an internationally recognizedepehdent accounting firm that is mutu
agreeable to both of the Parties, and such acaatstietermination shall be binding.
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EXHIBIT D
[ Teva Letterhead]
[ Date]

Dr. Kathleen Uhl, Acting Director
Office of Generic Drugs, HFD-600
CDER/FDA

Document Control Room

Metro Park North VII

7620 Standish Place

Rockville, MD 20855

TRANSFER OF OWNERSHIP
Divestiture

Re: ANDA XXXXXX
[Product name and strength]

Dear Dr. Uhl:
In accordance with 21 CFR 8314.72(a)(1), Teva Phaeuticals USA hereby notifies the Agency that weeteansferring ownership, includi

all rights to ANDA [######] for [ Product name and strength] to [ XXX Pharmaceuticals]. The change in ownership is effective a
[ Date].

Former Owner of Applican New Owner of Applican
XXX Pharmaceuticals XXX Pharmaceuticals
Number and Street Name Number and Street Name
City, State, Zip Code City, State, Zip Code
Country Country

This submission is being sent to the Agency throtighElectronic Submissions Gateway (ESGJhe submission is presented in electr
format and is comprised of approximately 1 megabyte submission is virus free, per our client getibn (OfficeScad™ , Version 10.5, b
Trend Micro™).

If there are any questions, please do not hesitatmntact either Barinder Sandhu (by phone: (ZRB0-3626 or (201) 93@233 or emai
Barinder.Sandhu@tevapharm.com) or myself.

Sincerely,

Scott Tomsky
Vice President, US Generics Regulatory Affairs
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Exhibit 10.52

July 11, 2013

Re:

Employment Offer

Dear Robert,

On behalf of ANIP Acquisition Company (d/b/a ANI&maceuticals) (the “Company”), | am delighted fi@oyou employment as Vice
President New Business Development reporting diréatANI's President and Chief Executive OfficeiThe purpose of this letter is to set
forth the terms of this offer.

1.

Your position will be as a regular full-time elmpee commencing on August 12, 2013. Your bissradfice will be located in
Wilmington, Delaware. As a regular full-time empésy you will be expected to devote all of your hass time and best efforts
to the performance of your duties and respongislito the Company, as these may be changed l§yaimpany from time to
time.

Your annual base salary will be $245,000 (Igggieable required withholding and deductions) ouY salary will be paid bi-
weekly in accordance with the Comp’s standard payroll policie

You will be eligible for an annual bonus of @p40% of your annual base salary measured by catgand individual
objectives. You will be eligible to receive a $J80 bonus for 2013. The objectives for 2013 hazeniset forth based on ANI's
2013 approved budget. The Compensation CommittéeedBoard of Directors will determine whether aodvhat extent the
objectives have been m

You will be granted stock options as determiard approved by the Compensation Committee of da¥dBof Directors, in an
amount equal to 177,500 stock options. The stmtion grant will be governed by the Company’s ktoption plan.  You will
also be eligible to be considered for additionatktoption grants in later years, subject to apakby the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directol

As a signing bonus, you will receive 100,00@€ktoptions that vest in four (4) equal installmemtsthe annual anniversary of the
grant date

You will be entitled to four weeks’ vacation Bagear, accruing in accordance with the vacatidities established by the
Company.

210 Main Street Wesi, Baudette, MN 56622 Phone (218-634-3500¢ Fax (218-634-3540
Toll-Free (800) 434-1121
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7.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14,

You will be eligible to participate, effectivegour first day of employment, in the Company’sertemployee benefit plans as
they are generally made available to other empypéasimilar status and service, including the trighparticipate in a Company-
sponsored medical, dental, vision and life insuegplans. You will also be eligible to participatethe ANI Pharmaceuticals 401
(k) plan after 3 months of service. These besefis well as all other Company compensation andfligprograms, are subject
to change from time to time as deemed appropriadenacessary by the Compa

You will be reimbursed for all customary busgegpenses reasonably incurred by you in the cairngeur employment that are
documented and submitted in accordance with thep@os's policies.

As a condition of employment, you will be reaudirto sign the Company’s standard form of confiddity, Invention Assignment
and Non-Competition Agreement. By accepting tiffer, you agree that you will not bring with yomthe Company, or use in
any way during your employment with the Company;, eonfidential information, trade secrets or prefry material or
processes of any former employer, entity, trushdividual for which you have performed service¥ou further confirm that by
accepting this offer you will not breach any contragreement or other instrument to which youagparty or are bouni

Please note that this letter and your respdas®t create a contract or promise of employmenafdefinite period of time.
Therefore, you are free to resign for any reasdioono reason. Similarly, the Company is freedaclude its at-will
employment relationship with you at any time, wathwithout cause. We do request, however, thatgiee a reasonable notice
if you decide to terminate your employment with uNotwithstanding anything to the contrary statethis letter, if the
Company terminates your employment without caugenuhe receipt from you of a release in form amustance satisfactory to
the Company, the Company will (i) pay you seveeaim an amount equal to your base salary for m@ef 12 months, which
amount may be paid, at the Company’s electioneeitha lump sum or by salary continuation, (iiy & reimburse you for the
premiums to continue your health insurance coveaaga effect at the time of the termination of émgment for a period of 12
months under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Rdtian Act.

You agree to resign from your current positiarthe ANI Pharmaceuticals Board of Directors atttme you sign this offer
letter.

You will be subject to and expect to abide by tlwenPany's policies and procedures, as these may be chdrgpdime to time
This offer expires at 5:00 p.m. on July 12, 20180t accepted by the

This offer is subject to successful completba pre-employment background and reference chemattslocumentation of
eligibility to work in the United States, to be cpleted as soon as possible following your accejgtacthis offer.

210 Main Street Wesi, Baudette, MN 56622 Phone (218-634-3500¢ Fax (218-634-3540
Toll-Free (800) 434-1121
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15. By accepting this offer, you represent that gaue not relied on any agreements or represengtieritten or oral, express or
implied, with respect to your employment that aoé set forth expressly in this letter. Notwithslang anything to the contrary
set forth herein, the Company may terminate tHisraft any time prior to the commencement of yaupyment.

Acceptance of this offer should be acknowledgedigyging both originals and returning one to ShBitter in our Human Resources
Department. Please feel free to contact Sheotilshyou have any questions regarding the employipaperwork or benefit offerings.

Again, let me indicate how pleased we all are tewmd this offer and how much we look forward to king with you as an employee of
ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Sincerely
ANIP ACQUISITION COMPANY (d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticalsic.)

Arthur S. Przybyl
President & Chief Executive Officer

Accepted and Agreed:

/s/ Robert W. Schrepft July 12, 2013
Name Date

210 Main Street West , Baudette, MN 56623 ¢« Phon218)-634-3500 ¢ Fax (218)-634-3540
Toll-Free (800) 434-1121




Exhibit 21
ANI PHARMACUTICALS, INC.

The following is a list of subsidiaries of ANI Pimaaceuticals, Inc. as of December 31, 2013:

Name State of Incorporation
ANIP Acquisition Compan! Delaware




Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRkegistration Statements of ANl Pharmaceuticals, étm Form S-8 (Nos. 333-112088, 333
123886, 333-123888, 333-34508 and 333-186763) andoom S-3 (No. 333:12752) of our report dated February 28, 2014, umanidits @
the consolidated financial statements as of DeceBbe2013 and 2012, for each of the years inwheyear period ended December 31, 2!
which report was included in this Annual ReportFarm 10-K to be filed on or about February 28, 2014

/sl EisnerAmper LLP

New York, New York
February 28, 2014




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANTT O
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Arthur S. Przybyl, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact orténstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgtsiunder which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep
4, The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—-15(e) and 15a&}156d internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav
@) Designed such disclosure controls and phaess, or caused such disclosure controls and guoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh
(b) Designed such internal control over finahogporting, or caused such internal control direancial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with generally accepted accounting princjj
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regigtsadisclosure controls and procedures and predéntthis report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conantprocedures, as of the end of the period coumyehis report based on such
evaluation; ant
(d) Disclosed in this report any change inrégistrant’s internal control over financial repiogtthat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) llas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and materiaéaknesses in the design or operation of internatrabover financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regre's ability to record, process, summarize and refpmhcial information; an
(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, thatalves management or other employees who havendisant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin
Date: February 28, 2014 /s/ Arthur S. Przyby

Arthur S. Przybyl President and Chief Executivei€afif




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANTT O
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Charlotte C. Arnold, certify that:

2. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact orténstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgtsiunder which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep
4, The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—-15(e) and 15a&}156d internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav
@) Designed such disclosure controls and phaess, or caused such disclosure controls and guoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh
(b) Designed such internal control over finahogporting, or caused such internal control direancial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with generally accepted accounting princjj
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regigtsadisclosure controls and procedures and predéntthis report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conantprocedures, as of the end of the period coumyehis report based on such
evaluation; ant
(d) Disclosed in this report any change inrégistrant’s internal control over financial repiogtthat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) llas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and materiaéaknesses in the design or operation of internatrabover financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regre's ability to record, process, summarize and refpmhcial information; an
(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, thatalves management or other employees who havendisant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin
Date: February 28, 2014 /sl Charlotte C. Arnol

Charlotte C. Arnolc
Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Off




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report on Form 10fKANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "Company") for fear ended December 31, 2013
(the "Report") as filed with the Securities and Exiecge Commission on the date hereof, the undeidigheef Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer of the Company hereby certifytita such officer's knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgfeAct of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

This certification is provided solely pursuant ® U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant tod®e®@6 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

Dated: February 28, 2014 /sl Arthur S. Przyby
Arthur S. Przyby
President and
Chief Executive Office
[principal executive officer

Dated: February 28, 2014 /sl Charlotte C. Arnoli
Charlotte C. Arnolc
Vice President, Finance a
Chief Financial Office
[principal financial officer]

A signed original of this written statement reqdii®y Section 906 has been provided to the Compady| be retained by the
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exah&@uammission or its staff upon request.




